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I have been inspired by reading the data contained in this
volume, It is most pleasing to have the history of the Virginia
Baptist State Convention, the Baptist General Association of
Virginia, the district associations of Virginia, and the local
churches brought down to date.

For many years it has been the purpose of the Baptist Gen=-
eral Association of Virginia and the leading pastors and officers
of the convemtion to have somsone undertake this difficult task,
but due to the lack of financial resources this has been impossible,

We greatly appreciate the foresight on the part of our
Government which makss available to Virginia Baptiststhe valuable
information that this compilation contains,

We believe the task has been well done and should add to the
efficiency of our work for many years to come. It will be dis-
covered that there are many new features in this present inventory.

Ohee! ReHsnaon )

William Thomas Johnson, D. D,
Moderator of the Shiloh Baptist
Association of Virginia




PREFACE

In January 1936, the Historical Records Survey, a nation-wide project
of the jorks Progress Administration, now the Work Projects Administration,
was organized nationally. Dr. Luther H. dvans was appointed National Director
of the Survey. In March 1936, the Survey began to function in Virginia as part
of the Federal wWriters' Project, of which Dr. H. J. Ecksnrods was State
Director, and Dr. Lester J. Cappon of the University of Virginia part=time
Technical Assistant. In November 1936, when the Historical Records Survey
became independent of the Federal Writers' Project, Dr. Cappon was appointed
part-time State Director. At the same time £lizabeth B. Parker, a former
supervisor of the Survey, was appointed Agsistant State Director. ihen Dr.
Cappon resigned in June 1937, Miss Parker succeeded him as State Director.

On September 5, 1939, the Historicsl Records Survey of Virginia becams a State=-
wide non-Federal projéct with Miss Parker as State Supervisor.

Likewise in January 1936 ths Survey of Federal Archives, a nation-wide
project of the Works Progress Administration, now the Work Projects Administra=-
tion, was organized under the national directorship of Dr. Philip M. Hamer,
an official of the National Archives, Washington, D. C. 1In February 1936 work
was started in Virginia with Mr. T, C. Durham as Regional Dirsctor. In
September 1936, Dr. Kathlsen Bruce was appointed Regional Dirsctor to succead
Mr. Durhem. On August ks 937, the survey of Foderal Archives of Virginia
became a State-wide non-Federal project, with Dr. Bruce as State Director.

On January 1, 1940, the two projects, the Survey of Federsl Archives
and the Historical Records Survey of Virginia, were consolidated by the Work
Projects Administration to constitutc a new Historical Records Survey Project.
Dr. Bruce was appointed State Supervisor and Miss Parker,Assistant State
Supervisor. Miss Parker resigned from the Historical Records Survey on April
29, 1940. On June 24, 1940, Mrs. Helen D. Bullock was appointed Assistant
State Supervisor.,

By authority of the Presidential Letter, D=319, effective September 1,
1939, the work which the Historical Records Survey is authorized to perform
consists of "preparing and duplicating inventories of Federal, State, County,
municipal, and other local public archives; preparing, and duplicating in-
ventories, guides, and calendars of manuscript collections, including church
archivess preparing and duplicating inventoriss of books, pamphlets, and broad=
sides printed in ths United States and its territorial possessions prior to
January 1, 1891, and newspapers located in the United States; transcribing
older and more important archives and manuscripts as a measurs of preservation;
and arranging archives, manuscripts, and printed materials as a preliminary
step to preparing inventories, guides, and calendars."

The ultimate objective is to make contributions of public value. In con-
formity with the authorization, the Historical Records Survey of Virginia hasg
in progress for publication inventorics of tho archives of 211 Fedsral agoencies
within the State, except the Post Office, and inventories of the county and the
church archives. It also has under way & survey of American imprints prior to
1877. The inventories are deposited with the appropriate agency of the Federal
Government.

This Inventory of the Church Archives of Virginia, Negro Baptist
Churches in Richmond, is the second publication in the church serics of the
Historical Records Survey of Virginia. It is based, as far as possible, on
primary sources. These sourcos havs boeen supplomonted by statements made to
our researchers by officers and members of the churches, whose archives were
surveyed, and by officers of the associations to which the churches belong,




The survey was started under Miss Parker's direction in 1936. The work was
chocked in 1939-40 by Mamic M. Jones, Clarsnce &. Taylor, and Thomus Welford
Jowott, to insure accuracy, as far as possible., The manuscript, which was not
finished whan Miss Purkar resignod from tho project, has boen comploted and
cdited in this officc by the supervisor of thoe church unit, 3lizzbeth F. Coalter,
in accordance with instructions from the Netional editorial office of the
Survey. fditorial comments and criticisms were made by Arnett G. Lindsay,
Specialist in Negro History, and by Donald A. Thompson, Assistant archivist in
charge of the Church Archives Inventories, Historical Records Survey Projects,
Washington, D. Ce.

Negro ministers and other cliurch and association officials, as well as
members of the congregations, have given the project most generous cooperation.
The Negro Baptist churches in the City of Richmond are the official co=sponsors
of this volume. Towards the non-labor cost implicit in its publication, their
officers have made the liberal contribution of fifty dollars. In particular
the Staff wish to express their appreciation of the kindness of Dr. williem
Thomas Johnson, Dr. William Lao Ransomc, Dr. Christopher Columbus Scott, and

€ve Joseph Henry Brown, pustors of Negro Baptist churches in the City of
Richmond, and of Rev. David Jamos Bradford, clerk of the Tuckahoe Baptist
Association of Virginia.

Publications issued to dots by the Projoct are listed on page 55 of

this volumas.

alhicen Bave

Kathleen Bruce

State.Supervisor

The Historical Records Survey of Virginia
Richmond, Virginia
June 28, 1940
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ABBREIVIATIONS, SYMBOLS, AND ZXPLANATORY NOTES

Abbreviations, Symbols

aI‘t. (S) I..ll.l!'.O0.0.l.'..ll..'..0....'.0..'.. aPtiCle (S)
col. .olc.0..000.0..!'0'-Oo...o.....l.ooocooo COlumn
ibid.

b LB A PO R R R o i S e s the same reference

ne. de Pre9990escncessesssvennssssesesnsnsassene No dates

Ne P $eftttcestsecsecercecstcccsssnssnssssscese N0 place of publication

Pe PPoe kbt A gL ALACIC R ICHOIOE RO IO SO SO Y IO T P RS page (s)

ptd. i AL AL ACHC IR JOR S o O S P e printed

Se o ®Petccccrsssctssessencsnnssesssssnssssss SOuth Eastern Reporter
(see pibliography)

S6Ce (S) .‘.Q..Qu.c.o.--.no..IOOOUOC...0..0..00.0 section S)

supra Sececcccecrcossscsenscsocssssssnsescsssss ADOVE Or before

Vae venresesvensisniesesensderveseesesseesnsese Virginia Reports (See
bibliography)

Vi, Tetcccessccccecncccritrscsnssestsiscsses Virginia State Library

vol, (s) @0@0cctervecssosrsrseccnsssersssssssscses VOlume (S)

A .OQOQ-uoooooo.onooou-c-nooo--n---...'oo. current

Explanatory Notes

Church entries have been arranged chronclogically within the district
association with which they are affiliasted. These district associations
are arranged chronologically according to the date of organization. All
entries have been submitted to the individusl activs churches for criticism.

The Virginia Baptist Historical Socicty, = depository for Baptist ar-
chives, is located at the Univorsity of Richmond and contains most of the
roference material used in this publication. Other reforonco material may
be found at the Virginia Union University, Richmond, and the Virginia State
Library, Richmond. All localities mentioned in this volume aro in Virginia
unless otherwisse specifiocd.

Records are kept in the church unless otherwise indicated, and may be
assumed to be in good condition unless otherwise noted.

The date of founding refers to the formal organization of the church

rather than to the date services were first held by a Sunday School or other
organizatione

All available information concerning the location of defunct churches
has been includsd in this inventoy. All available deed book roferences have
been recorded under the individual church entrios.

Most sntries carry references to printed material; thorefors only
genoral works have boen included in tho main bibliography. Only one publish=
or has boen given in tho bibliographiczl referonces in the ontries. The
full imprint may be found in tho bibliogruphy at the ond of the volume.
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LAWS OF THE STATE OF VIRGINIA PERTAINING TO CHURCHES

Since 1851, a church or religious denomination may not be incorporated
in Virginia,® but may hold a limited amount of property through trustees.®
Today, the trustees may hold not over 4 acres in a city or town and not over
75 acres outside the city or town. The valus of the pergonal property (ex-
clusive of books and furniture) may not excesd $100,000. Trustees may be
appointed or substituted? and may sus and be sued in relation to the property
they nolds® Land mzy be sold or mortgaged with the permission of the circuit
court® ang any membor of tho congregetion may sue to require the trusteces to
apply tho property to the proper uses. Although these acts appoar to limit
the churches in their ownership of proporty, thoy actually onlarge the rights,
sincs at common law most chwritable trusts were invalid because they werc
too indefinite to be snforced. Proporty must be hold and dealt with oxactly
as provided by statute. "This adherence to the rule [that a charitable
trust was invelid] . . . originated in legislative and popular jealousy, and
opposition to the incorporation of religious societies, and a just apprehen-
sion that the accumulation of property by such institutions would be in-
compatible with sound republican policy."g If 2 congregation divides, the
vote of the majority reported to the circuit court and recorded in the

l. Constitution of Virginia, 1851 [hereinafter cited as Gonst. 1851 ],
arte IV, sec. 32, in The Code of Virginia « . . 1860, Richmond, 1860
%hereinafter cited as Code 18653; Constitution of Virginia, 1869

hereinafter cited as Const. 1869], art. V, sec. 17, in Third Edition of
the Code of Virginia « . ., Richmond, 1873 [hereinafter cited as Code
1873 ]; Constitution of Virginia, 1902 [hereinafter cited as Const. 1902 ],
arte IV, sec. 59, in Code of Virginia . . ., Richmond, 1918 [hereinafter
cited as Code 1919]; Constitution of Virginia, 1902 (as amended 1928),
[hereinafter cited as Const. 1902 (as amended 1928) ], art. IV, sece 59,
in The Virginia Code of 1936, Charlottesville, Va., 1936 [hercinafter
cited es Codc 1936 .

2o Acts of the General Assembly of the State of Virginia, 1809~-, Richmond,
1810-~ |hereinafter cited as Act§]: 1841-42, p. 60 (land only, by con-
veyance); The Code of Virginia, Richmond, 1849 [hereinafter cited
as Code 1849 ], pp. 362-363 (eny property by conveyance, devise, or
dedication); Acts 1918, p. 94 ( by adverse possession for 25 years); Acts
1924, p. 498; Code 1936, secs. 38, 39, 46(a); see footnotses 1, 3.

3¢ Acts 1841-42, p. 60 (2 acres in incorporated town, 30 acres outside)s
Acts 1865-66, p. 161 (2 in, 75 outside a town); The Code of Virginia
s o o Richmond, 1887 [hereinafter cited as Code 1887 ], sec. 1403
("a city or town"); Acts 1901-2, p. 337 (personal property to the value
of $30,000 added); Acts 1930, pp. 687-688 (4 acres in city or town,
$100,000 personal property)s Code 1936, sec. 43.

4. Acts 1841-42, p. 603 Acts 1897-98, p. 9773 Code 1936, sec. 39,

5S¢ Acts 1841-42, p. 605 Acts 1920, pe 95 Code 1936, sec. 42.

6+ Acts 1852, p. 80 (sold only); Acts 1878-79, p. 348 (sold or mortgaged);

ode 1936, sec. 45,

cts 1846-47, p. 663 Code 1849, p. 363 (suit will not be dismissed on
death of plaintiff); Code 1936, sec. 44.

8. B5t. 3tephen's ipiscopal Church v. Morriss!' Administrator, 115 Va. 225,
78 3. £. 662 (1913), (for full titles, see list of abbreviations and
bibliograph§)s Moore v. Perkins, 169 Va. 175, 192 S. . 806 (1937).

9« Hudgins, Judge, in Moors v. Perkins, supra, at p. 184 (quoting Staples,
Judge, in Kelly v. Love's Administrators, 61 Va. 124, at p. 131).

Q
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Laws of the State of Virginia Pertaining to Churches

chancery order book determines_the disposition of all property held in trust
for the original congregation. Thig provision has been held unconstitu-
ional if and whon it impairs the provisii? of the deed by which the property
is held, but may be valid in some cases.

Church property is tax exempt if it comes under the constitutional class-
ification, which is as follows: "The following property and no other shall
be exempt from taxation, State and local, including inheritance taxes: « . «
(b) Buildings with the land they actually occupy, and the furniture and
furnishings therein, ths endowment funds lawfully owned and held by churches
or religious bodies, and wholly and oxclusively used for roligious worship,
or for the residence of the ministor of any such church or religious body,
togethor with the additionzl adjacent land rocasonebly necessary for the
convenient use of any such building."lz The tax codf has carriced this
provision into effect practically in the same words. 3 Betwoen 1869 and 1902,
tho excmption was at tho discrotion of the Legislaturcs 4 botwoen 1849
(the first church exsmption zct found) and 1869, it was by act of Legislaturo.ls
Other constitutional provisions prohibit churches from levying a tax,16 pro=-
hibit the State from levying taxes or donating money or property for the sup=
port of churches,l7 and (formserly) protected church property from the effects
of the War Between the States or any subsequent laws or eventse.

There was a temporary provision by the Constitutions of 1830 and 1851
forbidding any minister of tho gospel to be elected to either house of tho
State Legislature, but this provision was omitted from the Constitution of
1869 and subsequent legislation.

In 1780, a law was passed meking it legal for any minister to celebrate

10. Acts 1866-67, p. 649; Code 1936, sec. 40.

1l. Finley v. Brent, 87 Va. 103, 12 S. E. 228 (1890).

12. (Const. 1902, art. XIII, sec. 183 (endowment funds not included); Conste
1902 ( as amended 1928),art. XIII, sec. 183.

13. Acts 1928, pp. 237-239; Acts 1930, p. 877 (adds endowment funds omitted
from the original tax code of 1928)3; "Tax Code" 1936, sec. 435 [appendix
to Code 1936]; Acts 1938, p. 429.

14. Const. 1869, art. X, sec. 33 Acts 1870-7L, pp. 71 (real .estate), 79 .
(personcl property)s Code 1887, secs. 457 (real ostate), 488 (personal prop-
erty); Conste 1902, art. XIII, sec. 183 (mandatory exemption)s Code 1919,
secse 2272 (roal cstate), 2301 (furniturs and fixturos = neither section
exempts these subjects from inhoritence tax as provided by the Constitu-
tion).

15. Code 1849, p. 185 ("any property"); Acts 1859-60, ppe 12, 15-16 (real
estate only); Code 1860, pp. 194~196 (real estate only); Const. 1869,
art. X, sec. 3 Zexemption made permissive by Constitution).

16+ Constitution of Virginia, 1830 [hereinafter cited as Const. 18303,art.
ITI, sec. 11, in Code 1849; Const. 1851, art. IV, sec. 15; Const. 1869,
art. V, sec. 14; Const. 1902, art. IV, sec. 58; Const. 1902 (as amended
1928), art. IV, sec. 58

17. Const. 1902, art. IV, sec. 673 Const. 1902 (as amended 1928), art. 1v,
sece 674

l8. Const. 1869, art. XI, sec. 8.

19, Const. 1830, art. III, sec. 73 Const. 1851y arts IV, secs 7
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the rights of matrimony but dissenting ministers had to be licensed by the
county courts Such license had to be signed by the judge or elder magistrate.
In 1784, it was permissible for a minister to perform a marriage provided he
produced to the court credentials of his ordination and proof of his being in
rogular communion with the Christian society of which he was supposed to be a
membere In addition, the ministor was required to take the oath of allegianco
to the Commonwealth and also ontor into a bond with two or morc sufficiont
securitics, payzbloc to the Govornor or his successors. With thesc provisions
complicd with, tho court was required to grant the ministor a testimonial
which was to bo construed to bo sufficiont authority for poerforming marri&gas.zl
Since 1831, the ministor has had to produce his credeontials and take bond bo=-
fore he could porform the marriage ceremony.

Not until comparatively late in Virginia's history was there any law
specifically preventing slaves and free Negroes from workhiping in their own
churchess A law of 1804 prohibited slaves from meeting in the night for any
purpose, but the next year it was so amended as not to apply to slaves who
attended a church with their masters; or part of the whige family, if the
worship was conducted by = regularly ordained minister.?

The fear was not of the result of roligious worship, byt of thoe danger of
any assomblage of slaves. Indeed, carlier acts relating to unlawful assemblies
of slaves did not apply to "their going to church and attending divine service
on the Lord's day, or on any other day of public worship." 4

Punishment, at least as severe, was inflicted on white persons, mulattoesé
free Negroes, or Indians found in company with slaves at an unlawful assemblye.

It will be noticed that during this period, the laws were dirccted only
at unlawful assemblies of slaves. Beginning in 1832, however, the laws per=-
taining to Negroes became widor in scops. 1In that yoar a frec Negro or
mulatto, ordained, or otherwisse, was prohibited from preaching, oxhorting,
or conducting any meoting for religicus, or any othor purposes, in tho day
or night. This provision was morged in an act of 1848, which provided that
eny assombligs cof slaves, fres Negross, or mulattoss in the day-time for ro-
ligious worship conducted by a slave, free Nogro, or mulatto, or such
assemblage in the day-time for the purpose of instruction in reading or writs

20 illiam JWaller Hening, compiler, The Statutes at Large . . o (1619-1792),
lst ed., Richmond, etc., 1809-23 [ﬁgreinafter cited as Hening, Statutes,
for complete citation, see Bibliographyj, X, ppe 361-363.

21. Hening, Statutes, XI, pps 503-504; Samuel Shepherd, compiler and editor,
The Statutes at Large of Virginia . ., o (1792-1808), Richmond, 1835=36
[hereinafter cited as Shepherd, Statutes], I, pp. 130-131; A Collection of
oo o Acts of the General Assembly of Virginia . . ., Richmond, 1803,

Ppe 192-193; The Ravised Code of the Laws of Virginia « . ., Richmond,
1819 [hereinaftor cited as Codo 1819], I, pp. 394-395,

2%+ Acts 1830-31, p. 1023 Code 1860, p. 523; Code 1919, sec. 5079; Code 1936,
sece 5079, :

%3« Shepherd, Statutes, III, pp. 108,124; Code 1819, I, ppe 424-425.

24« Hening, Statutes, VI, p. 108; Code 1803, pp. 187-188.

25+ They were fined $3 for each offense and, if the fine was not paid, given
20 lashes, whils slaves were punished with not over 20 lashes; Hening,
Statutes, VI, p. 109; Code 1803, pp. 187-188; Code 1819, I, p. 425.




Records and Recordkeseping

ing, or such assemblage at night for any purpose, constituted an unlawful
assembly. Religious services, however, were lawful if conducted by a white
minister. A severs fine or jail sentence was provided for white persons
convicted of foregathering with them in an unlawful asssmbl¥.26 All of
these acts were repoaled after the War Betwcoen the States.z

From this brief summary it appears that slaves could attend white
churches, but could noither maintain their own churches, nor assomble to=-
gether for worship except undsr a whitc minister. Until 1848 no law pro=
hibited free Negroos or mulattoes from assembling, but the presenco of a
singls slave convertod the mesting into sn unlawful asscmblye Except during
the poriod 1848-66, thereforc, it socems that in the cighteonth and nineteenth
conturiss there might have been soparate Negro churches, attended only by
fres Nogroes or mulattoos; and in most of that period thore werc fow
gpocific restrictions.

RECORDS AND RECORDKEZFING .

The Negro Baptist churches that were in Virginia prior to the War
Between the States were usually sponsored by & white Baptist church. The
records regarding these sarly churches were kept by the white pastors if
they were kept at alls The Negroes themselves were oither unablo Io kecep
their own records at that time, or were discouraged from doing so.~ We have
not bsen able to locate many of the 0ld church records.

The_keeping of church records at present is left to the individual
churches™ We found that nearly all of the churches keep minutes and frequent=-
ly that is the only record book they have. It often includes mambers,
baptisms, and marrisgos.

Most of tho Negro district associations have had printed minutes, in=
cluding the Constitution, from the date of organization. We located minutos
of tho Shiloh Baptist Association as far back as 1868.

It is, however, in vory recont ycars that most of tho Nogre churches
havo bogun to approciate the value of kooping rocords. Tho Virginia Baptist
Historical Society located at the University of Richmond, the Virginia Stute
Library, and tho Virginia Union University arc tho main depositories in
Richmond for Negro Baptist rocords.

26. Acts 1831-32, p. 20; Acts 1847-48, p. 1203 Code 1849, pp. 458, 747-748;
Code 1860, pps 510, 810-811,
27. ACtS 1865"66, PP 84-85.

l. Ored statement of Dre William Thomas Johnson, and Dre William Lee
Rangome «
2¢ Oral statement of Dr. William Lee Ransomes.
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HISTORICAL SKETCH

The epic quality of the rise of the Negro Baptist Church from primitive
animism in Africa to the present impressive organization can best be understood
if some of the facts of that rise are in mind.

The first Virpginia plantations were tilled either by fres men or by in=
dentured white servants, and by a small number of Negroes who wers in bondage
for life but who did not yet have legal status as slaves. For economical
reasons, the indentured system, as the chief source of labor, was replaced in
largs part by the Negro slave system which gradually ovolved. Thus, although
a Dutch slave trader deposited 20 Negroes at Jamestown in 1619, Negroes were
not imported in large numbers on the North American continent until after 1680.
The system worked not only in Virginia but in the other colonies. The Negro
slave could not only be held for life but could successfully weather the hottest
American summers, which in Virginia and elsewhere in_the South so often and so
speedily cut short the lives of Zuropean immigrants.

Though English plant%rs permitted religious instruction among the slaves,
it was in general neglected.” However, as early as 1695, Rev. Samuel Thomas of
Goose Creek Parish, South Carolins, was working successfully among them. "By
1705 he had brought under his instruction as many as 1,000 slaves, many of whom,
said he, 'could read the Bible distinctly and great numbers of them were en-
geged in learnimg the scriptures.'"3 In 1701, the Society for the Propagation
of the Gospel in Foreign Parts was established in London "to do missionary work
among the heathen, especially the Indiens and the Negroes . . . This body
operated through the branches of the established church, the ministrations
of which were first limited to a few places in Virginia, New York, Maryland,
and the cities of Boston and Philadelphia." From time to time there wero
slave converts in the various parishes. The Bishop of London sent Dr. Thomas
Bray to tho Colony of Maryland to study the religious necd of the Negro, and
to doviso plans for his education. This missionary movement spread to the
neighboring colonies, and a school was maintained by Dr. Bray's associates in
North Carolina and another in Georgis in 1751.

The first Negro Baptists in.America were members of the white Baptist
churches. "“The first known instance of 2 Negro as a Baptist was during the
Awakening in connection with the Newton, Rhode Island, Church where Juassey
was one of the fifty-one constituent members in 1743."S Although the first
known Negro Baptist was a member of the Rhode Island church, "there were Negro
Baptist churches in the South for more than a quarter of a century before they
began to be constituted in the North, and about a half century before the first
church of the kind was plantod in thoe West. When in 1805, morcover, tho First
African Baptist church was organizaed at Boston, Massachusctts, it was not only
the first Nogro Baptist church in the North, but was also the only indepcendont

l. Brucc, Philip Alexandor, Economic History of Virginia in the 3evontocnth
Century « . «; Now York, Macmillan and Co., 1896, vols. 1, ppe 1-56, 64-68,

2. Carter Godwin Woodson, The History of the Negro Church, Washington, D. C.,
1921 [hereinafter cited as woodson, Historyl, ppe. 5=6.

8¢ ABIde, D T

4, Jbide, ppe 5=10,

S. Miles Mark Fisher, A Short History of the Baptist Denomination, Nashville,
Tennessee, Junday School Publishing Board [“1933, hereinafter cited as Fish-
er, History}, ppe 31-32; Walter H. Brooks, "The Zvolution of the Negro
Baptist Church" in The Journal of Negro History . « .4 Lancaster, Pa., The
Association for the Study of Negro Life and History, Incorporated, 1922,
vol. 7 [hereinafter cited as Journal, vol. 7)s pp. 1l1-14,
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Negro church north except the St. Thomas Episcopal Church of Philadelphia,
which had a Negro rector."6 The Baptist doctrine, and teaching appealed to the
Negro, and Negro Baptist churches "preceded by many years the first Negro
churches of other denominations in America."7

The first Negro Baptist church in Americe was established between
1773-75 at Silver Bluff which was "situated on the South Carolina side of the
Savannah River, in Aiken County, just twelve miles from Augusta, Georgia",
and was within the bounds of "Mr. Galphin's Settlement." Silver Bluff Church,
which was organized in Mr. Galphin's mill, was founded by Elder Palmer who
is thought to have been Wait Palmer, of Stonington, Connecticut, who baptized
Shubal Stearns. Among the constituent members of Silver Bluff Church was David
George whom Zlder Palmer baptized and made the first regular pastor of that
churche

The Silver Bluff Church went into exile when Savannah fell to the
British in December 1778. Rev. David George, and about forty other slaves,
went to Savannah to seek protection. There they were freed by the British whom
they joinod.?

When the British occupied Savannah, 1779-82, there was an African Baptist
church in that city. It is thought that this church was establishod by the
exiled congrogation of Silver Bluff Church. The pastor of the Savannah church
was George Liele, a pioncor Negro preacher, who for a number of years was a
member of a white Baptist churche He had preached frequently at Silver Bluff.
In 1782, George Liele left the United States. In 1784 he began preaching in
Kingston, Jamaica, British West Indies.

Another product of either the Savannah church, or the Silver Bluff
Church was "Brother amos", who established a church in New Providence, Bahama
Islands, British Wefi Indies. His church had a membership of 300 in L7994
and of 850 in 1812

David ‘George, the first regular pastor of 3ilver Bluff Church, went
from Savannah to Charleston, South Carolina. From thers he went to Nova Scotia.
"In prosecuting his mission, he preached in Shelburn, Birchtown, Ragged Island,
and in St. Johns, New Brunswick." He established the first Baptist church in
Shelburn. From Novia Scotia, David George with a colony of 12,000 Negroes
moved to Sierra Leone, British Central Africa, in 1792, and there he established
a Baptist churche Thusg, it is claimed that Silver Bluff Church is "the mother
of Negro Baptist Eeginnings in South Carolina, Georgia, Canada, Africa, and
the West Indies."i?

After the Revolutionary War, the Silver Bluff Church was revived by one
of its congregation, Jesse Peter, who returned to the Galphin plantation as a
slaves Thereafter, hs was sometimes spoken of as Jesse Galphin. Josse Peter
(or Galphin) proached at a number of churches in tho neighborhood, and it is
thought that he astablished the First African Baptist Church of Augusta,

6o Journal, vole 7, p. 17,
7. Ibidl, pp. ll'lSn
8¢ Waltor He Brooks, "Tho Priority of the Silver Bluff Church and its Pro-
motors" in The Journal of Negro History s . s, Lancastor, Pa., The Associ=
ation for tho Study of Negro Life and History, Incorporatod, 1922, vol. 7
[horeinafter cited as Journal, vole 7], pp. 172=175.
9+ Ibid., ps 182,
10, Ibid., ppe. 190~192.
1. 7Ibid., pp. 193-194,
B2, Ibid., pp. 182-184; :Fisher, History, p. 35.
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Georgia, which was constituted in 1793. Since the Silver Bluff Church dis=-
appeared azbout the +ime that the Augusta church appeared, some historians think
that the First African Baptist Church which still_exists in Augusta, Georgia,
is o continuation of the old Silver Bluff Churche

Negro Baptist churches were organized in Virginia about the same time
that Silver Bluff Baptist Church was formed. 1In fact, one writer states that
¢ilficld Baptist Church was organized in Petorsburg, in 1774, This "was the
first church of Negroes in Potersburg to continue the organization of free
Negroes and of race conscious slaves who had been connected with neighboring
churches before 1760.,"*% In 1815 this church united with the Portsmouth
Baptist Association (white).

The Harrison Street Baptist Church, Petersburg, was organizod in 1776,
and a Baptist church was formed at Williamsburg the same yeals Dre. Walter H.
Brooks states that thg Williamsburg church bocame o member of tho Dover Baptist
Association in 1791,1° Howovor, the first appoarance of that church in the
Minutos of tho Dover Baptist Association was in 184316 (seec Invontory of tho
church Archives of Vir inia, Dover Baptist Associations ‘Pe xxiiii.

Although a few Negro Baptist churches in Virginia, and elsewhere in the
South, were not under the control of a white congregation, most of the Southern
Negroes belonged to Negro churches that were supervised by & white church, or
belonged to white Baptist churches. Negroes often formed a large portion of
the congregation of the white Baptist churchos in Virginia, and froquently
special sorvicos were held for them in the afternoon. Early in tho ninoteenth
contury the Negro members of tho Baptist churchos began to desire their own
churchese 7 The First Baptist Church of Manchoster (entry 11) is the only Negro
Baptist church that was organized before 1865 within the present bounds of the
City of Richmond without the supervision of a white congrogation. The First
African Baptist Church (entry 1) organized in 1841, is the first Negro Baptist
church that was established in Richmond undor the suporvision of a white con=-
gregations Many people were opposed to organizing this church as tho in=
surrection at Southampton in August 1831, had resulted in stringont laws against
Nogroos gathering for religious worship, or for other purposes. This church
was ostablishod through the offorts of Rev. Jeremiah Bell Jeter, pastor of the
First Baptist Church, Richmond (see Inventory of the Church Archives of
Virginia, Dover Baptist Association), who found nearly 2,000 Negroes in the con=
gregation of the First Beptist Church when he took charge of that church in
1836. The new Negro church was fortunate to have as its first pastor Reve
Robert Ryland, the first presidont of Richmond College (now the University
of Richmond)e The Hev. Mre Ryland served this church until after the War
Between the Statese

There were Negro preachers, many of them notable, dating back to the
eightoenth century. It is gaid that Nogro proachors were in charge of con=
grogations in "Charlos City [County], Petersburg, Williamsburg, and Allen's
Crock, in Luncnburg County" during the period, 1770-90.19 "Unclo Jack" of
Nottoway County was one of the pionesr Negro Baptist proachors in 1792. White
citizens purchased his froedom, had him licensed to proach, and gave him a small

13. Journal, vole 74 PPs 184-190.

14, TFisher, History, pe 39.

15, Journal, vole. 7, p. 16e

16. Minutes of the o o » Dover Baptist Association 1843, Richmond, 1843, p. 4,

17. Journal, vol. 7, ppe. 13-17.

18. Jeremiah Bell Jeter, The gecollections of a Long Life . . »» Richmond, Va.,
The Religious Herald Co., 1891, pp. 209-213.

19. Woodson, History, p. 53«
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ferm in Virginia from where he continued to preach for about 40 years.zo In
1801, Gowan Pamphlet was pastor of the Negro Baptist church in Williamsburg.
About the same time dilliam Lemon was “"chosen by a white congregation to serve
at the Pettsworth or aloucester Ghurch." He represented this church at the
Dover Baptist Associestion soveral times during the period, 1797-1803.“* Another
famous Negro pireacher of that period was Josiah Bishop of Northampton County,
who was called in 1795 to the Portsmouth Baptist Church which was comprised of
white members as well as Negroes. The congregation of this church purchosed
the fracdom of Josizh Bishop, his wife, and elder sone. Later, Bishop moved to
New York where he was pustor of the Abyssinian Buptist Church, 1810-11.

A particularly outstanding Negro preacher of the early ora was Lott Cary
who was born a slave in Virginia (section V). He was licensed to preach in the
First African Baptist church (entry 1) while it was the First Baptist Church.
On Apr. 26, 1815 Lott Jary helped to organize the Richmond Africen Baptist
Missionary society, and on Jan. 23, 1821 he sailed for Sierro Leone as an agent
of the American Colonization Society. He was the "first American Baptist
Missionary in Africa, the first represent:tive of a purely Negro missionary
orgznization to lzbor beyond the limits of the United States." The Lott Carey
Baptist Foreign Mission Society was named for Lott Carye

A famous Negro preacher of a later date was Rev. John Jasper, pastor of
Sixth Mount Zion Baptist Church, Richmond (entry 32).°4

After the War Between the States the Negro Baptist churches segregated
themselves from the white churches and from the ghite associations. They
started at once to form their own associations.2 The Shiloh Baptist Association
of Virginia (section VI) organized_jn 1865, was the first Negro Baptist
agsociation organized in Virginia. By 1879, when the Mattaponi Buptist Asso=
ciotion of Virginia (section VI1), wes formed, there were sevon Negro Baptist

20, 1Ibid., pp- 55-563 Ae As Graham, “Century of Development of Negrg Baptists
in Virginia" in Religious Horald, Nov. 15, 1923 [hereinafter cited a8
Graham, "A Century of Dovolopment"], ps 20.

21. Woodson, History, pe 533 Fisher, Hiagtory, P 353 Minutes of tho Boptist
Associztion . o o Octobor 14th, 1797, Richmond, Printed by John Dixon
e dels Pe 23 Minutes of ths Dover Baptist Associotion . o o Octobor 10th,
11th ond 12th, 1801, Richmond, Virginia, Printed by John Courtnay, Junior
Tn. d.], pe 43 Robert Baylor Somplz, A History of ths Riso znd Progress of
tho Boptists in Virginia, Revised cnd Sxtonded by Rov. G W Beale, Rich=
mond, Ve., Pitt and Dickinson, Publishars, 1894, pp. 169-170.

22. ioodson, History, ppe. 53=55; Fisher, History, pe 35.

23. The First Century of the First Baptist Church of Richmond, Virginia 1780=-
1880, Richmond, Carlton McCarthy, 819 Broad S5t.es lBSO,'pp.,222?223;:,
Ralph Randolph Gurley, w3ketch of the Life of the Rev. Lott Cary" in Life
of Jehudi Ashmun « « ey Washington, Printed by James C. Dunn, 1835, pp. 147-
160; Miles Mark Fisher, "Lott Cary the Colonizing Missionary" in The Journal
of Negro History . .« s» Lancaster, Pa., 1922, vol. 7, pps 380-4183 Proceed=-
ings of the Socond Annual Session of the Lott Carey Baptist Foreign Mission
Convention e « ¢ 1899 o o »» Raleigh, Capital Printing Co., Printers and
Binders, 1899 [hereinafter cited as Procesdings, 18994, p. 5.

24, Graham, "A Century of Development", P 20.

25, Journal, vol. 7, pps 17-203 }oodson, History, PP- 199-201.

26. Minutes of the 3lst Annual Session of the Shiloh Baptist Association . . «»
Charlottesville, Virginia, Baptist Priat, 1896, Pe Re
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district associations in Virginia. They were: Shiloh, Hassiadah Valley, Norfolk
Union, Bluestons, Banistor and Northern Virginia, and Southside Rappahannock.

In May 1867 the Virginia Baptist State Convention (section I) was organiz=
0d.28 In 1899 the Baptist General Association of Virginia {section II) was
formed by those members of the Virginia Baptist State Convention who desired to
continue working with "the Southern Baptist Convention, the Baptist General
Association of Virginia (white) and the American Baptist Publication Society."
This left the Virginia Baptist Stote Convention controlled by those who adhered
to the spirit of "Negro Independency." This spirit emphasized the fact that the
Negroes should hove full control, and supervision of their sducationzl institu-
tions, which up to that tims had been under the supervision of the Northern
Baptist Home Mission Board.

Tn 1939, Negro Baptists organized & third Stzte convention, the Goodwill
Baptist Conveation of Virginia. The main purpose of this convention is to rep-=
ressnt the Virginia Baptist churches in a naticnal convention since no Virginia
Baptist church has been represented in a national convention for 15 yoars,
though individual pastors have hold memborship in the national conventions dure
ing that period.

One of the earliest national conventions was the Northwestern and South=-
ern Baptist Convention, organized in 1864. An important convention was held in
Richmond in 1866, "when it was determined to consolidate all of the general in-
torests of the Negro Baptists, the missionary, ths Northwestern and Southern
Conventions as one large body to bs called the Consolidated American Baptist
Missionary Convention."

In 1895 the National Baptist Convention of the United States of America
(section IV) was organized. This convontion ccnsolidatad the Baptist Foreign
Mission Convention with the National Baptist Convention, organized in 1886, and
the National Baptist Zducational Gonvention, organized in 1893.

The Lott Carey Baptist Foreign Mission Society, Incorporated, of the
United States of America (section V) was formed in 1897. Many Baptist churches
in Virginia contribute to missions through this society.

The Negro Baptist associations and conventions have zided greatly the
progress of the sducztion of ths Negro whicin was not given much consideration un=
til aftsr the yar Between the States, although it had beon advocated by a num=
ber of peopls. Bishcp William Meads of tho Protestant ipiscopal Diocese of
Virginis, and RovVe Aobert Ayland, who wus the first postor of the First African
Beptist Church, Richmond (entry 1), and the first president of Richmond College

27. A. P. Young, Fifty Sessions, Historic Sketches of the Mattaponi Baptist
Association [Ne DPes Ne dely Pe Se

28. Annual of the Yirginia Baptist State Convention . » . May 1lth to ldth,
1927 |Roanoke, Va., Roanoke Printing Co., INC., 1927], p. iii.

29. TFrank P. Lewis, "A History of the Baptist General Association of Virginia
(Golored)", typescript, May 15, 1937, 172 pp., in the custody of the
Virginia Union University; oral statement of Dr. Garnett Ryland, Librarian
of the Virginia Baptist Historical Societye.

30. Oral statements of 3ev. Joseph Brown, Dr. William Thomas Johnson, Drs
#illiam Lee Ransome, Dr. Christopher Columbus Scott.

31. dioodson, History, pe 200,

32. Procssdings of the Fifty-eighth annual Session of the Netional Baptist Con-
vention, U. 3. A+, INC. o o s Sopbember T-1l, 1938 Ln. pes 1938]s pe 3o

33, Procsedings of ths Second Annuzl Sossion of the Lott Carsy Baptist Foreign
Mission Convention « o o« 1899 ¢ o o) Raleigh Capital Printing Co., Printers
and Binders, 1899, p. 53 Fisher, History, p. 117.
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(now the University of Richmond) were among those who early advocated literary
instruction for the Negro. 4 The Baptists, Methodists, and Presbyterians, aid-
ed by white philanthropists from the North, lead in the education of the Negroe.
"The Baptists ostablished Shaw University at Raleigh in 18653 Aoger Williams at
Nashville and Morehouse at Atlanta in 18673 Leland at New Orleans and Behedict
at Columbiz in 1871. The Froe-will Baptists founded Storer College at Harpers
Ferry in 1867."3

In 1865 the Richmond Theological Institute was established in Richmond
through the efforts of the American Baptist Home Mission Society. In 1867 this
same socisty hslped to sstablish Wayland Seminary and College in Washington, De. GCo
These two institutions combined in 1899 and formed the Virginia Union University,
Richmond. In 1884, Hartshorn Msmorial College for girls was cstablished in
Richmond by Rev. J. C. Hartshoran of Providenco, Rhods Island, in momory of his
wifc. Hartshorn Memorial Collage was absorbed in 1932 by the Virginia Union
University. Today this university has an enrollment of 666 students, exclusive
of summer school students and a property valuation of $629,748.16.

The Virginia Theological Seminary and College in Lynchburg is another Ne~-
gro institution that was established in Virginia through the efforts of the
American Baptist Home Mission Society. Tt is now under the supervision of the
Virginiz Baptist State Convention. In 1923 this institution had 500 students,
35, or 40 teachers, and the college property was worth about $300,000.

Negro churches, associotions, and institutions have grown rapidly in
Virginia since the War Between the States. One writer says that "no finer work
has ever been done by Christian bodies anywhsre in the world in a given fifty
years then was dons by ths Negro Baptist bodies of Virginia from 1860 to 1900."
In 1902 thers were mora than 200,000 Negro Baptists in Virginia which was 88
per cont of all of tho Baptist communicants in the Statoe, and at that time thore
were 19 Negro Baptist churches in Richmond.3® This volume contains sketches of
64 active, and defunct Negro Baptist churches in Richmond.

In 1906 the United 3tates Bureau of the Census took a special census of
religious institutions and found that the progress of Christianity among the
Negroes was amazinge The survey showed 36,770 Negro church organizations with
a membership of 3,885,097, Comparing these statistics with the figures of 1890,
the Negro population had increased 26.1 per cent whereas “the number of church
orgeanizations increased 5647 per cent; the number of communicants, 378 per
centy the number of edifices, 47.9 per cent; the seating capacity, 54,1 per
conts and thoe velus of church property, 112.7 per cont." It was also found that
over 90 per cont of the orgonizations were in the South.

Statistics of Negro Baptists in 1930, including groups in 211l the convon=
tions and among tho Northorn Baptists, estimated "17,743 ministers, 22,081 church=
o8, and 3,750,000 communicents with property valued at $103,465,800, the largest
organization that is controlled by Negroos in the world, over a million more
Noegro Christians than in all othsr denominations combinod."4o

34, Journzl, vols 7, pps 20=213 Woodson, History, ppe 148-166.

35. Ibidt, PP 202~204.

36, Milcs Mark Fishsr, Joseph B. Hoyt, eds., Virginia Union Univorsity and its
Achievements . . . Twenty=fifth Anniversary, 1889-1924 [Richmond,°1924j:‘-
pps 21, 23, 31, 35, 39, 523 oral statement of Alice Mumma, gecretary to the
president of Virginia Union University, and Everette B. Poole, book~keeper.

zg. W%Ogson, History, p. 2063 Grehem, "A Century of Development™, pe 21.

. I i— L]
39, oodson, History, pp. 286=291.
40, Fisher, History, p. 122.
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Negro Baptists have not only bought, or built meny costly edifices ih
Virginia, but they have supported both home and foreign missions, and lifted the
stendard of intolligence among their ministers. Virginia has produced morc Ne=
gro Baptist prsachers, has sont morc Negro missionarics to forcign ficlds;con=
tributed ennuzlly more to missions, has a larger porcontage of Negro Baptist
communicants, and more strong Nogro churches thon any othor Statce

Dr. iizlter He. Brooks writes that "great has boen the progross of Negro
Baptists in America, but that progross was duo in vory groat measure to Northern
philanthropy during a quartsr of a coentury after the Civil #ar and is promoted
zlso to=day by the good will of Southern Baptists who have put at the disposal
of Negro Baptists in the South thousands of dollars. But the greatest glory of
Negro Beptists is the spirit of self=help and heroic sacrifice in the endeavor
to help others, and that' spirit is now everywhers pravalent."42

4l. Graham, "A Century of Develcpment", p. 22.
42, Journal, vole Ty De 22
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I. THE VIRGINIA BAPTIST STATE CONVENTION

The Virginia Baptist State Convention was organized May 9, 1867, in
Portsmouth.l Negro Baptist churches in Virginia were sponsored by white
churches until after the War Between the States; consequently, they were
affiliated with the Baptist General Association of Virginia (white).

In the beginning of the twentieth century there were 24 Negro churches
in Rickmond, 19 of which were Baptist. They werse liberal in their support
of missions and education, having cstablished schools of their own as well
as having assistcd missions of Northern philanthropists.

In 1898, the spirit of "Negro Independency" arose among the Baptist of
Virginia.4 This movement emphasized the fact that the Negroes should have
full control and supervision of their institutions, which up to that time
had been under the control of the Northern Baptist Home Mission Boards
Those advocating the full control and supervision of their educational
institutions took over the Convention; those desiring to continus in their
cooporation with the white Beptist, withdrew from the Convention and organizod
tho Baptist Gensral Association of Virginis.

The Virginia Baptist State Convention retained the Virginia Theological
Seminary and College, Lynchburge This institution "has grown into a college
of five or six hundred students, thirty-five or forty teachers; it has
[in 1923] a property valuation of probably three hundred thousand dollars "7

The constitution of the Virginia Baptist State Convention states thets
"our sole object is a diffusion of the Gospel of Christ in the interest of
His Kingdom, by sending out missionaries, planting and training churches,
and assisting fesble Baptist Churches in the support of their pastors
throughout the State of Virginia as far as lieth within the ability of the
conventione"

Membership in this convention may comprise delegates from "any Baptist
Church, Sunday School, District Convention, Association, or any other
Baptist organization of Virginia, and tho District of Columbia" by the pay=-
ment of $5 per yoar, per delegate, provided they give evidence of their
faith in Baptist doctrines, and support the principle of "self=help" in
education. Individual members of Baptist churches may become annual members
of this association by paying $1 a year, or a life member for $10.

1. Annual of the Virginia Baptist State Convention ... Ma 1lth to 1l4th,
1927 lRoanoke, Va., Roanoke Printing Co., Inc., 1927, P. iii.fharein-
after cited as Annual, 1927].

2. Oral statement of Dr. Garnett Ryland, Librarian of the Virginie Baptist
Historical Society, Apr. 11, 1940.

3. A. A. Graham, "A Century of Development of Negro Baptist in Virginia" in
Religious Herald, Nov. 15, 1923, p. 21, col. 2.

4, Soe footnote 3

S5« ©See footnote 2.

6« Sco footnots 3.

7« Sce footnotas 3.

8« Annual, 1927, pe. 2.

90 Ibld-, Pe 7




Virginia Baptist State Convention

The first officers of the Virginia Baptist State Convention weres

Modsrator, Rev. J. He Gains, Petersburg; First Vice=Moderator, Rev. E.
Ge Corprew, Portsmouth; Second Vice=Moderator, Rev. Thomas S. Henson,
Norfolks Recording Secretary, Rev. Henry Williams, Petersburg; Corre=
sponding Secretary, Rev. g%rrison Scott, Danville; Troeasurcr, Deacon
Poter Archer, Pctersburg.

The prosent officers are: Prosident, Dr. C. P. Madison, 2925 Woodlawn
Avee.s Norfolks; First Vico-President, Rev. Percy L. Harvey, 1821 Bedford
Ave., Lynchburg; Second Vice-Prosidont, ReV. C. We Ingrem, 609 Augusta
Ave., Stauntonj Rocording Secretary, Rovs T. M. Johnson, Portsmouth;
Corresponding Socrotary, Dre Charles &. Jones, 1901 Marshall Ave., Newport
Newsy Treasurer, Rov. James A. Shelton, Randolph Lano, Lynchburgs; Cheirman
of Board of Trustces, Dr. Christopher Columbus Scott, Richmondj Chairman
of Home Mission Board, Rov. W. Le Hamilton, 913 South St Norfolki
Chairman of Foreign Mission Board, Rev. Edward B. Lowis, Richmond.

The rocords of this convention include Minutes (with Constitution and
By-Laws), 1894, 1 vol., in the custedy of tho Virginia Union University;
1885, 1927, in the custody of the Virginia State Librarys 1910, 1916, 1926,
4 vols., in the custody of Rev. Danicl James Bredford, 1018 3t. John Ste,
Richmonde

10. Frank T. Lewis, "History of The Baptist Goneral Association of Virginia
(Colored), ™typescript, 1937, 172 pps, in tho custody of the Virginia
Union Universitye

11. Orsl stotoment of Dre, Christopher Columbus Scott, Apr. 19, 1940«
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II. BAPTIST GEN£RAL ASSOCIATION OF VIRGINIA

The Baptist General Association of Virginia was organized in the First
African Baptist Church, Richmond (entry 1) in June 1899, The first annual
meeting was held Oct. 18, 1899 in the Eighth Street Baptist Church, Lynchburg.l
Prior to the formation of this Association, the missionary and educational
work of the Negro Baptists in Virginia had been directed by the Virginia
Baptist State Convention, which was organized in 1867 as a separate body from
the Baptist General Association of Virginia (white)e

In 1898, the spirit of "Negro Independency" arose among the Baptist of
Virginia. This movement emphasized the fact that the Negroes should have
full control and supervision of their educational institutions, which up to
that time had been under the control of the Northern Baptist Home Mission
Board.

The Baptist General Association of Virginia was organized by members from
the Virginia Baptist S3tate Convention who favored the continuance of coopera=
tion with "the Southern Baptist Convention, the Baptist General Association
of Virginie (white), and the American Baptist Publication Society."4

All of the Baptist demoninational schools, except the Virginia Theological
Seminary and College, Lynchburg, are now "under the auspices of the Baptist
General Association of Virginia and its various allied local auxiliaries,
the combined valuation of which is easily one=half million dollars, with
fifty, or sixty teachers, and a combined student body of about two thousand "
The Virginie Union University, though it does not belong to either the
Baptist General Association of Virginia, or the Virginie Baptist State
Convention, receives support only from the Baptist General Association of
Virginiae

The object of the Baptist General Association of Virginias as stated in
Article IT of the Constitution and By-Laws "shall be to propagate the gospel
and advance the Redeemer's Kingdom throughout the state by supplying vacant
churches with the preached word, by sending preachers to destitute regioms
within the state, by organizing new churches, by promoting the_spread of the
gospel in all the world and by promoting Christian Education."

Membership in the association is determined in the following manners
any church with 400 members, or less is entitled to 1 representative by the
payment of $5, and another rspresentative for esach additional 400 members

1. Frank P. Lewis, "A History of the Baptist General Association of
Virginia (Colored)", typescript, May 15, 1937 [hereinafter cited as Lewis,
"History“], 172 pp.s in the custody of the Virginia Union University;
oral statement of Dr. #¥illiam Thomas Johnson, and Dr. William Lee Ransome.

2. Annual of the Virginia Baptist State Convention ... Ma 1lth to 1l4th,
1927 [Roancke, Va., Roanoke Printing Co. Inc., 1927 ], pe iiie

3. A. A. Graham, "A Century of Development of Negro Baptists in Virginia" in
Religious Herald, Nov. 15, 1923 [hereinafter cited as Graham, "A Century
of Development"], p. 21, col. 2; oral statement of Dr. Garnett Ryland,
Librarian of the Virginia Baptist Historical Society, Aprs 11, 1940,

4, See footnote 1.

5. Graham, "A Century of Development", p. 21, col. 2.

6 dbifes DA 225 Cols 1s

7. Minutes ... of the Baptist General Association of Virginia ... June 14, 15,
16, and 17, 1938 [Aichmond, Virginia, The Saint Luke Press, Nine Hundred
Two & Four 3t. James Strect], 1938 [hereinafter cited as Minutes, 1938),
pe l4.
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" Baptist General Association of Virginia

provided they contribute $5 for each delegate, but no church mey have more
than 5 representatives; each Baptist district association may have 1 rep=
resentative by paying $5 a year; any member of a Baptist church in good
standing may become a member by the payment of $1 and a life member by the
payment of $10,8

The officers elected at the first annual session of this association
which was held in Lynchburg weres Moderator, Revs Richard E. Wells, Pastor
of Ebenezer Baptist Church (entry 3); Vice-Moderatorss Revs E. Watts, Harrison
Strest Baptist Church, Petersburg; Rev. Isaac Lee, Eastern Shore; ReVs
Daniel Cave; Reve Je« W. Booth, Gloucester; Rev. Re Be Hardy, Mt. Zion Baptist
Church, Charlottesville; Reve M. A. Pannell, Chathamj Corresponding Secretary,
Rev. Re Ces Quarles, First Baptist Church, Charlottesville; Statistical
Secretary, Rev. He W Childs, Portsmouth; Recording Secretary, Reve We M.
Moss, Royal Street Baptist Church, Danvillej Treasurer, Dr. Anthony Binga,
Jr., First Baptist Church (entry 11).°

The present officers of this association aret President, Dr. O. Je
Allen, 811 Henry St., Norfolks Vice=President, Reve. He Neo Johnson, 1329
Effingham St., Portsmouth; District Association Vice-Presidentss Rev. P. L.
Barksdale, Bannister Association, Halifaxj Reve J. H. Bagley, Harmony
Association, Chase City; Reve 5 Ls Scotty Norfolk Uniom Association, 1816
Effingham St., Norfolk; Dr. D. He Chamberlain, Northern Neck Association,
Downings Rev. M. L. Burton, Cherrystone Association, Chathamy Dre Se Be
Holmes, Pamunkey Association, King William Court Housej Reve We Be Carrington,
Northampton Association, Cheritonj Rev. Frank Hearn, Northern Virginia
Association, Washington, De. Cs3 Dr. William Thomas Johnson, Shiloh Association,
2504 Brook Road, Richmond; Rev. Be He Gayles, Southside Rappahannock Association,
Ssaluda; Reve Re Do Mason, Sunnyside Association, Re F. Dey Milton, Ne Ca3
Dr. John EBarly Foumtain, Tuckahoe Association, 809 W. Clay 5t., Richmond}
Dr. Je A. Martin, Schaffer Memorial Association, 619 Mary St., Bristol, Tenmsj}
Dr. M. C. Rux, Bluestons Association, Keysville; Recording Secretary, Dre
Jemes Arthur Brinkley, Virginia Union Universityj Assistant Recording
Secretary, Rev. We 2 Taylor, Kinsalej Corresponding Secretary, Rev. B. He
Gayles, Saluda; Statistician, Dr. M. Cs Rux, Keysvillej Treasurer, Dr.
Augustus #2lter Brown, 809 N. St. James Ste, Richmond; Auditor, Dr. C. H. De
Griffin, Farmville; Chorister, Dr. Joseph Tyler Hill, 1302 Idlewood AvVesy
Richmond; Secretary of State Missions, Dre Os Co Jones, 283 Glasgow Ste,
Portsmouth; Educational Secretary, Dr. William Thomas Johnson, 2504 Brook
Road, Richmond; Chairman of the State Mission Board, Dr. J. W. Patterson,
19 Lincoln Ste., Hampton; Chairman of the fKducational Board, Dr. G« W. Goode,
219 Ross Ste, Danville; Chairman of the Foreign Mission Board, Reve. Ge We
Watkins, Quinton; Chairman of the Publishing Board, Dr. George idward Read,
Leigh St., Richmond; Chairman of Evangelism, Dr, John Allen Brown, Richmond.

The records of this association include Minutes (with the Constitution
and By-Laws), 1903, 1905, 1907, 1910, 1912-14, 1923~24, 1928, 1936, 1938, 12
vols., in the custody of the Virginia Union University; 1930-35, 1937, 7
vols., in the custody of Rev. Daniel James Bradford, 1018 St. John St.,
Richmond.,

10

8. Ibide, ppe 14-15.
9. Lewis, "History", pe 97
10. Oral ctatement of Dr. James Arthur Brinkley, Recording Secretary of the
Baptist General Association of Virginia, who states that all of the
officers, with the exception of the chorister, are the same 2as those
listed in Minutesg, 1938, pe. 3.




& B
III. GOODWILL BAPTIST CONVENTION OF VIRGINIA

The Goodwill Baptist Convention of Virginia was organized Sept. Vs 1939
in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. This organization was confirmed Jan. 11, 1940

at a meeting which was held at the Fifth Street Baptist Church, Richmond.

Since 1915 the Negro Baptist associations in Virginia have not been
represented in either the National Baptist Convention of America (un=
incorporated), or in tho National Baptist Convention of the United States of
America, Incorporated. ' Individual Baptist churches, however, havo boen
represonted in the national conventions and the Virginia associations have
contributed to forsign missions through the Lott Carcy Foreign Mission Societye.

Meny loading pastors felt the nsed of an alliance of Virginia Baptist
associntions with & national convention. Consequently, they met September
1939 in Philadelphia, while attonding the fifty-ninth ennual session of the
Netional Baptist Convontion of the United States of America, Incorporated,
and formed the Goodwill Baptist Convontion of Virginia. This organization
was loter ratifiod in Richmond, and a meeting was arranged to be held July
2, 1940 in the First Baptist Church, Richmond. At that time they will arrange
their reports for the National Convention of the United States of Amorica,
Incorporated, which will meet Sopte. 4-8, 1940 in Birminghom, Alabama.

The Goodwill Baptist Convention now has among its members the follow=
ing Richmond churchess First Baptist Church (entry 11), Second Baptist
Church (entry 13), Second African Baptist Church (entry 2), Third Baptist
Church (now Swansboro Baptist Church, entry 20), Fifth Baptist Church (entry
5), Fifth Street Baptist Church (entry 12), Celvary Baptist Church (entry 56),
New Light Baptist Church (entry 10), Riverview Baptist Church (entry 19),

Mt. Tabor Baptist Church (entry 7), The First Union Baptist Church (entry 21),
and Moore Street Baptist Church (entry 35).

The officers of the Goodwill Baptist Convention are: President, Dr.
Christopher Columbus Scott, 1005 N. Fourth 3t., Richmonds First Vice=Pres=
ident, Rev. Harvey N. Johnson, Portsmouth; Second Vice~President, Rov. M. Le
Murchison, Fredericksburg; Recording Secretary, Dr. William Lco Ransome,

1507 Decatur Ste., Richmond; Corresponding Secretary, Rev. Cary Sylvester
McCall, Richmonds Treasurer, ReVve. Porcy L. Horvey, - Lynchburg.

The records of this association include Minutes and Correspondence in

the custody of Dre William Lee Ransome, 1507 Decatur St., Richmond.

1. Tho information in this and the sbove paragraphs is from oral gtatsmants
of Rev. Jossph Brown, Dr. William Thomas Johnson, Dr. William. Lee
Ransome, and Dr. Christopher .Columbus Scotts
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. IV. NATIONAL BAPTIST CONVENTION OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

The National Baptist Convention of the United States of America was
organized Sept. 28, 1895 when representatives of several Negro Baptist
organizations met in Atlanta, Georgia. It was decided at that time to
unite as ones the Baptist Foreign Mission Convention which conducted
missionary work on the west coast of Africa, the National Baptist Convention
which had been doing missionary work in the United Stotes, and the National
Beptist Educationzl Convention whose aim was to promote the education of
the Negro.l

The Baptist Foreign Mission Convention and the National Educational
Convention had been mceting jointly with tho National Beptist Convontion
since 1886 when the National Baptist Convention was organized in St. Louis,
Mo., on August 25, 1886. The National Baptist Convontion, however, accepts
1880 as its starting point as that was whon the Baptist Foreign Mission
Convention was formed in Montgomery, Alabama.

These conventions united as the National Baptist Convention of the United
States of America with "the purpose of putting into effect the benevolent
intentions of their .constitutents by eliciting, combining and directing the
energies of the denomination..." and with the determination "To promote home
and foreign missions; to encourage and support Christian education; to
publish and distribute Sunday=-School and other religious literature; and to
engage in whatever other Christian endeavor is required to advance the
Rodsemer's kingdom throughout the world."3

The mombership of this convention may consist of annual and lifo members,
and reprosentativos from "Baptist churchos, district associations and
conventions, district state convontions, and statc conventions, all known to
be in harmony with the object of this Convention, by paying into the treasury
of this Convention at the annuzl meetings thereof, such sums as are stated in
Section 3." This section states that "Any regular Baptist church shall be
entitled to one (1) messenger upon the peyment of ton dollars ($10.00); any
district association or convention, to one (1) mossenger upon tho payment
of twenty=-five dollars ($R5.00)3 any district state convention, to one (1)
messenger upon payment of fifty dollars ($50.00); ony state convention, to
one (1) messengor upon peyment of ons hundred dollars ($100.00); provided that
eny or 21l of the above mentioned orgenizations may be entitled to one (1)
additicnzl mossenger for overy additicnel ton dollars ($10.00) paid, all of
which shall be for the work of this Convention."

1. Procesdings of the Fifty-eighth Annual Session of the National Baptist
Gonvention, Us Se Asy TNCe eos Septomber 7-11, 1938,[he Peg 1938 , hole=
inaefter cited as' Prodgedings, 1938, pe 3.

2+ Ibid., pp. 8-9; Journal and Lectures of the Second Anniversary of the
American Baptist Convention ... August 25-28, 1887, n. p., 1887, p.
33; Carter Godwin Woodson, The History of the Negro Church ... Washing=-
ton, D. C., The Associated Publishers [C1921], p. 260.

3. Proceedings, 1938, p. 3.

4, 1Ibid., PPe 3=4,
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Netional Baptist Convention of the United States of America

Subsidiaries of the National Baptist Convention of the United States
of America are: the Woman's Convention, Auxiliary to the National Baptist
Convention; Sunday School ang Baptist Young Peoples' Union Congrees; and
the Baptist Laymen Movement.

The Virginia associations have not been represented in the Netional
Baptist Convention of the United States of America sinco 1915.6 Individual
churches have, howoverT, meintained their reprosentation. Tho First Baptist
church, Richmond, has bcon represonted by Reve William Loo Ransome, and
Fifth Street Baptist Church’7 Richmond, has been represented by Rev.
Christopher Columbus Scotte

First president of the Baptist Foreign Mission Convention was Reve
We He McAlphine, 1880-82, and the first secretary was ReVe. Je Ms Armstead,
1880-81.

First president of tho joint Foreign Mission or National Educational
Convention was Revs. Je Ae Foster, 1886 and the first secrotary was Hone
J. Je Speclmane

First presidont of the Netional Baptist Convention of the United
Statos of Amorica was Rove Ee Ce Morris, 1895-1921 and the first secretary was
W. He Steward, 1895-98. Ho had bsoen secrotary of the Foroign Mission or
Netionsl Bducational Convention, 1894-95.

Tho prosont officers of tho National Baptist Convention of the
United States of Americe are: President, Rev. L. Ko Williams, 3101 South
Parkway, Chicago, Ille, 1923--3 Secretary, Rev. J. M. Nabrit, 1931l==.

The records of this association include Minutes (with the Constitution),
1937=-, 2 vols., in the custody of Dre Williom Thomas Johnson, 2504 Brook
Road, Richmondj 1937==, 2 vols., in the custody of Dre Christopher Columbus
Scott, 1005 Ne 4th Ste

A notion-wide directory of churches affilioted with the National
Baptist Convention of ths United States of America, Incorporatedyis now

boing compiled by the T11linois Historical Records Survey Projects

5: Tbides pe Ge

6, Oral statement ofs Rove Williom Loo RansomCe
7. Proccedings, 1938, pe 289%

84  Thidas De Be

9 Ibld-, Pe 9.
10« TIbid., ppe 8=9%
11. Ibides Peo Be

|

|
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V. LOTT CAREY BAPTIST FOREIGN MISSION SOCIETY, INCORPORATED, OF THE
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

This society was organized Dece 16, 1897 in Washington, Ds Ceyas the
First District Foreign lMission Convention.

Tt resulted from the opinion that the best plan for efficient mission
work was "to divide the country into five or six districts, each having a
local board with a secretary and financial agent, all subject to and re-
porting to the National Convontion, but the National Beptist Convention, in
its session at Boston, Sopte. 1897 thought otherwise.," However, "acting
according to that opinion, tho Baptist of North Carolina, at the last
sitting of thoir Convention, October 1897, voted unanimously to issuc a
call to states holding the same views, to meet with them in the city of
Washington, December 16, 1897, to consider the propriety of organizing a
Baptist District Convention to do mission worke"

The object of this society is to foster "the Kingdom of Christ in all
the world, and to do this in co-operation with all bodies in fellowship
with it either in the United States of America or in the countrics whore it
operates mission stations." In ordor to accomplish this their comstitution
states that "not more than (25 cents) twenty-five cents out of every dollar
shall be exponded for oporating cxpenses of this work and at loast (75 cents)
seventy-five cents out of evory dollar shall be axponded in tho work of
missions as carried on by this socicty."3

Membership in this society may include “eny Baptist Church, Sunday
School, liissionary or Educational organization" upon the "payment of $5 por
delegate provided no church shall be represented by more than five delegates.
Any member of a Baptist Church in good and regular standing may become an
annual member by payment of ($5.00) five dollars, and a }ife member by the
peyment of ($25.00) twenty-five dollars at one peymont."

This socioty “shall convenc annuelly beginning at 10 A. Ms, on Wodnesday
before gho first Sunday in Septomber at a place providod by tho Body or . .
Board."

By 1899 tho sociotg hod decidod to change its neme to tho Lott Carey
Foreign Mission Societye. This was done in honor of Lott Carey’ who was the

1. Proceedings of the Second Annuel Session of the Lott Carey Baptist Foreign
Mission Convention ees 1899 ees.y Raleigh, Capital Printing Co., Printers
and Binders, 1899 [hereinafter cited as Proceodings, 1899 ], p. 53 Miles
Mark Fisher, 4 Short History of the Ba tist Denomination ..., Nashville,
Tennesse, Sunday School Publishing Board [¢1933, heroinaftor cited as
Fishor, History], pe 117.

2. Procoodings, 1899, pe S
3. Minutes of tho ... Lott Caroy Baptist Foroign Mission Convention of Amcrica
see 1935 4aey Ne Py 1935 [hercinafter cited as Minutes, l935j, Pe Se

4o Ibid., Pe 6e

5. 8oc footnote 4.

6e¢ e havo spolt the name of this society with tho "o" according to tho
minutos of tho sociotys Proccodings, 1899, pe 53 Fighor History, Ppe 117-118,

7. We have spelt the name of the man Cary without the "e" as his biographers
have done: Ralph Randolph Gurley, "Sketch of the Life of the Rev. Lott
Cary” in Life of Jehudi Ashmun sese, Washington, Printed by Jamoes C. Dunn,
1835 [hereinafter cited as Gurley, "Lott Cary"j, ppe 147-160; Milos Mark
Fishar, "Lott Cary the Colonizing Missionary", in The Journal of Nogro
History ... 1922, Lancaster, Pa., 1922, vole 7 [heroinaftor citod as
Journal, vol. 7 j, ppe. 380-418.




.\ Lott Carsy Baptist Foreign Mission Society, Incorporated, of thoe
© United Stotes of Americe
wfirst American Baptist Missionary in Africa, the first representative of
e pursly Negro missionary organization to labor beyond the limits of the
United Statess"

Lott Cary was born in 1780, a slave on the plantation of William A.
Christian im Gharles City County. His father was a respected member of a
Baptist church cnd a pious exhorter, or "plantation preacher", who tried to
instill religious principles into hig only child who was a young man noted
for his intemperance, and profanity.

In 1804 he was hired out cs a factory hond in the Shockoe tobacco waro=
house in Richmond. He was converted in 1807 while sitting in the gallery
of the First Baptist Church, Richmond (see Inventory of the Church Archives
of Virginia, Dover Baptist Association)e It was @ sermon based on the third
chapter of John that brought ebout his conversion and instilled him with &
desire to read the Bible for himself. He was converted and baptized by Reve
John Courtnoy, pastor of the First Baptist Church, Richmond.t0 He attended
a "tri-woekly night school in tho gallery of the 0ld church." This school
was conducted by William Crane, o prominent momber of the First Baptist
Church, and David Ropsr who was lator pastor of Second Baptist Church (see
Inventory of the Church Archives of Virginia, Dover Baptist Association).l
Lott Cary also attended the Sunday School which was conducted by the Second
Baptist Churche. 2 He was "licensed to preach by the First Baptist Church,
Richmond, and he exercised his talent every Lord's day among the colored
people on plantations a few miles from Richmond." 3 He was noted for the
powsr of his preaching and "with his magnetic personality, his rugged piety
end his persuasive oratory, stood esasily the poer in all savo tho color of
his skin, of the most sble proachars of his day."

In 1813, afti the desth of his wifo, hc ransomed himsclf and two
childron for $850.™° This monoy wes obtained by his splondid ability in
hendling the work at the tobacco warchousc where he was able to "produce
any one of the hundreds of hogshesds of tobacco the instont it was called
fors" This ssrvice was ofton rowarded EY a five dollar noto and the privilege
to soll the waste tobacco for himsalf.l

On Apr. 26, 1815 he helped to organizo tho Richmond African Baptist
Missionary Socioty whose presidont was #illiam Cranec of the First Baptist
Churchet?

8+ dJournal, vol. 7, p. 38k.
9, Ibid., ppe 381-82; Gurley, "Lott Cary", pe. 147-148.
10, Journal, vole 75 pe 38R
11. Tbid., pps 384=385; .The First Ceritury of the First Beptist Church
of Richmond, Virginia, 1780-1880, Richmond, Carlton McCarthy, 819 Broad
Street, 1880 [hereinafter cited as The First Century ess, 1880], pp. 222-223.
12+ Douglas Southall Freeman, "Historical Sketch of the First Fifty Years
of the Second Baptist Church", in The Ideal, Richmond, the church, vol,
5, May 1921, pp. 4-1l.
13. Journal, vol. 7, p. 384.
14, A. A. Gaoham, "A Century of Development of Negro Baptist in Virginia" in
Religious Herald, Nov. 15, 1923, pp. 20=224
15. Gurley, "Lott Cary", pp. 147-148.
16, Journal, vole 7, ps 383.
17, 1Ibid., pp. 384-3853 Gurley, "Lott Cary", ps 1485 The First Cantury seey
1880, ppe 222-223.
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Lott Carey Baptist Foreign Mission Society, Incorporated, of tho United
Statos of America

In May 1817 the Richmond African Baptist Missionary Society sent a letter
to the first Triennial Convention which was held in Philadelphia and suggest-
ed that they establish an African Mission. "Lott Cary was received by the

l Baptist Board of Foreign Missions on May 1, 1819 and was accepted by the

American Colonization Society to work for them without pay as other engage-

" ments would permit."l8 He preached his farcwell sormon in the First Baptist

Churchet? "Prior to his public farewell, Lott Cary and Colin Toague wore
ordained and they, with thoir wives, Joscph Langford and wife and Hilary
Teagus, wore orgaenized in January, 1821, into a church. Lott Cary was
¢loctod pestor. The constitution of this body which they were to plant in
Africe was modclled after the Samson Strect Church of Philadalphia."20

They sailed from Norfolk, Virginia, at half past six o'clock on tho
morning of Jan. 23, 1821, The party consisted of 28 colonists who wore “en
route to Siorra Leone" as agents of the American Colonization Society. They
landed at Cape Montsorado. It was difficult to establish a settlement at
Cepe Montserado so they moved to Freetown, Sierra Leone, where they remained
for seversl months. Later, Lott Cary ostablished his church at Monrovia.

By 1823 he had six converts. By 1825 tho membership had incrgasced to 60 or
70, cnd in 1826 he dedicated tha church which they had built.?

Besidos preaching soveral times a wook, Lott Cary established a day
school on Apre 18, 1823. By June the enrollment included pupils from Grand
Cape Mount. This school was moved to Grand Cape Mount in 1827.

Lott Cary cared for the physical ailments of his colonists as well as
their spiritual welfare. "Every ship that brought emigrants meant more
work for Cary. On February 13, 1824, one hundred and five emigrents arrived
in the ship Cyrus and in less than a month every one was prostrate with the
fover."

From the time that he establishaed the first gettloment in Capo Mont=-
serado, Lott Cary "was appointod Governor Inspector at tho samc time he was
soloctod Hoalth Officer ... In Soptembor 1826, ho was unenimouely elected
vice-agont of tho colonye." Johudi Ashmun, Colonial Agent in Liberic, had a
great deal of confidence in the ability of Lott Carye. He left him in charge
of the colony when he had to return to America in 1828 because of his health.

"The only trouble that Cary had while he was vice=agent was with the
natives." They robbed a factory at Digby and & general uprising was threatened.
On the ovening of Nov. 8, 1828 Lott Cary called out the militia to make
cartridges. Thoere was a greet explosion causcd by a candle, and eight people
lost Bgeir lives. Among them was Lott Cary who died from injuries, Nov. 10,
1828,

In 1850 a monument was placed at his grave by Rev. Eli Ball of Virginia,

R4

f 18. Journal, vol. 7, pp. 355-388; George White McDaniel in Religious Herald,

Nove 15, 1923, Pe 31.

#9119, Gurley, "Lott Cary", p. 149,
» 20. Journal, vols 7, pe 390.

AN g

* 21, Ibid., pp. 18, 391-392, 395-397; Gurley, "Lott Cary", ps 149.

22. Journal, vols 7, ppe. 401-403.

23, Ibido, Pe 407,

24, Ibid., pe 413; Gurley, Life of Jehudi Ashmun .e, Washington, Printed by
James C. Dunn, 1835, title peges

25. Journal, vole 7, ppe 414-415.
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'Lott Carey Baptist Foreign Mission Society, Incorporated, of the United
States of Americas

who was acting as agent for the Southern Baptist Missionary Convention.

A part of the inscription thereon reads: "An original settler and defender
of the Colony at Monrovia. Died acting Governor of Liberia Nove. 10th, 1828.
His life was the progrggsive dovelopment of an able intellect and firm
benovolent heart ecee "

The present exacutive socretary of tho Lott Carcy Baptist Foreign
Mission Convention of tho United States of America is Rov. J. Harvey Rendolph,
1336 T Stes Ne Wy Washington, D. Ce

Tho rocords of this society include Minutes (containing tho Constitution),
1911-1914, 1921, 1923, 4 vols., in tho custody of the Virginia Union
University; 1937=-, 2 vols., in the custody of Dr. William Thomas Johnson,
2504 Brook Road, Richmond; 1937--, 2 vols., in the custody of Dr. Christopher
Columbus Scott, 1005 Ne 4th St., Richmond; 1906, 1917, 1922-23, 1927, 1933,
1937-38, 9 vols., and Annual Reports of the Corresponding Secretary, 1920-24,
1930-3k, 4 vols., in the custody of Rev. Daniel James Bradford, 1018 St.

John St., Richmond.

26. Ibide, pe 18
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VI. THE SHILOH BAPTIST ASSOCIATION OF VIRGINIA

The Shiloh Baptist Association of Virginia,1 called "the Mother of
Associations", was organized in 1865 in Ebenezer Baptist Church (entry 3)2
by Reve Richard E. Wells.” This was the first association formed by the
Negroes of Virginia. Prior to this time, the Negro churches were in the
white associations. The following churches were dismissed from the Dover
Baptist Association in 1865 to form the Sniloh Baptist Associations African
Baptist Church, Williamsburg; Chickahominy Baptist Church, James City Countys;
and 211 of the Negro Baptist Churches in Richmond, which were: First African
Baptist Church (entry 1); Second African Baptist Church (entry 2); Third
African Baptist Church (now fbenezer Baptist Church, entry 3)s and Fourth
African Baptist Church (now Fourth Baptist Church, entry 4).

Membership in the Shiloh Baptist Association may include any regular
Baptist church, organization or individual upon the payment of duesy and
upon the vote of two-thirds of the members present ot an annual meetinge

The object of the association is "fretornal intercourse and mutual
counsel, to foster the promotion of tho causo of Christ, and gencral education,
especially of the rising ministry, and to assist in the distribution of the

Rible and other truths."
The Shiloh Baptist Association contributes to both home and foreign

missionse Most of their missicnary work is done through the Lott Caroy
Foreign Mission Society, with which the associstion has boen affiliated since
the society was organized.7 Among the educational institutions to which the
sssociation contributes ares Virginia Union University, Richmond, the Virginia
Theological Seminary and College, Lynchburg, and the Negro Organization
Societye Their main gducational interest, howéver, is the Virginia Union

University, Richmonde.
This institution was founded soon after the Shiloh Baptist Association

was organized, at which time few Negroes could read. or write. It has done
splendid work in pggmoting the spiritual, mental, physical, and social welfare

of tho.Nogro.racces’
The Woman's Auxiliary, which was organized in 1919 and reorganized three

years later by Mrs. William Thomas Johnson, holds its annual meetings at the
same place and at the same timo as the Shiloh Baptist Association, and makes

l« Minutes of the ... Shiloh Baptist Associotion of Virginia ess 1938,
e Des 1938 [hercinafter cited as Minutes, 1038, Pe 3»

2. Minutes of the 3lst Annual Session of the Shiloh Baptist Association sess
Charlottesville, Virginia Baptist Print, 1896, Ps 26

3., Oral statement of Rev. Daniel James Bradford; Rev. Joseph Browns Dr.
William Thomas Johnson3 Rev. John William Kempj Drs #illiem Lee Ransomes

4, Minutes ... of the Dover Baptist Association «ee Septe 18th, 19th & 20th,

1860, Richmond, He Ke Bllyson, Printcrs, 1860, ppe 24, 27=-283 Minutes of tho
ves Dovor Baptist Association e.. 1862, 1863, 1864, 1865, and 1866 essy
Richmond, Leughton & Fore, Printers, 1866, De 25; Journal of Proceedings of
the Colored Shiloh Baptist Association of Virginia .ee 2t its Third Annual
Session ... Sth, 6th, 7th, 8th, and 9th, of Auge, 1868 ssey Richmond,

V. L. Foro, Printer, 1315 Main Street, 1868, pe 173 Letter of Dr. Walter
He Broocks, manuscript, Doce 26, 1939, 2 PPsy in the custody of the Virginia

Historical Records Survey.
5 Minutes, 1938, pe .3e
6e Ibid., Pe e
7o Ibide, pps 15, 193 oral statement of Dr. William Thomas Johnson.
8¢ Ibide, ppe 13, 15, 19.
9 * Minutes, 1938, ps 13.
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'The Shiloh Baptist Association of Virginia

annual reports to the Association.lo

The Shiloh Baptist Association meets annually at 9 4. M. on fednesday
before the third Sunday in July at a place which is decided upon at the
preceding meeting.

The first moderator of this assoiiation was Rev. Peter Randolph 1865-703
and the first secretary was John Oliver. &

The present officers are: Dr. William Thomas Johnson, 2504 Brook Road,
Richmond; First Vice-lModerastor, Rev. Cary Sylvester McCall, 1207 N. 24th St.,
Richmond; Second Vice=Moderator, Reve Robert Spencer Anderson, 1417 W. Cary St.,
Richmond; Third Vice=Moderator, Rev. T. F. Collins, 2806 Q. St., Richmonds
Fourth Vice-Moderator, Rev. William Burrs Ball, 407 W. Clay St., Richmondj
Fifth Vico=Moderator, Rov. John Honry Roots, 1923 Washington Ste., Richmondj
Trocsursr, Reve. John §illiem Kemp, 501 Corbin St., Richmond; Recording Secretary,
Dr. B. J. Fletcher, Church Road; Corresponding Secretary, Rev. George We
Watkins, Juinton; Statistician, Rev. g. D. Z1lis, Louisa; Auditor, Rev. Joseph
Thomas Hill, 105 Byrd St., Richmond.®

The records of this association include Minutes (containing the Consti=
tution), 1868-83, 1891, 1922, 1924, 1929-30, 20 vols., in the custody of the
Virginia Baptist Historical Society; 1875-78, 1880-81, 1889-91, 1910, .1912,.
1914, 1922, 1924, 13 vols., in the custody of the Virginia Union Universitys
1919, 1931, 1937, 3 vols., in the custody of Rev. Daniel James Bradford, 1018
5t. John 5t.s Richmond.

The Richmond churches in the Shiloh Baptist Association of Virginia ares

1. FIRST AFRICAN BAPTIST CHURCH, 184l=--, N. E. corner of Broad (formerly
He St.) and College Sts.

Organized Oct. 17, 1841 with 1,708 members from the First Baptist
Church (see Imventory of the Church Archives of Virginia, Dover Baptist Asso-
ciation)s Until this tims the congregation of the First Baptist Church had

| Consisted of a lurge number of Negroes. While Rev. Jeremich Bell Jetor was

pastor of the First Baptist Church, the number of Negro members increased to
such an extent that it seemed advisable for the two congregations to separate.
In this way the Negroes could have a pastor who would devote all of his time
to them, and conduct the services suitable to the need of the Negro congregation.

Thersc ware, however, objections to Negroes having their own churchesj
the insurrcction at Southampton hed rosulted in stringent laws against Nogroos
gathering for religious worship or for other purposes. In order to  overcome
this difficulty it was decided that the pastor in charge of the church should
be a white man, that a white committee should be appointed by the mother church
to listen to appeals of aggrieved members, and that their meetings should be
held only in the day time.

Reve William Swan Plumer of the First Presbyterian Church (see forth-
coming Inventory of ths Church Archives of Virginia, Presbyterian Churches),
supported Reve. Jeremiah Bell Jeter in his endeavor to estaﬁifgh thig first

10, Ibid., pe 19; oral statement of Nrs. #illiam Thomas Johnson.

11, Minutes, 1938, ps 3.

12. 70th Anniversary ibenezer Baptist Church Richmond, Virginia, Richmond,
the church, 1928, pe e

13. Minutes, 1938, pe 2.
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:The Shiloh Baptist Association of Virginia

ﬁ'African church in the City of Richmond of that day. The First Baptist Church
" continued until after the War Between the States to sponsor the First African

Baptist Churche

When the plans had been completed for the establishment of the First
African Baptist Church, the white congregation of the First Baptist Church
moved to their new building at the N. W. corner of 1l2th and Broad Sts., and

| loft the old church for their former Negro members to whom it was deeded Jan.

30, 1866

Lott Cary was licensod to proach in this building while it was the First
Baptist Churche Ho preached his farewell sermon here before he left for Africa
(section V). The State Convention met here in 1829-30 when they were revising
the State Constitution. The Republican Convention met in this church on Aug.
1, 1867 The Baptist General Association of Virginia (section II) was
organized in this building in June 1899.

This old building was replaced by the present gray brick church which
was dedicated Octe 7, 1877. Gothic architecturc, interior woodwork oak, pulpit
furniture mahogaeny, pews dark oak, choir loft with a brass railing above and
in the rear of tho rostrum, balcony on two sides and at the rear of the
auditoriume

There are two memorial windows, one of which is in memory of Rev. James
Henry Holmes, De D., the first Negro pastor of this church, and the other is in
memory of Deacon Abraham Price. Over the door of the vestibule are those wordss
"In Memoriam First Bsptist Church", and on onc side of the door is a list of
tho officers of the church from its organization, whilec on the other sidc is
a list of thc members of the churche

First whitc pastor, Rev. Robert Ryland, Oct. 3, 1841-66. He was the first
president of Richmond College (now the University of Richmond). He was
intensely interested in the welfare of the Negroes, and advocated their being
thoroughly instructed. His sermons were directed to their rcason rather than
their feelings. The Nogroecs soon roalized that ho was their friond. He

' converted and baptized large numbers of them. One of his probloms was to

kocep them from being baptized too soon. Dr. Rylend was succecded by a Mre
Stockwell, & whito man from the north who was replaced in 1867 by the first
Negro pastor, Reve Jamos Henry Holmos, 1867-1901, Ho was born 2 slave in
Virginia in 1826, znd was baptized in 1842. He was o doacon of this church,
1855-65, and was mado assistant pastor in 1865. Tho Rev. MNr. Holmes was con=
siderod a lecdor of his pooplo, and the church, undor his leadership, was
recognized as boing o thoroughly orgenizod and disciplinod unit.

§oo: Ralph Randolph Gurley, "Skotch of the life of tho Rav. Lott
Cary" in Lifo of Jchudi Ashmun, Late Colonial Agont in Liboria ssss Washington,
Printed by James C. Dunn, 1835, ppe 147-1603 article in Richmond Daily Dispatch
Aug. 16, 1876, p. 1, cols. 3-5§ Robort Ryland, "Qrigin and. History of the'’ :
First African Baptist Church" in The First Contury of tho First Baptist Church

| of Richmond, Virginia, 1780-1880, Richmond, Carlton McCarthy, 1880, pp. 247=272f
* William £ldridgs Hatcher, Lifo of J. B. Jotor, De D.» Baltimoro, H. Me Whorton

and Co., 1887, ppe 192-1963 Hamilton James Eckonrodo, The Political History
of virginic during the Recomstruction, Baltimoro, The Jchns Hopkins Pross,
1904, p. 663 aAlruthous Ambush Taylor, The Nogro in tho Roconstruction of
Virginia, Woshington, D. C., The Association for the Study of Negro Life and
History, 1926, pp. 186-187; Joremiah Boll Jetcr, Tho Recolloctions of a Long
Life .es, Richmcnd, Va., Tho Religious Herald Co., 1891, pp. 209=-2135 William
Thomas Johnson, Historicel Reminiscences of the First African Baptist Church,
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| Richmond, the church, 1926, 12 pp.; William Thomas Johnson, Souvenir Program
of ... First African Baptist Church .., Richmond, the church, 1928, 48 pp.;
| Luther P. Jackson, "Religious Development of the Negro in Virginia from 1760
| to 1860" in The Jourmal of Negro History, Menascha, Wis., and Washington, D. Coy

iﬁ 1931, vol. 16, pp. 160-240; Moses Alphonsa Norrell, “"Richmond Religious History"
' in Richmond Planet, Nov. 26, 1932, p. 16; Louise Nurney Kernodle, Richmond

" cuide Book,1934, Richmond Central Publishing Co., Inc., 1934, p. 41; William
| Toe Rensome, History of the First Baptist Church, Richmond, the church, 1935,
| pp. 8-93 "Church of the #eek" in Richmond Afro-American ,Nove 26, 1938,

Minutes (including finances; annual reports of Sunday 3chool), 1841==-,

B 5 vols. Register (membors), 1901--, 1 vol., in the custody of Benjamin Poters

| yandervell, 812 Buchanen 3t. Woman's Missionary and Educational Jircle,

: | organized in 1901, no records preserved. Richmond Chancery Court, Hustings

| Deeds 82-Ay D. 328.

2. SECOND AFRICAN BAPTIST CHURCH, 1846==, N. We corner of Randolph
5te and Idlewood Ave.

1 Organized Feb. 1, 1846 with 57 members from the Second Baptist Church
| (see Inventory of the Church Archives of Virginia, Dover Baptist Association).
! The first Negro was admitted to the Second Baptist Church in 1821. Many more

I wore received after the great rovival of 1831, and a committes of scvon older
W Negro mombors was appointed to watch over thom. In 1832 a movoment was
W started to scgregate the Negro congregation.. This was finolly accomplished

| by the orgoniszation of this church which wes sometimes spoken of as the Oregon
! Hill Africeon lission.
The white members of the Second Baptist Church had their slaves build
| a brick frame chapel for the Negro congregation. It was located on what is

M ow the 100 block Z. Byrd St. This chapel was burned in 1866, and the

" congregation worshipped in Dill's old bakery on the corner of Clay and Foushee
l Sts., until their new brick church was built on the old sites The cornerstone

B of this building was layed May 21, 1866, A box containing money and papers

}jjwas placod in the cornorstone. It was stolen on ths night of Junec 9, 1866
B This building is Greok Colonial architecture with tall columns and winding

| stairs which lead from tho terraces to the balconicse
The Second African Baptist Church was sponsored by the Sccond Baptist
! Church for many years, and the church was sorved by white pastors until after
the War Botwssn ths Stutos, although Negro preachors wero oncouraged to fill

8 the pulpit under their supervision.

- 4 In 1866 thoy sovered relations with the whito congrogation and appoint-
W od the Rev. Ploasant Bowler as their first Negro pastor. In a fow yoars
8 this gentle, unlettered pastor was succeeded by the famous church organ=
ﬁg:izer, Reve #illiam Troy, who led members from this congregation to start Sharon
8 Beptist Church (entry 14). Later he organized Noore Street Baptist Church
(entry 35)e The Rev. Walter H. Brooks, D. D., a pastor of national fame,
went from this church in 1889 to the Nineteenth Strest Baptist Church,
#ashington, De C., where he has been pastor for 50 yearss
) This church now has a membership of over 2,000 and & noted choir of
over 100 voices. The Sunday School was organized in 1865 with a few children,
and its present membership is over 1,000.
On Zaster sunday, Mar. 24, 1940, the congregetion moved to their new
B church which they purchased from Park View Beptist Church (see Inventory of
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9

igg Church Archives of Virginia, Dover Baptist Association) after Mosby Memorial

W Baptist Church (entry 46) was unable to meet the payments on the property.
'This is a brick building, Gothic architecture, balcony on all four sides of
‘the church. The interior walls are blus, the woodwork is light oak, and the
\sews, which they moved from the church on Byrd St., ars oake They also took

S with them from the old building the Musller pipe organ with chimes. This was
" once water pumped but is now slsctrified, The windows are frosted glass with
the sxception of the stained glass window which was moved from the old church.
" This is a memorial to Rev. Zachariah Daniels Lewis, D. D., 1859-1926. He was
" pastor of this church for 37 years befors his death.

5 First white pastor, Rev. Jeremiah B. Porter, 1846-51. First Negro
" pastor, Rev. Fleasant Bowler, 1866 to an unknown date.

Sees Articles ini Richmond Whig, May 22, 1866, p. 33 Richmond Daily
Dispatch, May 21, 1866, ps 13 John Wesley Cromwell, The Negro in American History,
Washington, Ds Csy The Amsrican Negro Academy, 1914, p. 2285 Douglas Southall
Freemsn, article in The Ideal, Richmond, the church, May 1921, vole 5y PPe
4-113 Moses Alphonso Norrell, "Richmond Religious History" in Richmond Planet,

" Nov. 26, 1932, p. 165 Souvenir Program Second Baptist Church ... Oct. 14-21,
% 1929, Richmond, the church, 1929, 32 pp.

b Minutes (including Missionary Society records), 1856==, 11 volse
Finances, 1866-- (duplex system 1919--), 25 vols. Register (members, baptisms,
" marriages, deaths), 1856--, 3 vols. Board of Trustees Minutes, 1899-=, 2 vols.}
‘ﬁ Finances, 1896--, 2 vols. Board of Deacons Minutes, 1892--, 10 vols. All
" church records are in the custody of Walter Scott Banks, Consolidated Bank and
» Trust Co., First and Marshall Sts. Sunday School (members, finances), 1900==,

4 vyols., in the custody of Miss Emma Louise Bailey, 500 Catherine St. Baptist
" voung People's Union (minutes, members, finances), 1916-=, 1 vol., in the

% custody of Mrs. Victoria Bowles, 1014 W. Clay St. Richmond Chancery Court,

" Deed Book 159-C, pe 2613 Deed Book 358=-B, p. 39; Deed Book 418=D, p. 117.

3, EBINZZZR BAPTIST CHURCH, 1858--, N. E. corner of Leigh and Judah Stse

; Organized July 18, 1858 as the Third African Baptist Church. The
" movement to organize this church started July 6, 1856 in the First African

¥ Beptist Church (entry 1) while Dr. Robert Ryland (white) was pastor of that
church., The Superintending Committee for the new church decided on Sept. 7,
1856 to recommend the organization of the new African Bzptist Church to the
First Baptist Church (ses Inventory of the Church Archives of Virginia, Dover
| Baptist Association)e
j On Octe 5, 1856 Dr. Ryland reported that he had selected the present

site of the church. He was authorized to purchase the 60 feet at $10 per
foot. On Nov. 2, 1856 he reported that the contract had been drawn for the
property and that the deed would be made in his name until the church was
organized. On Dec. 7, 1856 he reported that the recommendation for the new
church was approved by the First Baptist Church which asked that the orgenization
be supsrvised by Grace Strest Baptist Church (now Grace Baptist Church, see
Inventory of the Church Archives of Virginia, Dovor Baptist Association)

On Apr. 4, 1858 a committee was appointed to receive and report the

names of those who wishes to unite with the new church. On May 30, 1858 the
building was dedicated before it was completed. Dre. Robert Ryland preached the

sermon that morning and Rev. Je. Te Burrows p

reached in the afternoon. The
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irst African Church worshiped with this church that day and furnished the
usic for both services.

On July 4, 1858 Dr. Robert Ryland reported the list of members to
eve Jeremiah Bell Jeter, pastor of Grace Street Baptist Church, and re=
uested him with Eldser William T. Lindsay to organize the church and super=
ise it as other African Baptist Churches in Richmond were superviscd. The
uperintonding Committee appointed by Graco Strest Baptist Church mot July
7, 1858 at 8:30 P« Me in the study of Rev. Joremish Boll Jotoer, and arrangod

(8 the prograom for tho organization sorvices which took placce July 18, 1858, in

' the prosent buildinge The Rev. Mre Jotor resided at the organization meoting.
On July 25, 1858 the namc was changed to Ebonezer Baptist Church.

| "The constitution provided that the Grace Street {church} wonld appoint
‘annually a committee of ten white members as Superintending Committee. The
‘duty of this committee was to superintend the religious instruction and dis-
lcipline of the said church. The Deacons wsre to be elected during good be=-
'havior, but must have the approval of the Superintending Committce appointed

' by tha Grace Street Churche.

' The pastor of this Church shall bes a white Baptist Minister in good

' standing in the donomination, olected by the Superintonding Committec with the

I8 concurronce of a majority of the colored Deacons. Tho meetings wore to be held
% in the daytime and at overy moeting the Pastor was to be attended by at least

" ono momber of tho white committes «e. The church carried a double roll,
¥ id ost, opposito cach membor's name appeared the name of his owner if ho were

 Q‘a slave, and if not a slave, thon opposite his name appoared the word Froeo."

g The present building which was erected in 1858 was originally frame.
® Tn 1873 the walls were changed to brick covered with cement and a portico

" with four Doric columns waes added. The church was rededicated in December

| 18734and Rev. Anthony Binga, Jr., Rev. J. He Holmes, and Reve John Jasper

" preached. Slectricity and a furnaco were installed in 191l. Grocian Colonial
" architecturs, interior walls colored cream, pulpit and pews mehogany, gallory

Y on two sides and at rear of tho auditorium, stained glass windows. Therc is
' & momorial window to Rev. Richard E. Wells, pastor 1870-1902, and one to
i Steven D. Jones, chorister 1897-1904.

i Ebenezer Baptist Church has sponsored the formation of many Negro
] | organizations, among which aret Shiloh Baptist Association (section VI)3

" the first kindergarten for Negro children in Richmond; the Hartshorn Memorial

| College, Richmond; the Negro branch of the Young Men's Christian Association;
| the Richmond Neighborhood Association, and the Council of Colored Womon
Among ths churches organized by this church are: Ploasant Grove
| Baptist Church, Zllerson, Virginiaj Shiloh Baptist Church (now Cedar Street
Baptist Church entry 6); St. John's Baptist Church (entry 34); Mt. Carmel
Baptist Church (entry 38); Riverview Baptist Church (entry 19), and lMt. Vernon
Baptist Church (entry 45).
‘ First white pastor, Rev. William Lindsay, 1856-65; first Negro pastor,
' Rev. Peter Randolph, 1865-69.
See: Carter Godwin Woodson, The History of the Negro Church, Washington,
De C.y The hssociated Publishers, 1921, p. 135; 70th Annivorsary sbonszer
Baptist Church, Richmond, Virginia, Richmond,the church, 1928, 56pp; Mosos
Alphonso Norroll, "Richmond Religious History" in Richmond Planet, Nov. 26,
1932, pe 163 "Church of the Week" in Richmond Afro-American, Nov. 5, 1938.
Minutes, 1873-+, 7 volse. Rcgister (members, baptisms, dcaths and

W financss 1895-1925), 1895-1935, 4 vols.; (members, baptisms, doaths), 1936-=,
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duplex system, 1 vol., per year. Finances, 1926--, 1 vol., duplex systems
Descon's Book (minutes), 1878-=, 3 vols. Poor Saints (social welfare records),
1871==, 5 vols. Records before 1870 are in with those of First African Baptist
church (entry 1). Richmond Chancery Court, Hustings Deeds 78=B, ps 250,

4, FOURTH BAPTIST CHURCH, 1859--, 2800 P Ste

Organized in 1859 as Fourth African Baptist Church by the Negro members
of Leigh Street Baptist Church (see Inventory of the Church Archives of
Virginia, Dover Baptist Association) who met in the basement of that church.
Loigh street Baptist Church sponsored this congregation until after the War
Between the States, when the Negro congregation gegregated itself from Leigh
strect Baptist Church, and on Dece 2, 1865 organized as the Fourth Baptist
churche They worshiped for a while in the Confederate barracks on Chimborazo
Hill. Then they built a small frame chapel on Bloody Run Gully, near Chimborazo
paurke. In 1875 they built a larger frame church on 32nd St. between M and N Sts.
In 1884 the present brick church was built and dedicated. Colonial architecture,
large Doric columns support the front porticoe Interior woodwork colored buff,
walnut furniture, gallery around three sides of the auditorium with a choir
loft at the back of the pulpite.

There are four memorial windows, two of which are in mcmory of formor
pastorss Rev. Scott Gwathmey and Rov. Evans Payne, and two arc in memory of
deaconss Marshall Stevens and Alphaeus Scott.

A number of churches have developed from this congregation, among
which are: Mt. Olivet Baptist Church (entry 41), Fountzin Baptist Church (entry
37), Thirty=-First Street Baptist Church (entry 26), and Good Shophord Baptist
Church (entry 48).

First pastor, Rev. Scott Gwethmey, 1865-79. Thore is a stone tablet
to his memory in the church.

See; “Church of the Week" in Richmond Afro-American, Decs R4, 1938j
Mary Ann Harvey, An Historical Sketch of Fourth Baptist Church, manuscript,
1923, 1 p., in the custody of George Washington Gilliam, Jres 819 We 29th St.,
Richmond; lioses Alphonso Norrell, "Richmond Religious History" in Richmond
Planst, Nove 26, 1982, p. 16,

Minutes (including baptisms, deaths), 1897--, 5 volse Finances (in=-
cluding members), 1881-1925, 9 vols.; (including members, marriages)y 1925-=,
duplex systeme Sunday School (members, finances), 1927-=, 1 vole loman's
Missionary Society {membors, financos), 1927--, 1 vol. Baptist Young Peoplos
Union (members, finances), 1927==y 1 vole Richmond Chancery Court, Decd Book
118=A, pe 1693 Dood Book 123=A, P 343 Henrico Circuit Court, Doods 106, pe 374,

5, FIFTH BAPTIST CHURCH, 1865--=, N. 4. cornor of Cary and Harvie Sts.

Organized Decombor 1865 by Rev. Goorge Daggett in a stable on the
1300 block Zlmwood Ste (now Mein St.)s This property was bought by the church,
Sept. 7, 1872, and was in a section of Richmond that was called Sidnaye

The mission from which this church grow was started clandostinoly on
Nevy Hill in 1860 whon Negroos wore not permittod to nescmblo, as uprisings
froquontly resulted from thoir moetingse This little group wWzs g;tho?ed
together by a slave, John Harris, who wus born in Africe. Thoy worshiped
in a smoll shed. From there thoy moved to o sme1l sholtor on tho revine known
28 Fronch Garden Hill, now tho city dump on 7th St., just beyond tho Armorye
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Under the leadership of Rev. Charles Bowe they moved to.Warwick's
Stable which was located near the present intersection of Morris and Main
sts. Later they bought the lot and stable on the 1300 block Main St. in which
the church was organized. On Feb. 27, 1894 they bought the present lot and
built the present church. Brick building, Gothic architecture, stained glass
windowse Interior walls colored buff, vaulted ceiling, gesllery across entrance
of auditorium, choir loft with an organ at the rear of the pulpit. This noted
choir broadcasts every Sunday ovonings The Sunday School department is in the
basement s

First pastor, Rev. George Daggeott, 1865 to an unknown datee.

See: Moses Alphonso Norroll "Religious History of Richmond" in
Richmond Planet, Nov. 26, 1932, pe. 163 "Church of the Week" in Richmond Afro=-
Amsrican, Jane 21, 1939,

Mingtes (including members, finances), 1881-93, 1 vol., 1935--, 1 vol.
Finances, 1929-35, 6 vols., 1935--, file system. Register (members, baptisms,
deaths, and contributions), 1865-1935, 1 vol., 1935--, file systems All records
are in the custody of the present pastor, Rev. Robert Spencer, 1417 W. Cary St.
All of the other records are lost. Richmond Chancery Court, Deed Book 99-B,

p. 403 Deed Book 125=Bs pe 2143 Deed Book 151=B, p. 171.

6o CEDAR STREZZT BAPTIST CHURCH, 1867-=-, 1001 Mosby St.

Organized in 1867, as the Shiloh Baptist Church at 901 N. 17th St.,
by five members from Ebenezer Baptist Church (entry 3). On Jan. 12, 1930 they
dedicated the present church where they worshiped in the basement until the
church was completed in 1938. The basoment is now used for the Sunday School.

Brick building, Colonial architecturs, broad steps lead to the
columned portico. Intorior walls cream color, woodwork and furniture stained
oake

First pastor, Rev. Evis Dickenson, 1867-72. He was a student at the
Richmond Institute and Theological Seminary (now the Virginia Union University).

Seet Moses Alphonso Norrell, "Richmond Religious History" in Rich-
mond Planet, Nove 26, 1932, p. 16

Minutes (including finances, members), 1930-=, 3 vols. Sunday School,
1931-~, 6 vols., in the custody of Leonard Anderson, 1914 Washington Ste
Register (members, deaths), 1938--, 1 vol. kept in the churche Richmond
Chancery Court, Deed Book 125-=A, p. 4563 Deed Book 261-D, Pe 4973 Deed Book
355=C, ps 653 Henrico Circuit Court Deeds, 141-B, pe 68s

Te MT. TABOR BAPTIST CHURCH, 1872--, S. E. corner of Cedar and Selden Sts.

Organizod in 1872. It developed from a Sunday School which was con=
ducted in a frame building located on an adjoining lot gouth of the present
site of the churche The first church was built in 1874, 1In 1904 they erected
the present building on the same site. Frame building, Colonial architecture,
int8rior painted cream, oak furniture.

First pastor, Rev, William Fagen, 1872-1897.

Minutes (including Sunday School records), 1931--, 1 vol.; Finances,
1931--, 1 vol., in the custody of Howard Linwood Johnson, 2806 E. Leigh St.
Register (members, baptisms), 1931--, 1 vol., kept at the church. Baptist
Young People's Union, 1929--, 1 vol., kept at the church. Woman's Missionary
Circle, 1934--, 1 vol., in the custody of Mrs. Cary Sylvester McCall, 1207
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Ne 24th St. Henrico Circuit Court, Deeds 98, pp. 205-206; Deeds 167=A,
Pe 376; Deeds 169"A, Pe 4,

8. MACEDONIA BAPTIST CHURCH, 1876--, 602 N. 29th St

Organized in 1876. Prior to 1916 they started buying a Nunnery School
building. They lost this as they were unable $o mset the payments. The
present building which they entered Feb. 16, 1938 was formerly a store. Cinder
block building, unfinished walls, folding chairs and benches, oak table.

In April 1936 thers was a great split in the church and all except
five members left with the presiding pastor, Rev. Mort Jackson, and organized
the New Light Baptist Church (entry 10).

First pastor, Rev. George Boswsll, 1876=83«

Minutes (members, baptisms), 1936--, 1 vols Finances, 1936--, 1 vol.,
in tho custody of the church clerk, Mrs. Aldina Booker, 119 N. 19th St. Sunday
School (members, finances), 1937-=, 1 vol., in the custody of Mrs. Cora Walts,
20 M. 3te. Richmond Chancery Court, Deed Book 271-B, p. 439.

9., GOODWILL BAPTIST CHURCH, 1924=--, 410 N. Monroe St.

Organized Nov. 24, 1924, by Rev. William Burrs Ball with six members
in the present building. This building was at first a store; then it was
used as a magistrate's office. The congregation bought the building in 1927
and furnished it as a church, with dark oak furniture and an organ which was
donated by Mrs. Bettie Cousins.

This church is noted for its Social Service Department in which
people are trained for jobs which are found for them by the pastor. This
department of the church is called the Goodwill Church Center and is maintained
at 407 Ne. Clay St.

First pastor, Rev. William Burrs Ball, 1924~~, D. Do Virginia Union
Universitys.

Soe: "Church of the Week" in Richmond Afro-imerican, Fob. 11, 1939.

Minutes (including mombers, baptisms, a few deaths and marriagos),
1924-=, 2 vols. Finances, 1928--, 4 vols. Sunday School (including mombers,
finances), 1924--, 6 vols. Woman's Auxiliary, 1934--, 1 vol. Richmond
Chancery Court, Deed Book 343-B, p. 2393 Deed Book 367=C, p. 375 Deed Book
417-4A, p. 543.

10, NEW LIGHT BAPTIST CHURCH, 1936~-, 1821 E. Main Ste

Orgenized Apr. 10, 1936 as the result of & &plit in Macedonia Baptist
Church (entry 8). At this time the congregation, with the exception of five
members, withdrew from Macdédoniu Baptist Church and orgenized themselves as
liacedonia Baptist Church No. 1. Later thoy changed their name to the Now Light
Baptist Church in order to avoid confusion with the former church. They con=
duct their services in the fronmt part of a brick store building.

First pastor, Rev. Mort Jackson, 1936=-. He attended a grammar school.

Minutes (members, baptisms, minutes and members of the Sunday School),
1936--, 1 vol, Finances,1936--, 1 vol., in the custody of the church clerk,
Ollie Basil Lindsey, 6 W. Marshall 5t.
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VII. MATTAPONI BAPTIST ASSOCIATION OF VIRGINIA

The Mattaponi Baptist Association of Virginia was organized in August
1879, at Shiloh Baptist Church, Bowling Green, Caroline County, Virginia.

At the time this association was organized there were seven Negro Baptist
district associations in Virginia: Shiloh, Hassiadish, Valley, Norfolk Unign,
Bluestone, Banister and Northern Virginia, and the Southside Rappahannocke.

The churches which formed the Mattaponi Baptist Association previously
belonged to the 3hiloh Baptist Association which in 1879 was composed of 219
churches loczted in 35 counties. It covered "a territory that extends from
Rockingham, Page, and Fauquier counties on the north to Pittsylvania, South
Hempton, and Nanscmond counties on the south; from Norfolk and Lancaster
counties on tho cast to Campbell and Amherst counties on the west." Such a
largs association could not be ontertained by the rural churches. Consequently,
when the Shiloh Baptist Association provided, in an amendment to her constitution,
that a2ll churches holding membership in the association pay the same fee for
associationzl expenses, the rural churches of Caroline, Hanover, and Spottsylvania
counties sent messengers to Shiloh Baptist Church, Bowling Green, in August
1879, to organize a District Association.

Rev. J. We Pendlston, the first vice=-moderator, suggested the name
Mettaponi for the Association, and Deacon W. R. Merriweather of Jerusalem
Baptist Church, Caroline County, wrote ths constitution.

The first meeting, after the association was organized, was held in 1880
at Jorusalem Baptist Church, Caroline County, of which Rev. Spencer Todd, the
noted blind preachsr, was pastor. Thore worc 22 churches roprescnted at this
meoting =t which time tho Mattaponi Baptist Association became 2 member of
the Virginia Baptist Statc Convontion. There were 84 churches from 10
counties repressnted at the Sixtieth Anngal Sossion held in 1938 at Mt. Salem
Baptist Church, Penola, Carolins County.

The territory covered by the Mattaponi Baptist Association is limited
only by the boundaries of the State of Virginia, and any "regular Missionary
Baptist Church" in the State may belong to the association. Hach church in
the association mey have not mors than three elected delegates. Annual dues
for the churches represented in thc association ars $5 a yeare. Annual dues for
individuscl mombors of ths association ure 50 cents per year. Life memborship
of individual members is $5.7

The Natteponi Baptist Association has manifested & kecn interest in
Missions almost from its beginning., In 1881 it recommended that the churchos
of the association organizo missionary circles to raisec monoy for foreign
missions. The associetion boliesved that homo missions could be promoted
best through the Sunday School, so in 1883, when the association met at

Reve A. P. Young, Fifty Sessions, Historic Skctches of tho Mattaponi
Bapbist Association, Nepe, 1929 |horeinafter cited as Young, Fifty
Sessions | ppe 5=6.

Ibidey Ds 9%

Ibido, PP 5=6.

Ibide, pe 6o

Ibide, pPpe6=Te

Minutes of the Sixtioth Annual Session of thoe Mattaponi District Baptist
Association of Virginio ese July 20 and 21, 1938, n.pe 1938 |horcinafter
citod &5 linutes, 1938 ] ppe 22-23.

7. Ibid., p 4
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Mt. Zion Baptist Church, Louisa County, a resolution was passed urging

pastors and church officers to organize Sunday Schools in their respective
churches end in 1885, when meeting at St. John's Baptist Church, Caroline
County, a committee was appointed to organize the Mattaponi District Baptist
Sunday School Convention. 1In 1906 the Mattaponi Baptist Association sponsored
the organization of the Women's Mattaponi District Baptist Misgsionary and
Zducational Convention which has proved a very powerful home missionary
forces® In 1934 the Matteponi District Baptist Young People's Union Con-
vention was formed. These thsee conventions meet annually with the Mattaponi
District Baptist Association.

In addition to its missionary and its temperance work,lo the Mattaponi
Baptist Association takes an active interest in educational work and con-
tributes to the support of the Virginia Theological Seminary and College,
Lynchburg, to the Virginia Union University, Richmond.

The Mattaponi Baptist Association holds_its annual meeting at 9 A. M.
on Wednesday before the first Sunday in August.

The first moderator was Rev. Burrell Toler, 1879-80.13 The present
officers are: Moderator, Reve. Chester Arthur Lindsay, 1918-~, 812 North 5th
St., Richmond; First Vice-Moderator, Rev. W. H. Ford, Ashland; Second Vice=
Moderator, Deacon R. Butler Fortune, Bowling Greenj Third Vice=Moderator,

Rev. Harry J. £11lis, Snell; Recording Secrotary, Rev. BE. L. Re Guss, Guineas
Statistical Secretary, Rev. L. L. Davis, Bowling Greenj Corresponding
Secretary, Reve Andrew Pearl Young, Bowling Green; Treasurer, Deacon James
Monty Jre, Milford. 4

The records of this association include Minutes (with the Constitution),
1912, 1924, 1928, 1930, 1933--, 11 vols., in the custody of Rev. Chester A.
Lindsay, 812 North 5th St. Minutes, 1928-29, 1935=~, 6 vols., in the custody
of the Virginia Baptist Historical Societys 1907, 1910, 2 vols., in the
custody of the Virginia Union Universitys; 1935--, 5 vols., in the custody of
Dr. Willism Thomas Johnson, 2504 Brook Road, Richmond; 1935==, 5 vols., in
the custody of Dr. Christopher Columbus Scott, 1005 N. 4th S5t., Richmonds
1916, 1928, 1934, 1937, 4 vols., in the custody of Rev. Daniel James Bradford,
1018 St. John St., Richmond. Business records, 1940--, in the custody of Rev.
E+ Le Re Guss, Guinea.

The Richmond churches in the Mattaponi Baptist Association are:

11. FIRST BRAPTIST CHURCH, 1821=-, N. W. corner of Decatur and 15th Sts.

Organized in 1821, as the First African Baptist Church of Manchester,

8. Young, Fifty Sessions, pp. 10-12.

9. Oral statement of Dr. Chester Arthur Lindsaye.
10. Minutes, 1938, pe 22.

11. Young, Fifty Sessions, pe 13.

12 Minutes, 1938, p. 6.

13, Ibidsq Pei s

14, Ibldng Pe 3e




i e i e

- 23 =

Mattapeni Baptist Association of Virginia.

in the home of Mrs. Ransfield on Decatur St., between S5th and 6th Sts. by
a group of free Negroes who wore led by Zdward Bradbury Edwards. Thoy
worshipod there until Dec. 19, 1823, when they bought o frame building,
called the "slab church" on Barney (now 7th) St., between Perry and Portor
3t5.5 Manchoster. Later thoy purchased from a Methodist Congregaticn (white,
neme and date unknown) a brick building opposite tho slab building. This
building was razoed 1854-58, and under the leadership of Rev. Levi Daniel
Horner,the material was usod in the erection of the church on the Se We
corner of Soventh and Porry Sts., adjoining the former site, on a lot,
recoived in oxchange for tho sleb church lot, from Thomas Vadon and his
wifo, Ann Eugeniz.

On Auge 11, 1879, Dr. Anthony Binga, Jr., led tho congrogation in
laying tho cornorstonc for their fifth building. It was built with material
from the provious building, and was Coloniel architecture with a belfry.
This building fecod Perry St. All of the provious buildings faced 7th St.
They worshiped in the basement of Bainbridge Street Baptist Church (see
forthcoming Inventory of the Church Archives of Virginia, Middle District
Baptist Associations for four months then they entered the basement of
the new church which was dedicated Nove 12, 188l. The last service was held
in this building July 3, 1892,

Industrial conditions caused the congregetion to move into the present
building which Dr. Anthony Binga, Jr. urged them to build. Some of the
material used in this building ceme from the former church. They moved into
the basement of this, their sixth building, in July 1892. The church was
dedicated May 10, 1896.

Brick building, Gothic architecture with high bell tower, interior
walls colored light green, ivory colored woodwork, light oak furniture,
balcony with brass rail on three sides. The original steeple was blown off
the belfry by a storm, Oct. 29, 1896. After that storm the city passed an
ordinance prohibiting tall church steeples. The mortgage on the building
was paid Juns 7, 19033 the papor was burned and the ashes framed and kept
&s a momorial in the vestibulo. They built a brick parsonage on the church
grounds in 1921, This was dedicated Jan. 15, 1922.

There is a memorial window to lrs. Annie Z. Blackwell, first treasur=-
er of the Lott Carey Foreign Missionary Society. This Society developed
from the Richmond African Baptist Missionary Society which Lott Carey helped
to esteblish in 1815 and which was the first African Missionary Society among
Negroes in the United States.

A large portrait of Dr. Anthony Binga, Jr. hangs in the N. W. corner
of the suditorium., Dr. Binga was pastor from May 1, 1872=Jan. 21, 1919, and
this was the only church he ever ssrved as pastors

First pestor, Rev. Lovi Danicl Horner (white), 1849-64. He attended the
Beptist Seminary (now University of Richmond)s The Rev. Mr. Horner heard
the guns of the Northern troops while he was preaching on e Sunday morning
in 1864. He left his pulpit and joined Goneral Lec's armys First colored
pastor, Rev. Richard £. Wolls, 1865-90. He attended the Richmond Normal
School. He was & shoomaker but was considered very scholarly in his day.

Soo: Ralph Randolph Gurley, "Sketch of the Life of the Rev. Lott
Caroy" in Lifo of Johudi Ashmun, Late Colonial Agont in Liboria ...y Washing-
ton, Printed hy—jamas C. Dunn, 1835, ppe 147-160; Luther P. Jackson!
"Religious Developmont of the Negro in Virginia from 1760 to 1860" in tho
Journal of Negro History, Menasha, Wis., and VWashington, D. C., April, 1931,
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vol. 16, no. 2, pp. 160-240; Moses Alphonso Norrell, "Richmond Religious
History" in Richmond Planet,Nov. 26, 1932, p. 16; William Loc Ransome, History
of tho First Baptist Church o . ., Richmond, the church, 1935, 312 pp.s
nGhurch of the Week" in Richmond Afro-American Nov. 12, 1938; Horner Family
Bible, photostat copy in Virginia State Librar&, Chesterfield Marriage
Register, 1771-1853.

Minutes Zincluding finances, records of other organizations 1900), 1887==,
4 vols. OSome scattered records from 1864-87. Register (members, baptisms,
marriages, deaths), 1887--, 1 vol. Negroes werc not permitted to keep records
vefors the War Betweon the States. Richmond Hustings Court, Pte 2, Doed Book
5, pe 3063 Deed Book 12, p. 423 Deed Book 14, p. 2873 Deed Book 25, p. 3193
Deed Book 49-A, p.. 3893 Doad Book 687B; . p.5l.

12. FIFTH STRZZT BAPTIST CHURCH, 1880--, 705 N. Sth St.

Organized in July 1880, by some members from the First African
Baptist Church (entry 1), in 0dd Fellows Hall, 1417 E. Bronklin St., where
thsy worshiped until 1886, when they entored their new brick building, Gothic
architecturs, on the present site. This was roplaced by the present build-
ing which was dedicuted July 4, 1926. Cream brick building, Groeck Colonial
architecture, interior woodwork colored ivory, mahogany furniture, swinging
balcony on two sides and at roar of the suditorium, stained glass windows.
while this building was being constructed, they worshiped in True Reformers’
Hall, 6083 Ne 2nd Ste

In the Women's Bible Class room is an oil portrait of the organizer
and teacher of the class, Deacon Nelson George Booker. He was an officer in
the church from the age of 14, when he was appointed Sunday School librarish,
until his death, Oct. 15, 1935. Members of this church later helped to
organize liosby Memorial Baptist Church (entry 46).

First pastor, Reve. H. H. Mitchell, D. D., 1880-82.

Sest Robert Henry Fauntloroy , "A Brief Historical 3ketch of the
Fifth Strest Baptist Church, Richmond, Virginia" in The Programmg of Sorvices
Dedicating the now Home of Fifth Streoct Baptist Church « « ., Richmond, the
church, 1926, pe 4, and in Goldon Jubiloc Programmo of tho 50th Annivorsary
of the Fifth Stroot Baptist Church Octobor S to 19, 1930, Richmond, tho
church, 1930, p. 13 Moses Alphonso Norrell, "Richmond Religious History"
in Richmond Planst, Nov. 26, 1932, p. 163 #Ghurch of the Wock" in Richmond
Afro-Amsrican, Octe. 29, 1938.

Minutes (including finances; quarterly reports of the Baptist Young
Psople's Union, and the Junior Choirj Annual reports of Women's Missionery
Society, 1844--, Zducational Circle, 1917--, Highway and Hedge, 1917==),
1880-=, 16 vols. Minutes of Building Committoe, 1924-26, 1 vol. Register of
members, 1929--, 1 vol. Finances (personal contributions), 1880~
4 files; (disbursemonts), 1918--, 2 vols., and duplicatos 1927--, 2 vols.
Sunday School ( minutes, membors, finances), 1906--, 9 vols. ARichmond Chancery
Court, Deed Book 117=B, Pe 452

13, SECOND BAPTIST CHURCH, 1880--, 105 E. Pilkington Ste

Orgonized Apr. 8, 1880, by William Pottigrew with tho financia}
assistance of the First Baptist Church (entry 11), while Dr. Anthony Binge,
Jr. was pastor. It developed from a Sunday School held at "Hilder's 0ld
House" on the Midlothian Turnpiks, near River Ste
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The first church, built on the present lot, was a small frame
building. This was torn down when they entered the present church which
wag dedicated in June 1905. In 1926 a 3unday School annex was built with
offices, class and lecture rooms. The church is a brick building, Gothic
architecture with tall spire and belfry, and large stained glass windows,
two of which are rose windows. Thers is o balcony exteonding around the main
guditorium.  The choir loft, back of the pulpit, has a gold rod for the
curtains. The walls are a light greon color; the pews and pulpit furnituro
arc mahoganye

To the right of tho building is a brick and stono wall which is a
memorizl to the former deacons of this church. In the vestibuloc is a
memoricl portrait of Dr. Anthony Binga, Jr., with the names of the mombers of
tho First Baptist Church who assisted the church when it was organized.
Thore is & momoricl window to Rev. Daniel debster Davis, Sr., under whose
administration the present church was built, and onc to Mrs. Rebecca Howlett,
s leading member of the church.

First pastor, Rev. Sandy Howell, 1880-96. Hc was formerly o member
of the First Baptist Church.

Sce: Moses Alphonso Norrell "Richmond Religious History" in Richmond
Planct, Nove 26, 1932, pe 163 William Lee Ransome, History of the First
Baptist Church « « o5 Richmond, the church, 1935, pp. 278-282.

Minutes, 1880--, 2 volse Finances, 1905-35, 7 vols., 1918--, duplex
system, 21 volse. Register (including mombers, baptism), 188l=-=, 1 vol.
Sunday 3chool (members, finances), 1905==, 7 volss Baptist Young Poople's
Union,1939--, 1 vol., in the custody of John Lewis, 2002 Morris Ste

14, SHARON BAPTIST CHURCH, 1887-=-4 Ne W. corner of lst and Leigh Stse

Organized in 1887, by Rev. William Henry Troy with a group of members of
the Second African Baptist Church (entry 2), in Harris's Hall on the west
side of 3rd St. between Clay and Marshall Stse. They worshiped there until
Febe 19, 1890 when they purchased the present site on which wers two brick
dwellings. These were used for sorvicos until they wore demolishod in 1904
whon the prossnt building was erected. Gray brick building, Gothic architec-
ture with a belfry tower, stainod glass windows, largse oloctric organ, air
conditioning, and other modern egquipment and improvements. A baelcony oxtends
around threa sides. The furniturc is oskj the walls are colored ivory, the
woodwork is white. Two of the windows are memorials to former pastors: Rev.
Wwilliem Henry Troy and Rev. Alexander Southall Thomas. There is also a
bronze tablet to a former trustee, Jesse Williams.

First pastor, Rev. William Henry Troy, 1887-94. He was a great organizer
of churches.

Ses: Moses Alphonso Norrell, "Richmond Religious History" in Richmond
Planet, Nov. 26, 1932, p. 165 The Goldon Jubilea Souvenir Program of Sharon
Buptist Church, Richmond, the church, 1937, 16 ppe; "Church of tho Wook" in
Richmond Afro=-pmerican, Dec. 10, 1938.

Minutos, 1910-=, 3 vols. Finances, 1910--, 1 vol. Registor (including
membors, baptisms, marricges, doaths), 1930=-=, 1 card file. Sunday School
(including mombers, finances), 1910--, 2 vols. Missionary Socioty (members,
finances), 1929--, 3 vols. Baptist Young Peoplo's Union records (including
membors, finunces), 1929--, 1 vol. Richmond Chancory Court, Doed Book 140=
By pe 213 Dcod Book 174-A, pe 276
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15, ZION BAPTIST CHURCH, 1888-~-, 2006 Decatur St.

Organized in 1888. It developed from prayer meetings which were held in
private homes. They first built a small frame chapel on 22nd St. between Porter
and Perry Sts. In 1816 they built again on 22nd St. between Holland and
Bainbridge Sts. This building was struck by lighting and burned. In 1915,
under the leadership of Rev. William Thomzas Anthony, %hey built the present
churche Brick building, Colonial architecture, interior walls croam, oak trim,
ock furniture, balcony above pulpit for choir, and a balcony across the oentrance
facing the pulpite.

First pastor, Reve. Mr,., Wilkes, 1.888=-89.

Minutes (including membsrs, baptisms, financos), 1929=-=, 2 vols., in
the custody of Gary Foster, 644 E. 15th St. Sunday School (including members,
finances), 1925--, 1 vol., in the custody of Mrs. f£loisc Harris, 1900 Maury St.
Richmond Hustings CourtsPte 2, Decd Book 35, pp. 377-404s Dead. Book 364 p.. 483
Dood Book 38, Ps 448.

16, MOUNT SINAI BAPTIST CHURCH, 1910--, 1007 N. 2lst St.

Organizod in April 1910- by Rov. Robort McCargos It developed from a
Sunday School and prayer meeting which were started in 1905 by the Reve Mre
McCargo in the present building which has been remodeled into a chapel. Frame
building, Colonial architecture, light green colored walls, cream colored trim,
oek stained furniture, plain glass windows.

First pastor, Rev. Robert McCargo, 1910 until his death Decomber 1931,
Ho had a grammsr school education.

Minutes (including financess members, baptisms, deaths prior to 1934),
1929--y 1 vol., Register (members, baptisms, deaths), 1934=-, 1 vol., in the
custody of the church clerk, Mrs. Martha Pinkham, 912 W. 19th St. Sunday
School (including finances, members), 1925-=, 4 vols., in the custody of Miss
Helen Jones, 808 N. 27th 5t.
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VIII. TUCKAHOE BAPTIST ASSOCIATION OF VIRGINIA

The Tuckahoe Baptist Association of Virginia was organized under the
leadership of Reve Royal Smith in September 1894, in Manakin Baptist Church,
located in the former Manakin Hotel, Manakin, Goochland County. Revs. Royal
smith and Primius Williams preacheg the sermons that day, and Rev. George W.
Daggett presided over the meeting.

This association has grown greatly from the time of its organization,
and 51 churches in the 5 counties of Chesterfield, Henrico, Goochland, Louisa,
and Powhatan have been affiliated with it. There werc 34 churches reprosoented
ot the 1939 annual meeting.® Membership in the association includes individuals
and Baptist churches of good standing, but no church may have more than three

. voting representatives.B

The object of the association is "fraternal intercourse, mutual counsel,
to promote the Union of the Churches, and to build up the kingdom of Christ
in the world, and to aid in caring for and looking after superannuates of the
churches of this Associztion."? Annual meetings are held on Tuesday befors
the third Sunday in September at 11 A. M. The place of mesting is determined
upon at the preceding session.

The Tuckahos Baptist Association contributes to missions through the
Lott Carey Foreign Mission Society; to education through the Virginia Seminary
and College, Lynchburg, The Virginia Union University, Richmond, and the Negro
Orgenization Socisty. This society together with the Rosenwald Foundation
meintainad high schools and academiss for Negro pupils before the State of
¥irginia took over this work. At that time, the numbor of schools supported
by the Negro Organization Society decroased greatly. Tho association also
maintains a scholarship at 5t. Paul's School, Lawrenceville, and St. Phillip's
Hospital Training 3chool, Richmond. It contributes to the support of the
Afro-American 0ld Folk's Home, Richmond.

Affiliated with the Tuckahoe Baptist Association are the Woman's
Auxiliary which was organized in 1914 and the Young People's Auxiliary which
wes organized in 1930, These organizations meet at the same time and at the
same placs that the Tuckahog Baptist Association meets and they make annual
reports to the Association.

The first moderator of the Tuckahoe Baptist Association was Rev. Royal
smith, 1894-=96, and again from 1900 until his death in 1912,8

The present officers are: Moderator, Rev. John Early Fountain, 809 W.
Clay St., Richmand; Vice-=Moderator, Rev. Orzier Claudius Perkins, Cumberland;
Clerk, Rev. Daniel Jjames Bradford, 1018 St. John St., Richmond; Corresponding

1. Letter of Rev. Daniel James Bradford to Mrs. M. M. Jones, Dec. 19, 1939,
typescript, 3 pp. [hereinafter cited as "Bradford Letter"], in the custody of
the Virginia Historical Records Surveyj oral statement of Rev. Joseph Brown.

2. Ibide

3. Minutes ... of the Tuckahoe Baptist Association of Virginia ... 1938
]ﬁichmond[, igsg_rhareinafter citod as Minutes, 1938 J, pe 33 oral statement of
Reve. Joseph Browne.

4, Minutes, 1938, ps 3.

S Ibld-, Pe 3 ;

6+ Ibid., pe 18; oral statsments of Rev. Joseph Brown and Rev. Daniel James
Bradford.

T+ "Bradford Letter."

8. Ibid.
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gecretary, Reve. William Henry Thomas, 1825 Grayland Ave., Richmondj Treasurer,
Deacon Archer Bradford, Route 2y Richmond.

The records of this association include Minutes (with the Constitution),
1900==, 39 vols., in the custody of Rev. Daniel James Bradford, 1018 5t. John
5t., Richmonds 1930, 1933, 1936, 1938, 4 vols., in the custody of the Virginia
Baptist Historical Socisty; 1910, 1912, 1914-15, 1918, 1928, 1930-31,
1936=-, 17 vols., in the custody of the Virginia Union Universitys 1895,
1897-99, 1901-2, 1904-11, 1913-17, 1919--, 40 vols., in the custody of Rev.
Danisl James Bradford, 1018 3t. John St., Richmond.

The Richmond churches in the Tuckahoe Baptist Association are:

17. WZSTWOOD BAPTIST CHURCH, 1874--, N« E. corner Glenburnie and Lincoln
Avese

Organized in 1874 in the home of Willie Williams at Glenmore near
Westwood. The congregation was composed of former members of the First
Baptist Church (entry 11), Fifth Baptist Church (entry 5), and Sixth Mount
zion Baptist Church (entry 32)s It developad from = Sunday School which had
been started by a group of lime furnace workerse The Sunday School had been
conducted in the log cabin of Robert Pemberton. This was located about two
miles from the present site of the church.

Their first church was a log cabin which they built on the present
site. The logs were hauled from the woods by the men and women of the
congregation. The cabin was replaced by a freme building with vertical boards.
These wore later covered with horizontal siding, sdditions and improvements
wors made in 1918 and 1924. The interior woodwork is white, the furniture
stained oak, and the windows are colored glass.

First pastor, Rev. George W. Daggett, 1874-1900. He was the founder
of this churche

geet Committee of the Church, "Historical Sketch of Westwood Baptist
Church", typescript, in the custody of Miss Lorine Struse, 805 Glenburnis Aves.

Minutes (including register of members, baptisms, annual reports of
Sunday School and Missionary Society)s 1900-=, 1 vol., in tho custody of tho
church clerk, Mrs. Lucy Wyley Pricc, 907 Glenburnis Ave. Finances, 1900=--,
1 vol., kept in the churche Henrico Circuit Court, Dceds 98, p. 663 Deecds
217“A., po 4‘16.

18. PROVIDENCE BAPTIST CHURCH, 1884==, 410 Ladies Mile Roade

Organized in 1884, It developed from prayer meetings which were held
in private homes on the Bowling Green Roads Later the congregation met
regularly in the home of Richard Jones on the corner of Meadowbridge and
Ladies Mile Roads. Later they met at "Gooper's 0ld Place", & houso on
Meadowbridge Road which is now Brookland Park Boulovard, Twolvc membors
united and bought the present lot on which they built, in 1879, a small frame
chapel known as "Dick Jones' Meeting House." In 1388 this was torn down
and a larger frame church was built on the same site. This was razgd, and
they purchased the building on the adjoining lot from Asbury Methodist
Church (now Monument Methodist Church, see forthcoming Inventory of the Church
Archives of Virginia, ilethodist Church). They rebuilt in September 1912 on

9., Minutes, 1938, pe 2.
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the present site.

Stucc? building, Colonial architecture with cupolaj interior walls
are colored light pink, the woodwork and pulpit furniture are oak, the pews
are stained cherry.

First pastor, Rev. Richard Jones, 1884-87. He was born a slave and
had very little education.

Seet Linwood Wilkerson, "An Historical Sketch of the Providence
Baptist Church", manuscript, n.d., 8 pp., in the custody of the pastor, Rev.
John James Woodson, 317 S. Harrison St.

Minutes, 1923--, 1 vol., in the custody of the church clerk, James
Edwards, 524 Ladies Mile Road. Register (members, finances), 1923--, 16 vols.,
duplex system, in ths custody of lMrs. Melissa Randolph, 317 Ladies Mile Road.
Eornost forker's Club records, 1926--, 1 vol. Missionary Socicty, 1926--,

1 vol., in the custody of Mrs. Adelaid Davis, 3312 Henrico Turnpike. All
previous rocords are losts

19. RIVZRVIEW BAPTIST CHURCH, 1885--, 1515 Jacqueline Ste

Organizod in 1885 in tho home of Hozikiah Johnson, 426 S. Lombardy St.
This ie now used as the parsonage. They first worshiped in a small frame church
across tho stroot from the parsonzgo. They sold this when they moved to
tho present building which was dedicated in 1920. It was built of brick
znd groy stono from the old passongor dopot of the Southorn Railway on 14th
and Hull Sts. This had beon rozed in 1914, Mrs. Junius Bookor Mosby (white)
contributed the first $5 for the church.

First pastor, Rev. George Johnson, 1895-1905. Minutes (including
finances), 1929--, 4 vols. Register (members, baptisms, deaths), 1920=-,
3 vols., in the custody of the church clerk, William Walter Cosby, 1411 W
Cary Ste. Richmond Chancery Court, Deed Book R10=A, pe 77.

20. SWANSBORO BAPTIST CHURCH, 1889--, 3018 Midlothian Pike.

Organized Octe. 13, 1889 as Third Baptist Church, in a frame building,
Swanshoro Public Schoolhouse, 6 River St. It developed from weekly meetings
which were held in privete homes in that vicinity by nine members who with-
drew from the First Baptist Church (entry 11), April 8, 1880.

In 1897 they built a framo church on BB St. (now 30th St.) botwoon
Midlothian Piko and Lawson Ste In 1904 the interior was romodclod, In
1915 this frame building was moved on rollers to the present site and two
rooms were added. In 1929 they purchased new furniture. In 1937 they again
remodeled the churche Stucco building, Colonial architecture with belfry,
columns support the front portico. Interior painted white, frosted glass
windows, light oak furniture.

First pastor, Rev. Richard A. Greham, 1890-92.

Sces The Fifteenth Anniversary of the Swansboro Baptist Church,
Richmond:_zhé—zﬁurch, 1908, 12 pp.3 William Leo Ransome, History of
thoe First Baptist Church ..., Richmond, tho church, 1935, PPe 283-284.,

Minutes (including finances, memborss baptisms, deaths), 1889==,

2 vols. Sunday School (mombers, finances, minutos), 1937=--, 2 vols. All
records in the custody of Miss Abbic Neal, 4316 Lawson Ste
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2l, THE FIRST UNION BAPTIST CHURCH, 1893e=, 1700 Moore Ste.

Organized in 1893 as the Gallilee Baptist Church in a frame chapel
on the present site, In 1925 they moved into the new brick church which was
built on the same lot, At this time they changed their name to First Union
Baptist Church. The building is Colonial architecture with belfry and bell
from the original chapel, stained glass windows, mahogany stained furniture,
choir loft behind the pulpit.

First pastor, Rev. James Carter, 1893=96. He had a grammar school
gducatione

See: Moses Alphonso Norrell, "Richmond Religious History" in Richmond
Pla.net’NOVQ 26, 1932’ Pe 160

Minutes, 1927==, 2 vols. Finances, 1927--, 3 vols. Register
(members), 1930==-, 1 vol., in the custody of Laurence Rainey, 1700 W. Moore
St. Sunday School (members, finances), 1927--, 2 vols., in the custody of Mrs.
Martha Powell, 1849 W. Moore St. Woman's Missionary Society (minutes, members,
finances), 1930--, loose leaf form, in the custody of Mrs. Bessie Garner,
Elizabeth and Moore Sts. Henrico Circuit Court, Deeds 168=A, ps 418. Richmond
Chancery Court, Deed Book, 197=D, p. 37,

22, MOQUNT HERMON BAPTIST CHURCH, 1900-=; No We corner of Graham and
Catherine Sts.

Organized in 1900 as the Brook Road Baptist Mission in a rented
dwelling on Hickory Ste near Cabel Ste In 1909 they built a small frame chapel
at 900 Qak Ste In November 1915, under tho pastorate of Rev. Clarence Brown,
the congregation was reorganized s the Brook Road Baptist Churche In 1919
the neme was changed to Mount Hermon Baptist Churche

On Dec. 28, 1928, this church was destroyed by fire and the con-
gregation worshiped in the front of a store on the Ne We corner of Catherine
and Gilmore Sts. In 1929 they bought the brick church at 9 E. Clay. It
formerly belonged to Clay Street Baptist Church (now Mosby Memorial Baptist
Church, entry 46). In 1932 tho Mosby Memorial congregation repossessed this
church and the Mount Hormon congregation returned to the store on Catherine
and Gilmore Sts., where they remained until 1935 when they completed their
present buildinge

First pastor, Rev. Mr. Braxton, 1900~1902. He had a grammar school
education.

Minutes, 1933=-, 1 vol.; Finances, 1933-=, 1 volej Register (in=
cluding members, deaths, baptisms), 1933==, 1 vol., in the custody of
Linwood Dillard, 802% W. Moore St. Marriages, 1933=- 1 vol., in the custody
of the pastor, Rev. John Weslsy Dudley, 301 W. Leigh Sts Sunday School
{including finances, members), 1933==y 1 vol., kept at the church.

23, TRINITY BAPTIST CHURCH, 1906=-, 1630 Rose Avos

Orgenized in 1906, It developed from & Mission Sunday School con=
ducted by Richard Mosby and Marcellus Carrington Waller in the home of the
latter, 1009 We Leigh St. Rev. Randolph Verdon Poyton, pastor of Sixth Mount
Zion Baptist Church (entry 32), sponsored the organization of this church
with 10 mombers of his church whe lived in ths neighborhooda They bought a
smgll frame chapel from Mount Carmel Baptist Church (entry 38) on Fitz and
Ste James Stse
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The cornerstone of the present church was laid September 1918, and
the congregation entered the basement Nov. 17, 1919. They worshiped thero
until Nov. 27, 1921, when the main church was completed and dodicated. They
then olectod their proesont pastor, Rev. King David Turncr, who had beon
instrumental in building the church. Stucco building, Colonial architecture,
interior walls colored croams,light oak furniture, balcony around threc sidos
with choir loft at the back of the pulpit.

First pastor, Rev. Jamos Williams, 1906-10. He attondod the Virginia
Union Univorsitye.

8ees "Church of the Week" in Richmond Afré-American, Mar. 10; .1939..

Minutes (including finances, members, baptisms, deaths and scattered
records of church organizations), 1923--, 2 vols. Sunday School (members,
finances), 1929-=, 1 vol. Henrico Circuit Court, Deeds 171=B, pe 54, Deeds
189=4, pe 306+ Richmond Chancery Court, Deed Book 246-C, p. 2343 Dced Book
289=D, pes 1103 Deed Book 319-4, p. 497.

24, ST. PAUL'S BAPTIST CHURCH, 1910--, 2022 Henrico Ste

Organized Feb. 10, 1910, under the auspices of Rev. Isaac Hines in
the home of Mrs. Baylors Lockett, 2226 Henrico St. In a few months they
started worshiping in the front of a store, 2204 Henrico St. They remained
there until they built the present church, which was dedicated in October
1912, Frame building, stucco front, Colonial architecture, colored glass
windows, buff colored walls, blue ceiling, mahogany stainad trim and
furniturce.

First pastor, Rev. George D. Picknoy, 1910-12. Ho attonded Morgan
Collogo, Baltimore, Maryland.

Minutes (including financcs, members), 1910-=-, 3 vols., in the custody
of tho clork, Mrs. Mario L. Yates, 1713 . Moore St. Rogistor (baptisms,
marrizges, deaths), 1 vol., in the custody of tho pastor, Rov. Journey
Archibald Mosby, 939 W. Leigh St. Sunday School (members, finances), 1910==,
1 vol., in the custody of the Sunday School Superintendent, Thomas Leecost,
1713 . Moore St.

25, SEVANTH STREIET BAPTIST CHURCH, 1912--, 816 N. 7th Ste

Organized Aug. 12, 1912, in the present building, by Rev. William
Henry Branch, the present pastor, with 28 members. It developed from the
Seventh Street Mission which was started Apr. 18, 1909 by Rev. William Honry
Branch, in & ronted chapel, 820 N. 7th St. This is now the St. Boulah
Holinoss Church (sec forthcoming Invontory of the Church Archives of Virginia,
Holiness Churches).

They romained at tho mission chapol until tho prescut church was
built. Frame building, Colonial architecturs, interior walls colored croom,
ook trim and furniture, colored glass windows. The Sunday School is in the
basement .

First pastor, Rev. William Henry Branch, 1912--. He is a graduate
of the Virginia Union University. :

Sees William Jackson, "Historical Sketch of The Seventh Street Baptist
Church®, typescript, 1913, 2 ppej "Church of the Week!" in Richmond Afro-
American, Apre. 15, 1939. e

Minutes (including finances, members, baptisms, dgaths, Missionary
Society records, Baptist Young Psoplo's Union and Sunday School members,
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financoes), 1920=-, 2 vols., in the custody of the church clerk, Junius
Taliaferro. Finances, 1936--, 1 vol. Registor (including finances, minutes
1920-25, dcaths, baptisms, mombers), 1920--, 3 vols., kept in tho church.
Richmond Chancery Court, Docd Book 316-C, pe. 415.

26. THIRTY-FIRST 3TREET BAPTIST CHURCH, 1914--, N. E. cornor 3lst and
Q Sts.

Organized in 1914 by Rov. Hugh Robert Williems in St. Luko's Hall,
29th and N. Stse It doveloped from a split in Fountain Baptist Church
(ontry 37). In 1916 thoy bought tho prosent church from Fountain Baptist
Church. This was a frame building which thoy romodeled and stuccocds
Colonial architocture, two steeples cnd a bell, interior walls colored grey,
light oak trim and furniture, plain glass windows.

First pastor, Rev. Hugh Robert wWilliams, 1914-21. He attended
Richmond Institute (now Virginia Union University).

Seet "Church of the Week" in Richmond Afro-american, Mare 2541939

Minutes (including members, deaths, finances 1914-31, boptisms and
sundey School records), 1914=--, 2 vols. ARogister (mombers, deaths, finances),
1931--, 1 vole All rocords in the custody of tho church clerk, Spoencor Joeter,
1214 N. 32nd 5te Richmond Chancery Court, Dood Book 232-B, pe 2l.

27. LITTLE MOUNT 2ZION BAPTIST CHURCH, 1917--, 613 Creek Ste

Orgenized Dac. 1, 1917 as the Pcor Saints Mission, in a frame
building on ths presont site. In June 1920 they were recognized as the Little
Mount Zion Baptist Church, and the congregation bought a frame dwelling
which thoy moved 2 half of a block to the prosont site and remodolod.
Improvemonts included colored glass windows, galvanized iron coiling, white
woodwork, ozk colored furnituroc.

First pastor, Rov. Isaae Porloy, 1917--, D. D., Virginia Union
Universitye.

Scos Rov. Goorgo Pinknoy, "History of the Recognition of the Littlo
Mount Zion Baptist Church", typescript, n. d., 8 pp., in tha custody of
Raymend Jcoseph Jcohnson

Minutos (including finsnces and Womon's Missionary Socioty rocords),
1921~-, 2 vols. Registor (membors, baptisms, dcaths, marriages), 1921==-,

1 vol., finoncos, 1924==, 3 vols., kopt at the church.

28. BROOK ROAD BAPTIST CHURCH, 1922--, 1515 Brock Road.

Orgenized Nov. 29, 1922, in a storo at 1500 Brook Road, with 20
membors from Mount Hermon Baptist Church (ontry 22). This movomont was
led by Rov. Columbus Linwood Drow and Rev. William Young. It devoloped
from o missicn which was started July 1922 in a storo at 900 Cathorino
5te 4 frame chapol which belongod to the Reod Momerial Prosbyterian Mission
(see forthcoming Inventory of tho Church Archivos of Virginia, Prosbytorian

Churches) wus bought, and dodicsted Doc. 2, 1923. Colonial architocturo,
buff colored walls, bluec coiling, mahogany stained trim and pulpit furniture,
natural cclor pews, plain glass windows,

First pastor, Rev. Wirt Babor, 1922-27. Ho had a grammar gchool
educatione
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Minutes (including members, marriages, deaths, baptisms), 1938--,
1 vols Finances, 1938==, 1 vol. Sunday School (members, finances),
1938--, 1 vole. Baptist Young People's Union (minutes, members, finances),
1938=-, 1 vols Richmond Chancery Court, Deed Book 296=B, p. 388.

29, SHILOH BAPTIST CHURCH, 1924--, 908 Brook Road.

Orgenized October 1924, It developed from a mission which was held
in the old Presbyterian liission Hall on 17th St. (see forthcoming Inventory
of the Church Archives of Virginia, Presbyterian Churches)s The congregation
moved to a frame dwelling on the 300 block Calhoun St., where thoy organizod
a8 a church. Thay remaincd in this housc until the ropairs on tho present
building were comploted. This building was formerly e store. It has whito
walls, plain glass windows, oak stained furniturc.

First pustor, Rev. Thomas R. Croxton, 1924-33. He hed a grammar
school education,

Minutes, 1933--, 3 vols. Finances, 1933-=, 1 vol. Register (members,
merricges, deaths, baptisms), 1933--, 1 vol. Sunday School (membors, finances),
1933--, 1 vol.
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X+ THE CHICKAHOMINY BAPTIST ASSOCIATION OF VIRGINIA

The Chickahominy Beptist Association of Virginia was organized in 1908
at Springfield Baptist Church, Hanover County, under the leadershi of Reve
Mitchell Washington who was pastor of Springfield Baptist Churche™ Most of
the original churches_in this association formerly belonged to Shiloh
Baptist Association,

The object of this association is "the extension of the Master's King=-
dom" through homs and foreign missions, and through education.® It is com=
posed of 15 churches in Hanover County and the City of Richmond .4

The first moderator of the Chickahominy Baptist Association was Reve.
Mitchell Washington, 1908-18.5 The present officers are Moderator, Rove
#illiam Lewson Godsey; Vice=Moderator, Reve. Edward D. Tronts Recording
Secretary, Rev. William R. Claytor; Corresponding Secretary, Rev. Richard
He Tinsley; Treasurer, Rev. Lucian A. Hunter; Secretary of Educational Board,
Mrse Mary Ida Jonese

The records of this association include Minutes, 1909--, 30 wvols., and
a few current business papers, in the custody of Rev. R. He Tinsley, Peaks,
Virginia; Minutes, 1929, in the custody of the Virginia Baptist Historical
Societys and Minutes 1931, 1934, 2 vols., in the custody of Rev. Daniel
James Bradford, 1018 St. John St., Richmond.

The Richmond ¢hurches in-the Chickahominy’ Baptist Association ares - -

30+ MOUNT CAVALRY BAPTIST CHURCH, 1880=-, 717 Orleans St., Richmond.

Organized in 1880 by a group of members from Rising Mount Zion Baptist
Church (antry 33)e They met in private homes and rented buildings until
1884 when they entered the basement of a frame church which they built on
the 300 block of Nicholson St. botween 36th and Hopkins Sts. This scction
wzs known as Rocketts. Tho church was completed in 1888+ The building is
now demolished but the church still owns the vacent lot. In 1912 thoy
built the presont church. Brick building, Gothic architecture, stoeple,
gallory around threc sides of auditorium, choir loft back of the pulpit,
walnut pulpit furniturs, oak pews, tinted glass windows, buff colored walls,
oak trim.

First pastor, Rev. Archer Fergusson, 1881~1903, D. D., Virginia Union
Theological Seminary, Richmond. '

Sees Moses Alphonso Norrell, "Richmond Religious History" in Richmond
Planet, Nov. 26, 1932, p. 16

Minutes, 1930--, 1 vol., Register (marriages, deaths), 1931=-, 1 vol.
Register (members, beptisms), 1930--, 3 vols. Finances, 1930-=, 1 vol.
Sunday School (finances, membsrs), 1933--, 1 vol. Richmond Chancery Court,

1, Oral statements of Rev. Joseph Brown, Rev. W He Branch, Rev. Danicl James
Bradford, and Revs William Lawson Godsoye

2. Orel statoments of Rev. Joseph Brown, and Rev. William Lawson Godseye

3+ Minutes ese of the Chickahominy Baptist Association e.e 1938, ne p.y 1938
|hereinafter cited as Minutes1193§], pe 23 oral statoment of Rov. William
Lawson Godseye

4, Oral statoments of Reve. William Lawson Gédscy, and Rev. E. He Bouey.

5. Orzl statements of Rev. Josoph Brown, and Rev. Williem Lewson Godscye.

6o Minutes, 1938’ Pe L
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Deed Book 121=-A, p. 285; Deed Book 206-A, p. 4853 Deed Book 208-D, p. 243.
31. UNION BAPTIST CHURCH, 1922-~, 1813 Everett St., Richmond.

Organized Jan. 20, 1922 in the basement of the First Baptist Church
(ontry 11).. It developed from a division which arose in the Second Baptist
Church {entry 13), September 1921, The pastor with 72 members withdrew,
worshiped in Indspendent Hall on Hull St., between 19th and 20th Sts., until
Jan. 20, 1922, At this time the council recognized them as a separate con=
gregation, named after ths Union Baptist Church, Baltimore, Md., wherc Dr.
Lawrence Campbell Garland, the pastor, had held his memboership when a studont.

Thoy bought e frame building from the Oak Grove Baptist Church (see
forthcoming Inventory of the Church Archives of Virginia, Middle District
Baptist Associations, moved it to the present site and covered it with
stucco. Colonial architecture with Gothic windows, interior woodwork cream
color, furniture oak finish.

First pastor, Rev. Lawrence Campbell Garland, 1922--, D. Dsy Clayton
williams University, Baltimore, Md.

See: William Lee Ransome, History of the First Baptist Church «se»
Richmond, the Church, 1935==, p. 287-292.

Minutes, 1922--, 17 vols. Finances, 1922--, 2 vols. Register
(membors, baptisms, deaths, marriages), 1922--, 1 vol. Richmond Hustings
Court Pte 2, Deed Book 54~=A, p. 3503 Deed Book 55-A, p. 4053 Dced Book 56=B,
Pe 468
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SIXTH MOUNT ZION BAPTIST CHURCH, 1867--, N. E. corner Duvel and St.
John Stse

Organized Sept. 3, 1867 as Mount Zion Baptist Church, by Rev. John
Jasper, the famous Negro preacher. This was the first church that was organ=
ized by a Negro preacher within the City of Richmond of that eras The church
was started with nine members in an old stable, which had belonged to the Con=
federats Government,on Brown®s Island in the James Rivere. In the winter of
1867 the congrogation met in a shanty on the north bank of the river. This
cebin belonged to Poter Baker, ¢ member of this congregation.

In June 1868 they moved to & carpenter's and cooper's shop on the corner
of 4th and Cary Sts. This shop was available for their services only a few
months. In the winter of 1868 they moved to a large room on Cary St., between
3rd and 4th Sts. The congregation soon became too large for this room, and on
Mar. 15, 1870 they bought & small brick chapel. This building had been sold
on Dec. 8, 1865 to the African Methodist Episcopal Zion Church (see forthcoming
Inventory of the Church Archives of Virginie, Methodist Churches) by tho Duval
Streot Prosbyterian Church (sco forthcoming Inventory of tho Church Archives of
Virginia, Presbyterian Churches)e.

The building was romodeled, and an znnex was built across the batk of
the church making a "T" shaped building. A Sunday School was orgganized in
1870 and the membership of the church grow so rapidly, due to the zool of its
foundor, that this building was razed ond the prosent church builte. This
building facos Ste John Ste instead of Duval Ste

The church is of red brick and gray stone, Norman-Gothic architecturej
the interior walls are gray, the pews and pulpit furniture are carved oake
A gallery extends around three sides of the auditorium; a large choir loft,
seating 100 persons, rises at the back of the pulpit. The choir has been of
national fame since its organisation. A stone tablet above the entrance is
inscribed: "Sixth Mount Zion Baptist Church, organized by Rev. John Jasper,
Sept. 3, 1867. Rebuilt 1887~ Remodeled 1925." On one side of the pulpit is
a portrait of Rev. John Jasper; on the other side is a tablet on which is im=
bedded a stone brought from Mount Zion in the Holy Land to Rev. John Jasper,
Dec. 20, 1925, by Rev. Cary Montague, City Missionary of the Protestant Epis=
copal Churche

The church has 16 large stained glass windows. Many of them are in
memory of various "troops" of tho church and their commaenders. Onc of these
is to Mrse. Dolia West, Colonecl of "Tho Amazonian Troop." There is also &
stone tablet to her memory. It was erccted by Mrs. Jomos Ploasants in memory
of her "Mammy", who was a leading member of this church. One of the windows
in the church is inscribed, "In memory of Rev. John Jasper, D. Do July 4,
1812-March 31, 1901." It has a sundial which is symbolic of his famous sermon,
"De Sun Do Move." There is another memorial window to him in the Jasper Memorial
Room. This room contains articles connected with Rev. John Jasper, such as
the first set of pulpit furniture of this church, the first and sccond Bibles
used by him in former and present churches, and the personal Bible which he
used in his humble parsonage at 1112 N. Jackson St. to which leading men of
that day made their way. There are also two large portraits of him and several
small photographs. The most striking momento, however, is the old greenish-
black Prince Albert coat and shabby big folt hat which he wore constantly. They
hang on a nail on the wall.
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The church was dedicated by the Rev. Mr. Jasper as Sixth Mount Zion
Baptist Church because it was the sixth Negro Baptist Church to be organized
in Richmond before the annexation of Manchester. This church founded the
Negro Baptist Old Folks Home to care for the aged of its own and other Negro
Baptist churches. It also was one of the first Negro churches to have an
orggnized charity with an efficient social worker to administer the Indigent
Funde i

The Sunday School was started in 1870 by the Rev. Mr. Jasper who con=
tributed a weeks salary of $10 to its organization fund. It has grown until
it occupies a large annex as well as the church auditoriume It has a noted
orchestra and holds a Summer School which is largely attended each year: The
offices of the church were furnished by the clerk, Notton Wood Bouldih, in
memory of his parents.

First pastor, Rev. John Jasper, 1867-1901, He was a member of the First
African Baptist Church (entry 1). Before he organized Sixth Mount Zion Bap-
tist Church he was pastor of the old Third Baptist Church of Petersburg whero
he preached two Sundays in the month. Noted for his fervid zeal, and gifted
in imagery and colorful oratory, he was much in demand. He preached in many
sections of Virginis and in adjoining states. During his annual August vaca-
tion, he conductcd famous all day camp meetings in the country.

He was born July 4, 1812, the twenty=fourth child of Lina and Philip
Jesper, slaves of the Peachy plentation in Fluvanna County. John was born
two months after the decth of his. father who had been o notod plantation
preacher. Before his death, her husband charged Lina to raise the coming child
carefully 28 he would onc day bo a groat proacher. Bofore her death in 1867,
at tho age of 100 years, Lina had scen this prophecy fulfilled.

Lina was an outstandingly intelligent and efficient woman, first as
headwoman among the field hands; then she was promoted to head the servants of
the "great houss." She also looked after all the gsick of the plantation and
was "Mammy" to the children of her "Master", teaching both manners and morals
with a strict jeslousy that they should act befitting their station. She
taught .her last son "his manners" with the sams enthusiaosm and to his dying
day, although flattered by all and conferred with by noted men of letters,
John Jasper never lost the courtly dignity and love for humanity instilled
into him by his mother. Worldly honors, or distinctions were nothing to him
and he refused them scornfullys He stood firmly on the literal word of the
Bibie, and on this basis his logic was indisputable, and entircly convincing.
He fglt himself .distinectly, called by God vto preachs His word ‘and nss sermens
drew immense crowds, his fame spreading through the United States and abroade

At the time of his conversion he was hired out by his owner, Mrse.
William Samusl Poachy, to work in tho tobacco factory of Samucl Hargrove, &
loador in ths First Baptist Church (sce Invontory of tho Church Archives of
Virginis, Dovor Baptist Association)e John Jaspor later becemo o member of
this churche To the ond of his life, he gratefully remomborod the oncouragement
given him at this timo by his YMastor" to whose influence the world owos the
subseguent carcer of this gonius.

During the War Betwsen the Stateg, John Jasper nursced the sick in a
Confedorate hospitsl, and aftor tho war ho cleancd bricks for the rebuilding
of Richmond. Tho wretchodness of his fellow slavop after the wer impelled him
to esteblish o church for thom in their vicinity, ond ho precachod wholehearted~
ly to growing threngs. After moving from placo 1o place to accomodate his
over increasing audionces, he finally nttained his ambition when tho presont
sitc of Sixth Mount Zion Baptist Church was purchased for his congregation.

John Jasper had no formal cducction, and due to inflammatory propagende.




<38 o
Churches Not Affiliated With Any District Association

circulated among the slaves, reading was discouraged. But after his dramatic
"conviction of sin" July 4, 1839 while walking through the Capitol Square,

Jusper felt that he must learn to read the Bible for himself. A fellow slave,
@illiam Jackson, taught him from an old New York speller. In about seven months,
Jasper became well versed in the Bible from cover to cover. He also read
histories and the biographiss of great men. His knowledge was really amazing

to tho Solons who visited him from far and near.

He was baptizod in Februery 1840, and on the same afternoon preached a
funeral sermon from which his fams began to grow., Sunday after Sunday he could
be seen leading his flock of repentant sinners to be baptized in the James River.
He was known to have baptized as many as 300 psople in four hours.

His sermons rapidly became famous among the White psople as well as
among the Negroes. The last sermon he preached was on "Regeneration." This was
singularly appropriate to his passing as it was delivered on Mar. 17, 1901, and
on Mar. 30, 1901 at 10330 A. M. he spokec his last words: "I've finished my work
and am down at the River waiting for furthor ordsrs."

He was buried in the old Mechanics Cemetery where his grave could be
seen from the steps of his beloved church. When this cemetery was condemned,
in the course of the growth of the city, his remeins were carried in July 1918
with due ceremony to their present resting place in Woodlawn Cemetery, and his
grave marked with a large granite shaft.

See: idwin Archer Randolph, The Life of tho Rov. John Jasper ..., Rich-
mond, Re Te Hill & Co., Publishers, 1884, 167 pp.; Louisc Pequot Du Bollet,
Some Promincnt Virginias Families, Lynchburg, J. P. Bell Company, Inc., Publish=
ors, 1907, vole. 2, ppe 107, 112; William Aldridge Hatcher, John Jaspor ..., Now
York, Fleming H. Revcll Company [01908], 183 pp.; William Asbury Christian,
Richmond, Her Past and Presont ..., Richmond, Manufactured by L. H. Jonkins,
1912, p. 482; Benjamin Griffith Brawley, A Short History of ths Amorican Negro,
Now York, The iacMillian Company, 1913, 247 pp.3 Lyon Gardiner Tylor, Zncyclo=
pedic of Virginiz Biographies, New York, Lowes Historical Publishing Coa.,

1915, vol. 1, p. 303; W. B. Zubank, Rev. John Jasper on "De Sun Do Move" [Rich=-
mond ], 1917, 14 pp.; Nolton Wood Bouldin, Fifty Years History of 5ixth Mount
Zion Baptist Church, Richmond, John Mitchell, Jr., Publisher, 1919, 40 ppes
Jerome Dowd, The Negro in American Life, New York, The Century Co., 1926, 611
ppe; Alrutheus Ambush Taylor, The Negro in the Reconstruction of Virginia,
fashington, D. C., The Association for the Study of Negro Life and History,
1926, pp. 189-190; Howard Harper Harlan, John Jasper, A Case History in Leader=-
ship, University of Virginia, Charlottesville, Publications of the University
of Virginia, Fhelps=5tokes fellowship papers, No. 143 1936, 29 ppes "Does the
Zarth Move?" in Richmond Daily Dispatch, Mar. 19, 1878, p. 13 articlos ins
Richmond Daily Dispatch, Feb. 22, 1879, p. 1j Fob, 25, 1879, p. 13 June 17,
1891, p. 1; Mar. 31, 1901, p. 2, cols. 4=5; Oct. 18, 1925, p. 1; Tho svening
Leader, Nov. 30, 1879, p. 1; The Times, June 9, 1895, p. 33 Mar. 31, 1901, p.
13, cols. 1-5; "Rev John Jasper ..." in Richmond The Planet, Feb. 6, 1897,

pe 13 "Rev. Jasper Preaches ..." in Richmond The Planet, Feb. 264 1897, pe 13
Moses Alphonso Norrell, "Richmond Religious History e..", in fichmond The
Planet, Nov. 26, 1932, p. 163 article in New York Times, Mar. 31, 1991, pe Ty
cols. 3=4; George iatson James, Jr., "The Sun Do Move" in Richmond Times=
Dispatch, Mar. 3, 1935, pps 6, 75 9

ﬁinutas (including finances, membars), 1895-1910, 2 vols., 1910-7, 2
vols. Finances, 1910--, 3 vols. Business Ledgers, 1912~--, 3 volse. Register
(members), 1925=-, 1 vol. Deacon's Minutes, 1895--, 2 vols. Sunday School
(finances, members), 1895--, 4 vols. Richmond Chancery Court, Hustings Decds
90-B, p. 419; Deed Book 207=D, pe 247; Deed Book 225-B, p. 2675 Deed Book
238=A, pe 430.
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83+ RISING MOUNT ZION BAPTIST CHURCH, 1869--, 800 Denny St.

Organized May 10, 1869 by 25 members of First African Baptist Church
(entry 11). It developed from cottage prayer meetings which were started
by Rev. Danisl James in 1865, after the War Betwsen the States. These
meetings were held mostly in the home of Mrs. Agnes Diggs Tyler on 37th St.
between Louisiana and Denny Sts. When they decided to organize as a church
they rented the Friends' Schoolhouse on Hague St. (now the 300 block Nicholson
5te)s The church was named by ons of its founders, Marshall B. Goodall, in
honor of Rev. John Jasper's church, Sixth Mount Zion Baptist Church (entry 32).

In 1874 the congregation purchased the schoolhouse and moved it to
the present site, 800 Denny St. (then known as Graham St.). On Oct. 24, 1892
they moved. to 0dd Fellows Hall, 210 Nicholson 3t., where they worshiped while
erecting the present building which was dedicated Nov. 19, 1893. Brick build-
ing, Gothic architecture with 2 steeple, stained glass windows, gallery around
three sides, choir loft at the back of the pulpit, ceiling paneled in cheery
steined wood, cream colored walls, light oak furniture. Thoere are two marble
tablets in the lecture room in memory of Mrs. Alice Brown, an active church
worker, and Rev. David James under whose leadership the present church was built.

First pastor, Rev. Horatio Harris, 1869-75.

Sees arthur White, "History of Rising lount Zion Baptist Church",
manuscript, 1930, 5 pp., kept in the church; Arthur @hite, Rising Mt. Zion
Beptist Church ... Brief 3elected Historical Sketches, Richmond, the church,
1933, 1 pe3 "Church of the Week" in Richmond Afro-American, Mar. 4, 1939.

Minutes (including finances and records of organizations), 1937--,

1 vol. Previous records desiroyed. Richmond Chancery Court, Deed Book 324-C,
pe 278

34, ST. JOHN'S BAPTIST CHURCH, 1870--, 828 North Road.

Organized in 1870. It developed from a Sunday School which was
sponsored by Zbonezer Baptist Church (entry 3), in the old Township Hall on
the corner of Brook Road and Belvin St.

In 1873 liajor Lewis Gintor gave them the proscnt property in ex~-
chango for tho Township Hall property, which was near the property which ho
wzs dovoloping for white residents. In 1927 thoy added an annox to the church.
Stucco building, Colonial architecture, colored glass windows, bell from the
old Township Hall noted for its clear resonance.

First pastor, Rev. Joseph Claiborne, 1873-76.

Minutes (including finances, members, baptisms, Sunday School and
Baptist Young People's Union, 1930--), 1924--, 10 vols., in the custody of
Walter Graves, 206 #. Cheatwood Ave. Previous records lost 'by fire. Henrico
circuit Court, Dezds 109, pe 63 Decds 143=B, p. 167.

85. MOORZ STREET BAPTIST CHURCH, 1875--, 1412 W. Leigh 5t

Organized in March 1875 as Moore Street Missionary Baptist Church
by membors of Second Baptist Church (entry 13), in the home of Coloman Smith
on 2nd St. botwson Duval and Jackson Sts. Deacon Robert Jones and Rev. William
Troy were prominent in organising this church in order to give church facili-
tios to a section known as "Sheep Hill." Tho church gradually bocamo known
by its present namce
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On Mars. 17, 1875; they purchased am old soap factory consisting-
of three buildings on a lot on Moore St. between Gilmore and Graham Stsey
and extending back to Bacon's Quarters Branch, The centre building was used
as the churche. It was a brick building with unplastered walls, iron bars at
21l of the windows, and running springs in the basement and at the rear of
the buildinge They whitewashed the walls, constructed rough seats and wors
ready for worship April 18, 1875 when the church was dedicated, and the
congregation officially recognized.

In 1878ythey made elaborate improvements in the building, including
gallerics. 4 pool, fed by a large spring, was built at the back of the
building. A large number wore baptized therc May 12, 1878.

In 1878, thoy decided to run an industrial school in conncection with
tho church, and in April 1880, two=-thirds of the church proporty was docded
to Moore Stroet Industrial School. This causcd the congrogetion trouble,
and resultod in a long suit which was finally sottled in favor of the church,
and the proporty was returncd to the church in 1901.

At this timo the congregation toro down the building in front of
the church, romodeled the church again and installed a baptismal pool in
the churche

The noise of the Seaboard Airline Railway and the Richmond Ashland
Railway Company caused the congregation to move to the present site. They
moved from the old church to the new church at midnight on a Sunday in May
1908, The church was dedicated May 31, 19083 the services lasted from Sunday,
May 31 through Sunday, Junoc 1l4.

Brick building, Gothic architecturc, stecple with a bell, interior
walls colored ivory with brown woodwork, balcony on three sides, choir loft
at the back of the pulpit, walnut furniturc. There arc four memorial windows,
two of which arc to deacons Erwin East and Lucius Morrisj the other two are
to Mrs. Indic Branch Moorc and Mrs. Fannie Johnson, leading members of the
church.

First pastor, Rev. William Troy, 1875-81. He wes a student at the
Virginia Union Thoological Seminarye

Seet William Preston Burrell, "Moore Street Missionary Beptist
Church", typescript, 1933, 8 pp., in the custody of George Charlaes Savage,
502 W. Leigh St.; article in Richmond News=Loador, May 25, 1908, pe 23 Moses
Alphonso Norrell, "Richmond Religious History" in Richmond Planct, Nov. 26,
1932, Pe 16.

Minutes, 1921==, 1 vol. Registor (members, baptisms, deaths), 1921==-,
1 vol. Finances, 1921=-=, 1 vol,, in the custody of the church clork, Goorge
Charlos Savage, 502 W. Leigh St. Sunday School (mombers, finances), 1921--,
5 volse, in the custody of tho Sunday School Suporintondent, Kenneth Moore,
1416 . Clay St. Richmond Chancery Court, Deed Bock 109-C, pe 173 Deed Book
174-0, Pe 359; Deed Book 187"'C’ Pe 297«

36. NORTHSIDEZ MISSION, BAPTIST, 1880--, 710 Brook Road.

Organized in 1880 as the Union Baptist Mission. It dovoloped from
prayer meetings which were held in private homes., The first meetings of the
mission were held in a small freme building at Gilmore and Catherine Sts.

In 1933 they moved to a small brick store, 704 Brook Road, This is
now demolisheds. In 1937 thoy moved tc the front room of & frame dwelling,
710 Brock Road, and changed their name to Northside Mission,

This is a very small body, moeting about once & month. They have
no regular pestors
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e First pastor, Rev. Zlam Dandridge, 1880-86. He attended a grammar
gchoole.

Minutes (including finances, members, and Sunday School records),
1933=-, 1 vol., in the custody of Rev. Robert Miles, 202 Pulliam St.

37. FOUNTAIN BAPTIST CHURCH, 1888=-, S. W. corner of 32nd and P Stss ..

Organized in 1888 in St. Joseph's Hall, 901 31st - St., by a few members
from Fourth Baptist Church (entry 4) under the leadership of Rev. Hugh Robert
Williams. They built a small frame chapel on 3lst and Q Sts., and in 1899
added the present church auditorium,.

In 1916 there was a split in the congregation. One part organized as
the Thirty-first Street Baptist Church (entry 26), and retained this building.
The Fountain Baptist Church congregation moved to the Lilly of the Valley
Hall, 3109 P 3t., until they built their present church which was dedicated
in 1918, Frame building, interior walls colored buff, brown trim, oak
furniture. The oldest member, Mrse. Matilda Holmes, has been organist since
she was 13 years olds

First pastor, Reve Hugh Robert Williams, 1888-1927, D. D. Virginia
Union Theological University.

Minutes (including finances, members), 1926=--, 5 vols. Sunday School
(members, finances), 1929=-, 3 vols. Richmond Chancery Court, Deed Book
142-C, p. 342; Deed Book 167=B, p. 1303 Doed Book 239-B, p. 189,

38. MOUNT CARMEL BAPTIST CHURCH, 1888--, 1303 N. lat St.

Organized October 1888 under the leadership of Rev. William Henry
White. It developed from a Sunday School Mission which was hold in the
home of Mre. and Mrs. Peter Shackleford on Jasper St. which was then known
as Burial Ground Hill. The church was named by Rev. Richard Wells, pastor
of Ebenezer Baptist Church (entry 3). In December 1889, they dedicated the
frame chapel which was built on the corner of St. James and Fitz Sts. This
was sold to Trinity Baptist Church (entry 23) in 1906, and is now demolished.
In November 1904, they dedicated the presont church which they had built.
Brick building, Gothic architecture, interior walls colored cream, mahogany
colored trim, mahogany furniture, balcony above tho entrance of the
auditorium, and a choir loft on the pulpit platform.

Mount Tabor Baptist Church (entry 7) and Mt. Vernon Baptist Church
(entry 45) were formed from this church.

First pastor, Rev. William Henry White, 18881913, D. D. Virginia
Theological Seminary and College, Lynchburg. He was the founder of this
church and there is a memorial portrait of him in the vestibule of the church.

Seet "Annals of the Poor" in Richmond Times Dispatch, Aug. 21, 19133
Mrs. Zlizabeth W. Pollard, An Historical Sketch of the Mount Carmel Baptist
Dhurch, Richmond, the church, 1926, 8 ppe} Mrs. Philip Brown, An Historical
Sketch of tho Mount Carmel Baptist Church, The 46th Anniversary, Richmond,
the church, 1930, 8 pp.; Moses Alphonso Norroll "Richmond Religious History"
in Richmond Planet, Nov. 26, 1932, p. 165 "Church of the Weck" in Richmond
Afro-pmerican, May 13, 1939%.

Minutes (including finances, members, baptisms, deaths), 1933=-, 1 vol.,
kept in tho church. Marriagoes, 1888-1913, 1 vol., in the custody of Mrs.
Elizabeth W. Pollard, 402 W. Clay St. Sunday School (membors and finances),
1926~-,kept in the church. Henrico Circuit Court, Deeds 122, p. 2623 Deods
132=A, p. 173. Richmond Chancery Gourt, Doed Book 173=C, p. 346; Deed Book
329-C, pe 447,




& 4p &
Churches Not Affiliated With Any District Association
39. UNION LEVZIL BAPTIST CHURCH, 1897--, 901 State St,

Organized in 1897, in a hall near the present location, by Rev.
Richard Scott, with a group of people from Mecklenburg County. They
worshiped here for five years. In 1902 they built a small frame church
on the present site. They remodeled this building into a large stucco
church, Gothic architecture, with a square tower, and stained glass windows.
The interior walls are white, and the woodwork and furniture are light oak.

First pastor, Rev. Richard Scott, 1897-1902. He had a grammar
gchool sducwtions

Minutes (including members, baptisms, deaths, scattered notes of
minutes), 1932--, 1 vol. Henrico Circuit Court, Deeds 164 A, p. 60.

40, MORNING STAR BAPTIST CHURCH, 1898--, 317 E. 5th St.

Organized in 1898 in the old Samaritan Hall, 8th and Hull Sts. It
developed from a mission Sunday School which was conducted by the Second
Baptist Church (entry 13), in the home of Nero Dowden, on W. 7th St. In the
spring of 1920 they moved into the present building which they had erecteds
Frame building, Colonial architecture with a steeple, exterior painted gray,
interior painted white, pulpit and pews oak finish.

First pastor, Rev. Stephen Venable, 1903=5.

Seet William Lee Ransome, History of the First Baptist Church ...,
Richmond, the church, 1935, p. 286,

Minutes (including finances), 1936--, 1 vol. Register (members),
1936==, 1 vols Other scattered records, 1903--, kept in the church. Sunday
5chool (membere, finances), 1936--, 1 vol., in the custody of Thomas Dowden,
stop 21, Potorsburg Piks. In 1935 the James River overflowed and destroyed
the church rocords. Richmond, Hustings Court pt. 2, Deecd Book 47=A, pe 29

41« MOUNT OLIVET BAPTIST CHURCH, 1899--, S. E. corner Fairmount Ave.
and 25th St.

Organized Nov. 18, 1899 by 18 porsons at tho home of John Davis,
1118 Pink St. (now 968 Pink St.) They rentod a two-room framo building
on tho N. W. corner of 22nd and Carrington Sts. Soon aftorwards they rent-
od tho Lilly of ths Vallay Hall on P St. near 3lst 5t.

Lator the congregation bought thoir present site and built a frame
churche In 1911 thoy moved to St. Luke's Hall, 900 St. Jomes St., where
they worshiped for two yoars during which time they demolished the frame
church and built the pressnt brick edifico which was completed in 1913. This
wag enlarged in 1922, Colonial architocturc, buff colored walls, mahogany
furniture. The organ was given by Monumental Church (see forthcoming /
Inventory of ths Church Archives of Virginia, Protostant Episcopal Churchgg!.

First pastor, Rev. James Andrew Dowler, 1899-1935., A leader in
educational activities, he was the organizer of the first Negro school on
Church Hill, and the Zast Znd School (now George Mason School), at which he
taught for fifty years.

gee: "Church of the week" in Richmond Afro=-Amsrican, Dec. 17, 1938.

Minutes, 1926==, 3 vols. Register (membors, baptisms, deaths), 1935-=,
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1 vol. Finances, 1935=-, 4 vols. Sunday School (members, finances),
1924--, 6 vols. Baptist Young Pooples' Union (minutes, members, finances),
1924--, 1 voles Henrico Circuit Court, Deeds 169 A, pe 2365 Deeds 169 B,

Pe 268+ Richmond Chancery Court, Deed Book 222-C, pe 512; Doocd Book 222-C;
Pe 513.

42. BETHLEZHEM BAPTIST CHURCH, 1900==-, 1000 Buchanan Street.

Organized in 1900 in a small frame residence on 18th St. near Broad
5te The congregation bought a house on Sweet Home Alley with entrances on
17th and Marshall Sts. In 1906 they traded this for the present frame chapel
which they enterod and dodicated that ycare. In 1914 this building was re=-
modeleds Stucco exterior, Colonial architeccturs, cream colored walls, wood-
work staincd oek, furniture ozk, Florentinec glass windows. In tho auditorium
is a portrait of the presont pastor, Rev. Henry Randolphe.

First pastor, Rev. Branch Jackson, 1900-1908. A portrait of him hangs
in the church,

Sees: John Lewis Walker, "The History of the Bethlohem Baptist Church",
typescript, 1936, 2 ppes in tho custody of Mr. Walkor, 816 Buchanan Ste

Minutes, 1906--, 1 vole.; Finances, 1906--, 1 vol.; Rogister (members,
baptisms), 1906==, 1 vole; all in the custody of John Lowis Walker, 816
Buchanan 5t. Sunday School, 1927--, 3 vols., in the custody of George Davis,
"~ 2385 Carrington St. Richmond Chancory Court, Deod Book 165-A, pe 3535 Dced
Book 190-B, p. 795 Docd Book 191-B, pe. 16.

43. FAIRFISID BAPTIST CHURCH, 1900--, 2129 Fairfield Road.

Organized Septe. 6, 1900 by the Rev. Philip Henry Philips. It devecloped
from a mission which was started in 1886 by Mount Calvary Baptist Church
(entry 30)s In 1890 they built a frome mission chapel In June 1908 they
tore this down and laid the cornerstone for the prosont church, which was
comploted that fallse In the interim thoy worshipoed in the homes of the
mombers. Frame building, Colonial architecture, interior walls tan, dark
brown trim, furniture mahogeny colored, plain glass windows.

First pastor, Rev. Pnilip Honry Philips, 1900-1937. He had a grammar
School oducation. His portrait hangs back of the pulpit.

Minutos, 1900-1906, 1 vol. (including membors, finances), 1928--, 2
volse Roecords, 1906-28, were lost. Finances, 1933--, 1 vol. Register (mem=
bers, decths, marrisges, baptisms), 1928--, 1 vol. Sunday School (mombors,
finances), 1939--, 1 vol. All records are in the custody of Mrs. Florence
Graham Carter, 510 N. 6th St

44, PILGRIM BAPTIST CHURCH, 1900-13, 1916=--, 2814 Mecklenburg Street.

Organized in 1900, by Rev. William Thomas, in a small chapel in
Miller's Field, near what is now the 1600 block Chamberlayne Ave. It developed
from a mission which wes started by Rev. John Jasper of Sixth Mount Zion
Baptist Church (entry 38).

Later thoy rontsd a hall on Brook Ave., whore they romained until they
disbanded about 1913. In 1916 thsy reorganized under the loadorship of the
Rove lire #illiams, in o store on Wood St. In 1917 they purchased the present
mission chepole Frame building, Colonial architocturo, plain glass windows,
intorior walls colored cream, furniturc and woodwork stainod mahogeny .

First pastor, Rev. William Thomas, 1900-1902. He had a grommar school
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education and was for many ysars a barber.
Minutes (including finances, members, baptisms, deaths), 1918--,
1 vol. Sunday School (members, finances), 1918--, 1 vol.

45, MT« VERNON BAPTIST CHURCH, 1905=--, N. W. corner Rosewood Avenue and
Granby Street.

Organized July 27, 1905 in a residencc on Clay St. near Meadow St
In 1906 they built a small frame church on Meadow St. near Clay St. Lator
they built the present church which was dedicated May 1, 1914 and which was
enlarged in 1922. Brick building, Gothic architecture, interior walls and
woodwork colored cream, pulpit and pows oak finish, stained glass windows.

First pastor, Rev. Marshall Henry Payne, 1905 until his death May
1, 1939. He attendod Virginia Union University, end received a D. D. degroe
from Virginia Theological Seminary and College, Lynchburgs

Secs Moses Alphonso Norrell "Richmond Religious History" in Richmond
Planet, Nove 26, 1932, pe 163 "Church of the Week" in Richmond Afro=American,
Apre 1, 1939,

Minutes (including finances), 1924--, 2 vols. Register (members,
baptisms, marriages, deaths), 1905-~-, 1 vol. Henrico Circuit Court, Deeds
175=B, pe 198« Richmond Chancery Court, Deed Book 226=D, p. 2273 Deed Book
251=Dy pe 1393 Deed Book 306=B, pe 470

46, MOSBY MEMORIAL BAPTIST CHURCH, 1907==, 9 E. Clay Street.

Organized Auge 19, 1907 as the New Baptist Church, in Samaritan Hall,
corner of 6th and Duval Sts. with 250 members from Fifth Street Baptist Church
(entry 12)¢ They rented St. Luke's Hall, 900 5t. James St., where they wor=-
shiped until.Decembor 1909 In 1910 they bought the old Frionds' Meeting
House, 9 B. Clay Ste In 1925 the nams was changed to Clay Streot Baptist
Church. In 1927, they purchased the Randolph Strecet Baptist Church ( now
Park Viow Baptist Church, sce Inventory of tho Church Archives of Virginia,
Dover Bapbtist Association) and the namo was changod to Mosby Memorial Baptist
Church. They wore unablo to moet the payments on this building, and in 1932
the congregation returned to its former building at 9 E. Clay St., botween
lst and 5t. James Sts.

This is a plain brick chapel with a stucco front. Interior walls
light green, oak furniture, frosted glass windows. A portrait of Rev.

Thomas Jesse Mosby, who served this church 1912-30, hangs in the auditorium.
He was one of the outstanding leaders of his race in Richmond. The church
was named aftechilhim,

First pastor, Rev. Alexander Z. Edwards, 1907-12.

See: Souvenir Program of the Dedication Exercises of Mosby Memorial
Beptist Church ..., Richmond, the church, 1927, 12 ppe; "Church of the Woek"
in Richmond Afro-AmericznsDec. 3, 1938.

Minutes, 1927--, 1 vol.; Finances, 1927--, 1 vole; both in tho custody
of Robert Buford, 412 W. Charity St. Roegister (mombers, baptisms, deaths),
1927-=, 1 vol. Sunday School (finances, mombers), 1933=-, 1 vol. Woman's
Missionary Circls, 1912--, 1 vol., in the custody of Mrs. Smma Winn, 810 S.
Rendolph St. Baptist Young Poople's Union,1936--, 1 vol., in the custody of
Willism Henry Booker, 1400 Moore 5t. Richmond Chancery Court, Doced Book
204~B, p. 4255 Doed Book 345-By; pe R4.
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47. CHARITY BAPTIST CHURCH, 1915-=, 428 W. Baker St.

Organized in May 1915 by Rev. Jeremiah Milton Miles in the old Hickory
Street Mission, 1000 Hickory St., with 12 members from the Hickory Hill Mission
Sunday Schoole. This mission chapel was built and given to the Virginia Union
University by Miss Kate Gayle, a Bibls teacher, who invited the thsological
students to preach at the chapel on Sundays where she conducted a Sunday School.

In October 1921 the church bought & frame dwelling which thoy remodolod
into tho presont church, and took the name, Charity Baptist Church.

First pastor, Rev. Joromiah Milton Miles, 1915-36. Heo conducted great
revivals and beptizod largo numbors of people in the Jamos River.

gee: "Church of the Week" in Richmond Afro-American, June 10, 1939.

Minutes, 1937--, 1 vol, Finances, 1937--, 1 vol. Register (including
members, deaths, baptisms), 1937==, 1 vol. Sunday School (including members,
finances), 1937--, 1 vol. Missionary Society, 1937--, 1 vol., Baptist Young
People's Union, 1937-~-, 1 vols Previous records were destroyed when the con=
gregation reorganizsd after the death of the pastor in December 1936. Richmond
Chancery Court, Deed Book 275=A, p. 131,

48, GOOD SHEPHERD BAPTIST CHURCH, 1918--, 901 32nd S5t.

Organized Oct. 7, 1918, in a frame dwelling on the presont site, by a
group of members from Thirty-First Street Baptist Church (entry 26)s In 1920
they razed the house and built the prosent church. While they worc building,
the congregation met in the Mission of the Good Shepherd from which it took its
neme. This wmission was conducted at 621 N. 28th 5t. by St. John's Church (see
forthcoming Inventory of the Church Archives of Virginia,Protestant Zpiscopal

Churches)s The building was originally located on the Duval estate in New
Kent County and was within the Federal lines during the Wer Between the States.
It was used as a hospital by the Union troops. Soldiers were buried in the
churchyard and the ends of the pews were used as tombstones. Often the name
of the soldier and his company wers roughly carved on these tombstones. After
the war the headstonss were retutrned to their original place and the building
was moved to Richmond in 1888. The Negro EZpiscopal congregation worshiped in
this building until 1939 when ths building was condemnod.

In 1921 tho Negro Baptist congregation moved to its present church. . Stuc=
co building, Colonial architecture with a steeple, cream colored walls, light
brown woodwork, light oak furniture, choir loft and organ at the roar of the
pulpite

First pestor, Rov. R. C. Williams, 1918-26, Ho came to Richmond from
Baltimore whors he received = high school education.

Sees Jlosiah] Staunton Moore, ed., Annals of HenPico Parish, by Rt. Rev.
L. W. Burton . . . History of 5t. John's P. £ Church . « o & Complete Roster
etce. Complete to MOOre « « s fgzchmond, Va., Williems Printing Company,
TIS04], pps 7L=723 Clarence Boykin, "Headstone Pews" in Richmond Times=-Dispatch,
July 20, 1935, ps 2, col. 1.

Minutes, 1926==, 5 vols. Finances, 1926--, 2 vols. Register (members,
beptisms, deaths), 1919--, 1 vol. Sundey School (finances, members), 1934==,

2 volss Aichmond Chancery Court, Deed Book 250-=A, Pp. 3903 Deed Book 253=D,
P 54,
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49, MOUNT HORER BAPTIST MISSION, 1918-34, Defunct, N. W. corner
Cetherine and Graham St.

Organized in Juns 1919, in & small frame building in Miller's Field
near Chamberlayne Ave., by Rev. John William Brown with a few members from
Mount Hermon Baptist Church (entry 22). Tho same year they built a small
frame chapel on Allen Ave,, noar Qak St. This building was destroyed by
fire about 1925,

They worshiped in private homes until 1931 when they built =& small
brick chupol, 900 Oak St., whoro thoy worshiped for three years. They then
sold this chapsl and moved to & garage on the N« W. corner of Cathorinc end
Graham Sts. where they disbanded, April 1934.

First pastor Reve. John William Brown, 1919-34. He attended a grammar
schools

Minutes, 1919-34, 1 vol., in the custody of Rev. John William Brown,
address unknown. No other records available.

50. FIRST BAPTIST CHURCH OF WASHINGTON PARK, 1921=-, 106 W. Cheatwood
Ave,

Organized in 1921, in a rented laundry building at 2hd and John Sts.,
by Rev. Archer M. Kent. It developed from a split in St. John's Baptist

Church (entry 34). In 1924 the pastor built the present church. Stucco build=

ing, Colonial architecture, with small steeple, plain glass windows, tan
walls, brown woodwork, oak celored furniture.

First pastor, Rev. 4rcher M. Kont, 1921--, Ho attended a grammar
8chool.

Minutes (including members, boptisms), 1921--, 2 vols, Finances
1921==, 2 vols. All church records are in the custody of Rev. Archer M.
Kent, 2209 BEverett Ste Sunday School (mombers, financos), 1925-=-, 3 vols.,
at the churche

51, SIXTH STREET BAPTIST CHURCH, 1922--, 502 N. 6th Ste . .-

Organized June 23, 1922, as St. Luke's Baptist Church, by 40 members
who withdrew from Mount Carmel Baptist Church (entry 38) under the leader-
ship of Rev. Bdward David Caffey. It was named S5t. Luke's Baptist Church
by the Rev. Mr. Caffey who was editor of St. Luke's Herald, a paper that was
owned by Mrs. Maggie Walker, famous financier and philanthropist. They
rented the Pythian Hell, 7 N. 3rd St. until Dec. 21, 1924, when they entered
and dedicated the presont church which they bought from Bethlchem Lutheran
Church (ses forthcoming Inventory of the Church Archives cof Virginia,
Luthoran Churches)e Brick building, Gothic architecture with a spire,
strinod glass windows, with Latin momorial inscriptions, installed by tho
Lutheren congregation, intorior walls colored cream, oak woodwork and
furniture, choir loft at the left of the pulpit, baptismal pool, installed in
1926, &t the right of tho pulpite. In 1928 tho name was changed to Sixth
Strest Bapbtist Churche

First pastor, Rov. Edward David Caffoy, 1922-27. Graduate of
Virginia Union University.

Scet Henry Howard Quarles “"History of the Sixth Street Baptist Churchy
manuscript, n. d., 2 pp., in tho custody of Mr. Juarles, 1220 W. Leigh St.
“"Church of the Week"'in Richmond Afro=American, Feb. 25, 1939.
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Minutes, 1927==, 1 vol. Finances, 1924--, 2 vols. Register (mem-
bers, baptisms, deaths), 1927--, 1 vol. Baptist Young Peoplo's Union
(mombers, financgs) 1923-= loose leaves. Sunday School (members, finances),
1922=-=, loose leaves. All records are in the custody of the church clerk,
Henry Howard Quarles, 1230 W. Leigh Ste

52. CENTER STREET BAPTIST CHURCH, 1923-~, 638 Lewis St.

Organized in March 1923, as Shiloh Baptist Church at 1013 Center Stey
by Roev. Samuel Leroy Bush with 2 numbor of mombers who loft Union Lovel
Baptist Church (entry 39). In 1932 a split in this congregation occurred
and a part of the congregation took the name Center Street Baptist Church,
end rented the present building. In 1934 they bought this building, which
was formerly the First Gospel Hall. Frame building, Colonial architecture,
interior walls tan, brown woodwork, oak furniture, colored glass windows e

First paestor, Rev. Samuel Leroy Bush, 1923-27. He was a student at
Virginia Union University.

Minutes, 1923==, 2 vols.; Register (members, baptisms, deaths, marri=-
ages), 1923=-, 1 vol., in the custody of Mrs. Ada Johnson, 4529 37th St.
Finances, 1928-=, 1 vol., in the custody of Rev. Lawrence Williams, 636
Lewis St. Sunday School (members, finances), 1928--, 1 vol., kept at the
church. Richmond Chancery Court, Deed Book 378=C, ps 53; Deed Book 395-D,
Pe 153.

53, MOUNT MORIAH BAPTIST CHURCH, 1924--, 911 N. lst 5%,

Organized Apr. 3, 1924 in the True Reformers Hall, 608 N. 2nd Sty
by 76 members from tho Sixth Mount Zion Baptist Church (entry 32)s They
rented the Armstrong High School auditorium, now the Booker T. Washington
school, on Leigh St. betwoon Adams and Prentis Sts., where they worshiped
until 1926, when they onterod the basoment of their present church which
is still incomplete. Brick building, Greek Colonial architecturc.

First pastor, Rev. Randolph Vincent Peyton, 1927=35, D. Th., Howard
University, Washington, D. Ce

S0t "Church of the Weok" in Richmond Afro=-American, Fob. 18, 19393
Rov. Samucl Moses Thompson, autobiographical sketch, manuscript, 1939, 2 pPpey
in the custody of the Rev. Mr. Thompson, 1 8. Beoch St.

Minutes (including members, baptisms, deaths), 1924--, loosoc loaves.
Financos, 1924=~-, 6 vols. Sunday School (membors, finances, minutes),
1924=-=., Woman's Missionary Circlc (minutos, membors, finances), 1925==3
Baptist Young Poople's Union (minutes, membors, finances)y 1926==, in
Jooso loaf form at the church. Richmond Chancory Court, Deed Book 309=-D,
pe 4183 Deod Bock 327-B, p. 4423 Deed Book 338=D, p. 17.

54, UNITY BAPTIST CHURCH, 1925-36. Defunct. 729 Catherine St.

Orgenized in October 1925. They disbanded in May 1936. Their
building was a brick dwelling modeled into a church. The congregation dis=
organizody as thoy wers unablo to mect tho paymonts on the proportys

First pastor, Rov. Clinton Clark, 1925-36., He was a studont at
Virginia Union Univorsity.

All rocords were dostroyed.
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55. GALILEE BAPTIST CHURCH, 1926-=-, 1118 St. Peter St.

; Organized in 1926, in a rented frame dwelling, 718 N. 9th St. They
worshiped there until Jan. 11, 1938, when they moved to the lower floor of
the present frame dwelling.

i First pastor, Rev. Willis John Johnson, 1926--. He attended a grammar
gchool.
Minutes (including finances, members, baptisms), 1926-=, 1 vol.
There are no Sunday School recordse

56+ CALVARY BAPTIST CHURCH, 1927-38. Defunct. 300 E. Baker St.

Organized in August 1927 by a few members from St. Luke's Baptist
Church (now Sixth Street Baptist Church, entry 51). They met in private
homes until December 1927 when they bought the building of Mosby Momorial
Baptist Church (entry 46). This was reclaimed by the Mosby Baptist congregation
in 1930 and the Calvary congregation rented the Hickory Strect Mission at
1007 Hickory Ste. which building was occupied at one time by the congregation
of Charity Baptist Church (entry 47). In 1933 they rented a store at 300
£. Baker 5te This church was nover recognized and in May 1938 it merged
with the Timothy Baptist Church (entry 61).

First pastor, Reve. J« A. Brown, 1927-38.

A fow scattered records arc in custody of Mrs. Mary Z. Andorson, 13
Be Duval St

57. NEW SHILOH BAPTIST CHURCH, 1928=--, 1013 Conter Sti

Organized in 1928 by Rev. George Calvin Bolling. It developed from
a split in Shiloh Baptist Church (now Center Street Baptist Church entry 58)%

They remained in the building which the congregation occupied before
the split, and changed their name to New Shiloh to avoid confusion with the
shiloh Baptist Church of 908 Brook Road (entry 29). Stucco building,
Colonial architecture, tan walls, brown woodwork, oak=stained furniture.

First pastor, Rev. George Calvin Bolling, 1928-29. He was from South
Carolina and attended grammer schools

sarly rocords wero rotained by Cantor Stroct Baptist Church (entry 52) .
Na other records availablece

58. GRAYLAND AVENUE BAPTIST CHURCH, 1929--, 1402 Grayland Avoe

Organizod May 14, 1929 as Morning Star Baptist Church, with 10 mom=
bers, in tho home of Mrs. Mertha Johnson, 212 S. Lombardy St. It developed
from prayor meotings which were held in the home of Reve. Daniecl P. Hubbard.
In Juno 1928 they purchased their prosent building from Fife and Advent
Christian Church (sce forthcoming Invontory of the Church Archives of
Virginia Christian Churches). Frams chapol, cream colored interior, oak
pulpit. On June 11, 1936 the name was changed to Grayland Avenuc Baptist
Church dus to conflict with the othor Morning Star Baptist Church (entry 40).

First pastor, Rov. Danicl P. Hubbard, 1928-35. He attonded Virginia
Theological Seminary and College, Lynchburge

Soes "Church of the Weck" in Richmond Afro=American, Apre. 8, 1939.

Minutes (including members, baptisms), 1928--, 2 volse Finances,
1928-=, 1 voles OSunday School (members, finances), 1928==, 1 vol. Richmond
Chancery Court, Doed Book 41l=A, pe 118.
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59. TENTH STREET BAPTIST CHURCH, 1930--, 718 N. 9th St.

Organized Oct. 30, 1930, as the Southern Friendship Baptist Church,
in two rooms of a frame dwelling at 913 E. Leigh St. In 1932 they moved to
a brick house at 616 N. 10th St. and changed their name to the Tenth Street
Baptist Church.

In 1937 the congregation split. One branch moved to the two rooms
of the present frame dwelling. The other branch organized as the New Friend=-
ship Baptist Church (entry 64).

First pastor, Rev. Willis Ezekiel Taylor, 1930--. He attended a
grammar schoole.

Minutes (including finances, members, Sunday School records), 1930--,
2 vols., at the church. Register (scattered records of baptisms, marriages
and deaths), 1931--, 2 note books, in the custody of Rev. Willis Ezekiel
Taylor, 718 Ne 3rd Ste 2

60. EUREKA BAPTIST BIBLE SCHOOL, 1932-37. Defunct. 1401 Idlewood Ave. .

Organized in 1932 by Rev. Leonard Ross. It developed from prayer
mestings which were held in private homes in the neighborhood. In 1932 they
rented the front room at 1401 Idlewood Ave. whers services woro held on week
nightse This congregation was never rocognized as a church. They disbanded
sbout Octobor 1987« The Community Baptist Church (entry 62) hold Sunday Scervices
at thc samec housce.

FTirst pastor, Rov. Leonard Ross, 1932-37. He attended a grammar school,

Minutes (including membsrss; Sunday School members and finances),
1932-37, 5 vols. Finances, 1932-37, 4 vols, All rocords in custody of Mrs.
Jossie Anthony, 1921 Idlowood Avee

6l. TIMOTHY BAPTIST CHURCH, 1933=-, 726 N 2nd S¥.

Organized in October 1933 by Rev. Daniel Timothy Powell, the present
pastor, with 13 members from a Sunday School Mission which was orgenized in
1931 in a shed in Leigh St. Bottom (now 1310 E. Leigh Sts) In 1937 the
congregation moved to 1007 Hickory St. In 1938 they moved to the corner of
3rd and Baker Sts., where in May 1938 they merged with Calvary Baptist Church
(entry 56). They then moved to the present location and rented a building
at 726 N. 2nd St. It is a plain, rectangular building which was formerly a
shop. A vestibule was added to the front when it became a church.

First pastor, Rev. Daniel Timothy Powell, 1934--. Ho attended a
grammar gchool,

Seat "Church of tho Wook" in Richmond Afro-American, Mar, 18, 1939.

Minutes, 1936=-, 1 vol. Finances (including membors), 1936==, 1 vol.,
in ths custody of Mrs. Claudic Graham, 1304 Z. Leigh St. Rogistor (baptisms,
deaths), 1933=-, 1 vol., kopt by the pastor. Sundoy School (membors, finances),
scattered records without dates in a note book at the church.

62. COMMUNITY BAPTIST CHURCH, 1936-37. Defunct. 1401 Idlewood Ave,

Organizod in June 1936, in the front room of a dwelling at 1401
Idlewood Avee by some membsrs from the lMorning Star Baptist Church (now Gray=
land Avoe Baptist Church (ontry 40). This congregation Wwas nover recognized
as a churche They dissolved Decomber 1937.
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First pastory Reve. Alfred Clayton Coleman, 1936=-37. He attendod
Virginie Union Universitye.

Minutes (including' finances, memboers; Sunday School members and
financos), 1936-37, L1 vol., in the custody of Mrs. Leola Jackson, 422 Se
Harrison Ste

63. JERUSALEM BAPTIST CHURCH, 1936--, 819 State St.

Organized Aug. 19, 1936, It developed from meetings which were held
in the home of the present pastor and founder of the church, Rev. William
Ernest Alexender, 127 Nicholson St., from which, in 1939, they organized a
Sunday School known as the Fulton Baptist Mission. On Aug. 19, 1936 they
organized as o church and changed their name to Jerusalem Baptist Churche.
Both organizations tock place in the Nicholson Streoct Schoolhouse, 1224
Nicholson St. This was known as the Indian School previous to their occupation
of tho building. In 1937 they rentod the Beneficial Hall, which is their
present location. Brick building, interior walls white, brown woodwork,
furniture stained oak.

First pastor, Rev. Williom Srnest Alexander, 1929--. He attended
grammar schoole

Minutes, 1936--, 1 vole.; Finances,1936--, 1 vol., in the custody
of Mrs. Adeline Harris, 129 Nichclson St. Rogister (including mombers,
decths, marriages, baptisma), 1936--, 1 vol. Sunday School (including
membars, finances), 1935=-, 1 vol., kept at the church.

64. NEJ FRIENDSHIP BAPTIST CHURCH, 1937--, 413 Calhoun St.

Organized June 22, 1937 in the prosent frame storc building. It
doveloped from a split in the Tenth Street Buptist Church (entry 59), led
by tho present pastor, Rev. Soymore Robinsons

First pastor, Rov. Seymere Robinson, June 22, 1937--. He attended
grammar schoole

Minutes (including finances), 1937--, 1 vol. Rogistor (members,
baptisms), 1937--, 1 vole Thero are no Sunday School records.




- 5] =

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Association Publicatiouns

Annuel of the Virginia Baptist State Convention . . . 1927 [Roanoke, Va., Roan-
oke Printing Co., Inc., 1927 j, 71 ppe.

Journal and Lectures . . . of the american National Baptist Convention « « .
August 25-28, 1687 [u. pe ], 1887, 67 pPps

Journal of Proceedings of the Colored Shiloh Baptist Association of Virginia
~ + o 1868 . o «s Richmond, V. L. Fore, Printer, 1315 Main Street, 1868,
Pe 17.

Minutes « o o of the Baptist General Association of Virginia . « o June 14,
15, 16 and 17, 1938 [Richmond, Virginia, The Saint Luke Press, Nine
Hundred Two & Four, St. James Street], 1938, 214 pp.

Minutes « . « of the Chickahominy Baptist Association . . o 1938 [nmp.,n.d], 9ppe.

Minutes-gg the Baptist Dover Association o o . October 14th, 1797, Richmond,
Printed by John Dixon [He Qs ]y Dels

Minutes of the [Dovsr] Baptist Association . . . October 10th, 1llth, and 12th,
1801, Richmond, Virginia, Printed by John Courtney, Junior Ln. d?j: pPs 4o

Minutes « o e Of tho Dover Baptist sssociation » . Sept. 18th, 19th, & 20th,
1860, Richmond, He K. Ellyson, Printors, 1860, pps. 24, 27=28.

Minutes of ths . . . Dover Baptist Association . « o 1862, 1863, 1864, 1865
and 1866, Richmond, Laughton & Fore, Printers, 1866, pes R5.

Minutes « « o Of the Lott Carcy Raptist Foreign Mission Convention of America
. « « August 28-30, 1935 (n. De.y 1935, 86 pp.

Minutes of the . . . Mattaponi District Baptist Association of Virginia . » .
1938 (n. De s 1938, 70 ppe

Minutes « o o of the Shiloh Baptist Associgtion . . o August Sth, 6th, and Tth,
1896, Charlottesvills, Virginia Baptist Print, 309 and 311 N. 8th Street,
1896, 12 ppe

Minutes of the o« o . Shiloh Baptist Association of Virginia « « « 1938 [ne Do ls

Minutes . . o of the Tuckahoe Baptist Association of Virginia « « « September
13th and l4th, 1905 . « oy Richmond, Vz., Planet Print, 311 N. 4th 5t.,
1905, 18 pp.

Minutes « o e g£ the Tuckehoe Baptist Association of Vircinia « « ¢ 1938,
[Richmond? j, 1938, 32 pp.

Proceedings « » « of the Lott Carey Beptist Foreign Mission Convention « «
September 2, 3, 4, 1918 [Releigh, N« C., Orgen Printing Co., 1919 j, 100 ppe




Bibliography

Proceedings + + o of the National Baptist Convention, U. S. Ae; INCo o o o
September 7=11, 1938 [n. p.j, 1938, 495 pp.

Young, 4. Pe, Fifty Sessions, Historic Sketches of the Mattaponi Baptist Associ=-
ation [n. P, ne d.]s 35 pps

Church Histories and Biographies

Brawley, Benjamin Griffith, A Short History of the Americen Negro . « ., New
York, The Macmillan Company, 1913, 247 pp., passim.

Bruce, Philip Alexander, iconomic History of Virginia in the Seventesnth Centu-
Iy o o sy New York, Mecmillan and Co., 1896, 2 vols., passim.

Christian, Willizm Asbury, Richmond Her Past and Present » o« «» Richmond, Va.,
Manufectured by L. He. Jonkins, 1912, p. 482.

Cromwell, John W[esley], The Negro in American History . « ., Weshington, De Cay
The American Negro Academy, 1914, 284 pp., passim.

Dowd, Jerome, The Negro in American Life . . ., New York & London, The Century
Co., 1926, 611 pp., passim.

Du Bellet, Louise Pecquet, Some Prominent Virginia Families . » e, Lynchburg,
Virginia, Je. P. Bell Company, Inc., Publishers, 1907, vols 2, pp. 107, 112,

fckenrode, Hamilton James, The Political History of Virginia During the Recon=
struction « « s Baltimore, The Johns Hopkins Fress, 1904, p. 66,

Fisher, Miles Mark, 4 Short History of the Baptist Denomination « « «s Nash=
ville, Tennesses, Sunday School Publishing Board [€1923 ], 188 pp., passim.

Fisher, Miles Marks; Hoyt, Joseph B.; eds., Virginia Union University and Some
of Her Achisvements .« o . Twenty-fifth Anniversary, 1899-1924 {Richmond,
T1924, by Virginia Union University j, 110 pp.

Graham, Ae A., "4 Contury of Development of Negro Baptists in Virginia", in Re=
ligious Herald, Nov. 15, 1923, pp. 21=22.

Gurley, salph Randolph, "Sketch of the Life of the Rev. Lott Cary" in Life of
Jehudi Ashmun, Late Colonial Agent in Liberia . s .4 Washington, Printed
by James Ces Dunn, 1835, pp. 147-160.

Harlan, Howard H., John Jasper, A Case History in Leadership « . .« University
of Virginia, Publications of the University of Virginia, Phelps-3tokes
Fellowship Fapoes, No. 14, 1936, 29 pp., pagsim.

Hatcher, William 2ldridge, John Jasper . .« s New York; Chicagos Toronto; Lon-
don and Sdinburg, Fleming H. Revell Company (¢1908], 183 pp., pzssim.

Hatcher, W[illiam] E[ldridge], Life of J. B, Joter, De Do o o s» Baltimore,
He Mo Wharton and Company, 1887, 508 pp., passim.




Bibliography

Inventory of Church Archives of Virginia: Dover Baptist Association, Richmond,
Virginia, 1939,

Jeter, Jeremiah Bell, The Recollections of a Long Life . . ., Richmond, Va.,
The Religious Herald Co., 1891, 325 pp., passim.

Kernodle, Louise Nurney, Guide Book of the City of Richmond . . ., Richmond,
Virginia, Central Publishing Company, Inc., 1936, p. 41,

Randolph, E[dwih] Alrcher], The Life of Rev. John Jasper, Pastor of Sixth Mt .
Zion Baptist Church, Richmond, Vas o « <, Richmond, Va., R« T. Hill & Co.,
Publishers, 1884, 167 pp., passim.

Ransome, W[illiam] L[ee], Christian Stewardship and Negro Baptists . . ., Rich-
mond, Ve., Brown Print Shop, Inc., 1934, 193 pp., passim.

Ransome, W[illiam] L{ee], History of The First Baptist Church, And Some of Her
Pastors, south Richmond, Va., Richmond, the church, 1935, 312 pp., passim.

Semple, Robert Baylor, 4 History of the Rise and Progress of the Baptists in
Virginia, Revised and Extended by Rev. G. . Beale, Richmond, Va., Pitt
end Dickinson, Publishers, 1894, ppe 169-170.

Taylor, Alrutheus Ambush, The Negro in the Reconstruction of Virginia « « ey
Washington, D. C., The Association for the Study of Negro Lifs and History
[©1926], 300 pp., passim.

[Tupper, He Aoy ed.], The First Century of the First Baptist Church of Richmond,
Virginia, 1780-1880, Richmond, Carlton hcCarthy, 819 Broad Streest, 1880,
360 pp., passime

Tyler, Lyon Gardiner, ed., incyclopedic of Virginia Biography « « . New York,
Lewis Historical Publishing Company, 1915, vol. 1, p. 303.

United States Deparfmant of Commerce . . o Bursau of the Census e s o Religious
Bodies, 1926 « . e, Washington, United otates Government Printing Office,
1929, vol. 2, 1405 ppe

Woodson, Carter G[odwin}, The History of The Negro Church « « s Washington,

D. C., The Associated Publishers | C1921], 330 Pp., pessim.

Woodson, Carter G[odwin], ¢de, The Journal of Negro Higstory o o oo Lancas?ar,
Pa., and Washington, D. C., The Association for the Study of_Negro Life
and History, Incorporated, 1922, vol. 73 1926, vol. 1lj passim.

Woodson, Carter G[odwin], ed., The Journal of Negro History e o e Mgnasha, Wis.,
and deshington, D. C., The Associction for the Study of Negro Life and
History, Incorporated, 1931, vol. 16, passim.

Legel and Statutory References

Constitution of Virginia, 1831, in Code of Virginis, 1849, pps 34=35.




Bibliography,

Constitution of Virginia, 1851, in Code of Virginia, 1860, pp. 34=58.

Constitution of Virginia, 1869, in Code of Virginia, 1873, pp. 60-10l.

Constitution of Virginia, 1902, in Code of Virginia, 1919, cxxiw-clxxxvi.

Constitution of Virginia, 1902 (as smended 1928), in The Virginia Code of 1936.
Appendix, pp. 2325-2398.

Hening, #illiam Waller, compiler, The Statutes at Large; Being a Collection of
All the Laws of Virginia . o« o (1619-1792), 13 volse, 1st ed., Rlchmond,
W. W+ Hening, 1809-23. [Except vols XIII, Philadelphia, 1823 ], 2nd ed.
[1823, first four volumes only, same publisher, minor differences in pagi=
nation], I and II, New Yorks III, Philadelphia; IV, Richmond.

Shepherd, Samuel, compiler, The Statutes at Large of Virginia . . o (1792-
1807), 3 vols., Richmond, Samuel Shepherd, 1835-36.

Acts of the General Assembly of the State of Virginia o .« [titles vary]
T (1807--), 102 vols. [dated by years of 56551on|, Richmond, various Pub=
lic Printers, 1808-70; Richmond, Superintendent of Public Printing, 1871~
19283 Richmond, Division of Purchase and Printing, 1928--.

A Collection of All Such Acts of the uenaral Assembly of Virginia, of a Public
“T1801], Richmond, Samuel

Pleasants, Jr., and Henry Pace, 1803.

The Revised Code of the Laws of Virginia , . ., Richmond, Thomas Ritchie, 1819,
2 vols.

The Code of Virginia . . ., Richmond, William F. Ritchie, 1849.

The Code of Virginia . . o Including Legislation to the Year 1860, Richmond,
Thomas Ritchie, Dunnavant and Co., 2nd ody 1860,

The Code of Virginia: Including Legislation to January 1, 1874, Richmond,
Superlntendent of Public Printing, 3rd ed., 1873

The Code of Virginia « . ., Richmond, superintendent of Public Printing, 1887.

Code of Virginia, annotated edition, 2 vols., Richmond, Superintendent of Public
Printing, 1919.

The Virginia Code of 1936, Charlottesville, The Michie Co., 1936,

"Tax Code" (1936) in The Virginia Code of 1936, Appendix, pp. 2399-2545.

South Zastsrn Reporter. Cases Argued and Determined in the Courts of Georgia,
South Carolina, North Carolina, “Virginia, Wost Birginia, St Paul, Minn.,
fiest PlelShlng Co., 1887--{vols. 1=-200, 1887-1939; 2nd Serises, vols. l=-=,

1639-~].

[Virginia Reportsj, Cases Decided in the Supreme Court of Appeals of Virginia,
Richmond, Division of Purchese and Printing, 1790--.




i BB &

PREVIOUS PUBLICATIONS OF THE HISTORICAL RECORDS SURVEY
OF VIRGINIA

Inventory of the Church Archives of Virginias

Dover Baptist Association, Richmond, Virginia, December 1939;

Inventory of the County Archives of Virginias

Amelia County, No. 4, Richmond, Virginia, February 1940;

Chesterfield County, No. 21, Charlottesville, Virginia, August

Dinwiddie County, No. 27, Richmond, Virginia, July 1939;

Isle of Wight County, 47, Richmond, Virginia, April 1940;

Middlesex County, No. 60, Richmond, Virginia, May 1939;

Powhatan County, No. 73, Richmond, Virginia, August 1939; and

Southampton County, No. 88, Richmond, Virginia, March 1940.




1821--
1841~-=
1846~
1858~
1859=--
1865=~
1867==
1867==
1869=-
1870-~
1872--
1874-=
1875==
1876~
1880~
1880=~
1880-~-
1880--
1884-=
1885-~=
1887=~
1888-=
1888+~
1888-=
1889-~
1893--
1897=~
1898-~
1899-=
1900-~
1900~=
1900-=
190013,
1916==

1905=~
1906==
1907==
1910-=
1910--
1912-~
1914-=
1915-=
1917==
1918==
1919-34
1921-=
1922~
1922==
1922==
1923==
1924==
1924-=
1924=-

- 56 =

CHRONOLOGICAL INDEX

First Baptist ChuBich sseeeccscsscocsccssssnecccse
First African Baptist Church escecscecsescssscccee
gecond African Baptist Church scesccesscesscscess
Ebenezer Baptist ChUrch secesscscessescssscscsses
Fourth Baptist Churchsesessissonessssnsassssssoswssn
Fifth Baptist CHUPCH ssssssnssnnssisssssbrbosesss
Cedar Street Baptist Church eeecccscscsccssssccsne
Sixth Mount Zion Baptist Church sscesscecssssscses
Rising Mount Zion Baptist Church sesscesccsscccos
3t. Johns Baptist Churcheccsscscscscessnscssncesss
Mte Tabor Baptist Churchecescssssssscsosecsssnssssses
Westwood Baptist Church esscecenscccsssssssnssnne
Moore Street Baptist Churchessosssssscsssssssssse
Macedonia Baptist Church c¢eecesccscscsssssssssesse
Fifth Street Baptist Churchh scesescsssssscesssces
liouht Calvary B&ptist Church ecesscescccesccpsscse
Northside MiSSiONeessscssssecvesssenscssccsssasncses
Second Baptist Churchssesissssonssbssbanssanssensns
Providence Baptist Churcheecscsssccossnsescsccense
Riverview B&ptist Church esseccsceccscssssssssose
Sharon BaptiSt Church @e 0B 000 0000000000000 000B000 0
Fountain Baptist Church scccessccsscsssnscscasccns
Mount Carmel Baptist Church ecessescsesssscsscsnsse
Zion B&ptist Churchessescocesccssscscasssssacesase
Swansbore Baptist Church seescsescsscessccscsccns
First Union Baptist Church ecesgevessoeDE00GORO N
Union Level B&ptist Church ecesosessecssssssnsscscs
Morning Star Baptist Church scesecsssesssssssssee
Mount Olivet B&ptist Churchececssscesscsssscccescs
Bethlehem B&ptist Churcheesssccescsscsssssssccnce
F&irfield B&pﬁist Church esececccsssssssssessssssnne
Mount Hermon Baptist Church esescoseccsseccscsacse

Pilgrim B&ptist Churcheessscessessssscossssonssscce
Mte Vernon B&ptist Churcheesecsssssosssscsssscsscscns
Trinity Baptist Churcheceesscsccsscsosscssnescnacss
Mosby Memorial Baptist Churchessssscessccscccenes
Mount Sinai Baptist Church essssssccccscessscccsces
Ste Paul‘s Baptist Churchesecssssssssssscsssscnse
seventh Street Baptist Churcheesssessssssssssccscs
Thirtyffirst Street Baptist Churchecessscscsccssse
Charity Baptist Church escesescssssssscscsncanccnsse
Little Mount Zion Baptist Churchesseccsesscssscsssne
Good Shepherd Baptist Churchsecescscesssvacsnssce
Mount Horeb Baptist Churchescosescssssssscsnscesose
First Baptist Church of Washington Parkesscscesss
Brook Road Baptist Churcheesssscescssssssssccscsssse
Sixth Street Baptist Church esecesceccessssscnscse
Union Baptist Churcheesccssecsscsecssssssssccenee
Center Street B&ptist Church esce0ssssosesBResOS
Goodwill Baptist Church esesscegoccscscocccooncncs
Mount Moriah Baptist Churchescscscssecsccccsscvse
Shiloh Baptist Church sesssecscscessseccecossoses

Entry
i

(1821-1924)

Page
22
13
30
16
18
18
19
36
39
39
19
28
39
20
R4
34
40
24
28
29
25
41
41
26
29
30
42
42
42
43
43
30

43
44
30
44
26
31
31
32
45
32
45
46
46
32
46
35
a7
20
a7
33




Chronological Index (1925-1937)

i Entry Page
1825-36 Unity Baptist Church secscesssssscsssssssscnsssces 54 47
1926== Gallilee Bap‘tist Church escesecsccsssscscsssscssen 55 48
1927"38 Calvary Bap‘tist Church 26000060000 00800c0000c00008 56 4'8
1928"- New Shiloh Bap’bis‘t Chul‘ch 0000000600008 000808800000 57 4'8
1929== Grii.yland Avenuse B&p‘tist Churchecssescscessscscnss 58 48
1930~-- Tenth Street Baptist Church ececscccscsssscsscsss 59 49
1932-37 Eureka Baptist Bible SchoOlecsccescsoscosccsccsss 60 49
1933== Timothy Bap‘tis’t Church cecessssesessccsscssssccscs 61 49
1936=37 Coﬂlmunity B&p‘tist Church 9808000900 00000000000008 0 62 49
1936-" Jerusalem Bap‘tist Chul‘ch.-.........--..---...-.-. 63 50
1936"“ New Light Baptiat Church eabe0O0eOREROCEOBOROOCPAGRSTR lo 20
1937~=~ New Friendship Baptist Churcheccescccsscesssscass 64 50




Yol

ALPHABETICAL INDEX

Bethlehem Baptist Church .00-.0..'0Onoiooﬁiniloloooilct‘..nl.t
BI‘OOk Road Baptist ChuI‘Ch .ll.'l...l.l."ll..!.l.ll....Ill.l‘.

Calvary Baptist Church ceccescccccsocsscsesscsccsssascnsassncncst
Cedar Street Baptist Churcllh esvecssessecsssncsconscoscsscncescnsys
Center Street Baptist Church eesescecscecsescssccscnsccsncnncs
Charity Baptist Church eseceescssccssscissssccssscsvssccscnccnne
Community Baptist ChUurchh escesscscescssssssscedesaceccsnsncnse

Ebenezer Baptis‘t Church ....-".....'...'I'.."......"..'....
Eureka Baptist Bible School $000080080600sNB00sERERFERTROLO OO

Fairfield Baptist Church sesccsssscciosssaccssssscssccsncssccnoces
Fifth Baptist Church l.!"otilno..tl.l.'ncc;ol(ch.f.cto-oo.ulo
Fifth Street Baptist Church eceessesocsssssnssvesscsssscecccencos
First Africen Baptist Church essscccessessesscscssstsccscncnnssos
First Baptist ChAUrCh essccsssac¢snsccvessssprsassssncsvensncsoncas
First Baptist Church of Washington Park P Y L LR R S R ]
First Union Baptist Church essessssssssessasscsssssscsccsnonse
Fountain Baptist Church o..}ooouo.0.‘.00...(..-.1.no-.oooocoo.
Fourth Baptist Church seessssssssssesssssdonsecasssscescsnces

Gallilee Baptist ChUrch ssecssescasssccoveoncsssncsscnscnonecs
Good Shepherd Baptist Church P S X L A R R R R AR R
GOOdWill Baptist Church esscsssccsccssscsessvsvscsconscsscnsencse
Grayland Avenue B&Ptist Church scesecssscscessncoscnsaccocscccs

JeruSalem Baptist Church cessssssssntesetsscastat sttt bel
Little Mount Zion Baptist Church ecessssccsseesscsssscssscssacs

Macedcnia BaptiBt Church Mg P ea PRI R A R B 0 1 AT R SR S et g
Moore Street Baptist Church sesccsssssocscsvescsccenvsbonncene
Morning Star Baptist Church eesssssesscsescescsscsscassnnsecend
Mosby Memorial Baptist Church olto...oo-u‘-nooooo00100ho-ouoot
Mount Calvary Baptist Church eeessssvoesscsesnsscerssesaonessed
Mount Carmel Baptist Church escessosecbsevessssssccsssnnsensanss
Mount Hermon Baptist Church sosahbb AN sRessss RS EesRigeustORE
Mount Horeb Baptist Church R AR GRpERer AR L T R R B R & o ek db it
Mount Moriah Baptist Church PP ST T TR L E AR TR L S bt
Mount Olivet Baptist Church IRV E e TR ST T R R L AR AR A At
Mount Sinai Baptist Church b ARSI EPERBIIER BN EGRSED ST RO S
Mt. Tabor Baptiﬁt Church RPN IR R AR B T b by ool bt i
Mte. Vernon Baptist Church c.-o--oo-oo-!ooooo.cnn--o-no..oo.oio

New Friendship Baptist Church NS LOBNEEIORIORUESE PP 000000RY
New Light Baptist Church -o-.ooo-b»oo;oo.tov-ooooo-oooooto-uu.
New Shiloh Baptist ChurCh .C..’.DI"t..O.....tl‘l.'.'.'l..'ll.
Northside Mission o.o.o-q-.-oo,o-.-o)nnoo-oo.on.ooooc---o-.-lo

Entry
42
28

56

6
52
a7
62

3
60

43
5
12
1
i1
50
21
37
4

55
48

9
58

63
27

8
35
40
46
30
38
22
49
53
41
16

7
45

64
10
o1
36

(Bet=Pro)

Page
43
32

48
19
a7
45
49

16
49

43
18
24
13
22
46
30
41
18

48
45
20
48

50
32

20
39
42
44
34
4l
30
46
47
42
26
19
44

50
20
48
40




Alphabetical Index

Pilgrj—m Baptist Church "....'..‘....I“‘.'....'.l..'l.."..
PrOVidaﬂce Baptist Church ec¢ecsssscsssssssssssaséosscccsossssscse

Rising Mount Zion Baptist Church ecsccececssccsscosnssosscocnsco
Rivez‘view Baptist C.hurch ...'."...‘...'.’.....'.....“"...

Second African Baptist Church sesescccecscevesccsccscncacscesn
Second Baptist CHUrch eseesescsesscsccscasccccncsoscascccens
Seventh Street Baptist Church eeceesccecccscsccccscocccncsne
Sharon Baptist Church eesccscsssecssssvssssnccccssscrncnsanss
Shiloh Baptist Church soesssesscocessscssscsssscscssssnscsccsecs
Sixth Mount ZiOn Baptist Chul‘ch Gessensenceenssesesessesonna
Sixth Street Baptist Church secesccsccsssccssssccssccncssnsce
St. Johns Beptist Church scececcsvesocsavsssscsvccsccscanncss
St, Paul's Baptist Church eesesccoscasscsssssnscscccercccans
Swansboro B'G\.p'tist Chu!‘ch $60 88 eDE000080R00C0 0GR AIECOICROIOITRETOTOTD

Tenth Street Baptist Church eseseccescscsssccscscsscoscsscescssascs
Thirty-first Street Baptist Church ececscssscscccssscsncccsces
Timothy Baptist Church sescecesssccssoscsccsccsnscsnssccnnsee
Trinity Baptist Church eseeseveccccsccocssecccsnssocssccsnace

Union Baptist Churchh esosscsscssssccsnscsssscscsssnccvecsasone
Urlion Level Baptist Church [EEEEEE R R E N BN " IR R ERE RN R RN E AN oee 0
Ullity Bap‘tist Churcl’l SR EEEE R R E R EEE B SEEEEEEEERE R R R R R o0 e

Westwood Baptist ChUrCh sesesssascossssscsccscsesccssnscscne

Zion Baptist GhU.I‘Ch ..!o'ooon-o-o-ooo.no--o...-..ouottlooltl







